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COMPANY INTRODUCTION

NCIVNE

OVERVIEW

Chervon Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is a global
provider of power tools and outdoor power equipment (“OPE”).
Our focus on innovation, especially lithium-ion battery system
technology, has enabled us to achieve significant scale and
rapid growth. We offer a comprehensive range of products
under a portfolio of well-recognized brands, which are tailored
to address the diverse needs of our end users around the
world. Our power tools target both industrial/professional
and consumer end users, and our OPE products target both
premium and mass-market end users. We currently own five
differentiated and well-recognized brands that cover key
geographies and segments, namely EGO, FLEX, SKIL, DEVON
and X-TRON.

We focus on user-centric innovation and product offerings,
which is supported by our integrated system of research
and development, manufacturing and sales and distribution
capabilities. Our broad end-user base for lithium-ion battery
powered products enables us to rapidly accumulate industry
knowledge, technology know-how and end-user insights.
Leveraging such knowledge and insights, we have been able
to continuously introduce new products showcasing advanced
technology and product design capabilities. We then produce
these new, user-centric products in a consistently high-
quality manner through our smart manufacturing system
and distributing them through our multi-channel sales and
distribution network. Our global operations and local market
knowledge enable us to expand market shares and meet end
user needs in our target markets. Our robust brand portfolio,
which resonates with our end users, also helps solidify our
market position.

OUR VISION

Better Tools. Better World.

OUR MISSION

Providing superior products to users worldwide through
continuous innovation, we are determined to become a global
leader in power tools and outdoor power equipment in the
lithium-ion, intelligent and digital era.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NEIER
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PRINCIPAL BANKS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of Communications — Nanjing Jiangning Branch

STOCK CODE

2285

PLACE OF LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
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LISTING DATE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B2

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

AEERBEREMBRFEZEXENREERAE
HE (BExEETREEXZNMBERR) #IIWT

published audited financial statements, is set out below:

RESULTS E
Year ended December 31,
HZE12A31HLLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20245
(In US$ thousands, except per share data)
(F=x - BREUERIN
Revenue ON 1,200,902 1,757,784 1,989,280 1,374,714 1,773,773
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEAIFIE(EE) 59,511 176,098 161,390 (48,856) 132,763
Income tax (expense)/credit Fris®i () #&e (11,123)  (26,377)  (22,112) 11,706 (20,055)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE () 48,388 149,721 139,278 (37,150) 112,708
Attributable to: AT AL FEAL -
Equity shareholders of the PANEE: ] 44,359 144 544 139,369 (37,137) 112,474
Company
Non-controlling interest FEVERR R 2 4,029 5177 (91) (13) 234
Earnings per share B AN
- Basic (cents) —E X (%) 11 36 28 (7) 22
— Diluted (cents) —#E () 11 36 28 (7) 22
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE  BEkES
As of December 31,
HZ12A31H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 2024
(In US$ thousands, except per share data)
(FET - SREGRRIN
Assets EE
Total assets BERAE 1,091,467 2,056,156 1,862,504 1,796,385 1,992,297
Equity and liabilities EERkAE
Equity attributable to equity RN B S AR R 259,738 797,017 946,190 960,725 1,036,563
shareholders of the Company  fE{h#Ez
Non-controlling interests FEPERR 24,286 - (91) (104) 130
Total equity TS AEEE 284,024 797,017 946,099 960,621 1,036,693
Total liabilities =Rvst 807,443 1,259,139 916,405 835,764 955,604
Total equity and liabilities Rk BEATE 1,091,467 2,056,156 1,862,504 1,796,385 1,992,297

Chervon Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am delighted to report on a year of significant recovery and
achievement for Chervon. 2024 marked a return to strong
growth and profitability, demonstrating the resilience of our
business model and the dedication of our global team. After
navigating the headwinds of the previous year, we see strong
improvement in our overall financial position, with revenue
increasing by 29.0% to reach US$1,773.8 million. This robust
growth was driven by strong points-of-sale performance across
our brands and a healthy rebound in customer orders following
the destocking cycle. Our targeted promotional activities and
the inherent appeal of our brands further fueled end-consumer
demand.

Notably, our revenue growth was accompanied by enhanced
profitability. Our gross profit margin improved significantly
to 34.7%, up from 28.1% in 2023, benefiting from scale
restoration, improved operational efficiencies, favorable raw
material costs, and positive currency exchange rates. Through
disciplined operational expense management, we recorded
a net profit for the year of US$112.7 million, representing a
403.4% growth in net profit.

= EREE

BRLIR

EE—FE RERSTEANEEMKH - KA
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
EERGE

Innovation remains the cornerstone of our strategy. In 2024,
we introduced approximately 200 new products, with lithium-
ion battery-powered products constituting about 90% of
these launches, reinforcing our leadership in the industry.
Our key brands - EGO, FLEX, SKIL, and DEVON - performed
strongly across their respective segments around the globe.
EGO continued its market share expansion and leadership
in the OPE segment, FLEX further expanded its presence in
the Swedish and Scandinavian markets through its strategic
acquisition of FLEX Scandinavia AB from the Ahlsell Group,
SKIL celebrated its centennial milestone while outpacing the
challenging DIY market, and DEVON successfully launched
its new 12V product line on the lithium battery platform and
maintained a strong presence in the digital arena. We were
also honored with multiple awards from key partners like
Lowe’s and Amazon, recognizing our innovation and strong
partnership.

On the manufacturing front, we continued to strengthen our
global manufacturing capabilities, notably accelerating the
expansion of our Chervon Vietnam Plant to enhance supply
chain flexibility and resilience. As part of our strategic
realignment initiative to ensure our long-term competitiveness,
we are accelerating the relocation of our production capacity
from Nanjing to Vietnam, while closing down our production
facility in Germany. Looking forward, we will continue to
dynamically monitor other global markets, constantly diversify
and optimize our global footprint to address the risks and
instability brought about by foreign trade frictions.

Looking ahead to 2025, although external trade frictions
bring significant uncertainty, we will face and mitigate these
challenges through measures such as capacity relocation,
adaptive pricing strategies and business diversification. We
will sharpen our strategic focus and improve shareholder
returns by divesting non-core assets, enabling more effective
resource allocation to our high-potential core businesses.
We believe our long-term strengths in product innovation,
technology leadership, expansive channel reach, and powerful
brand portfolio will enable us to capitalize on key industry
trends such as electrification and intelligent technologies to
navigate through the bottom of the industry cycle, overcome
short-term pressures and achieve long-term growth.

Guided by our vision, “Better Tools. Better World.”, we remain
dedicated to sustainable development, innovation, and
fulfilling our environmental, social, and governance (‘ESG”)
commitments. We are determined to remain as a global leader
in the industry and create lasting value for our customers, end-
users, employees, partners, shareholders (the “Shareholders”)
and other key stakeholders alike in the future.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
%ﬁrﬁlé E]Luﬁﬂ/\ﬂ TFF

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Overview

During the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “Reporting
Period”), the Group has demonstrated great performance and
enhanced profitability. Our revenue increased by 29.0% to
US$1,773.8 million in 2024, benefiting from our strong points-
of-sales (“POS”) performance and higher volume of customer
orders after the destocking cycle. Our strong brand appeal
and effective promotional activities further accelerated end
consumer demand. We achieved a 403.4% growth in net
profit during the Reporting Period as compared to 2023 with
recovered revenue scale and improved efficiency.

We saw revenue growth from all regions and segments. The
business from North America, Europe, China and the rest
of the world increased by 37.5%, 11.2%, 9.8% and 8.9%,
respectively. In addition, we experienced growth across all
channels, with revenue from online channels significantly
exceeding expectations. Revenue from our outdoor power
equipment (“OPE”) segment increased by 24.2% while
revenue from our power tools segment increased by 36.3%.

REBMERRE
EBHE
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Our overall gross profit margin improved from 28.1% in 2023
to 34.7% in 2024, primarily driven by scale restoration and
operational efficiency enhancement, as well as favorable raw
material costs and exchange rates. By optimizing operating
expenses in a balanced and efficient manner, we also
recorded a net profit of approximately US$112.7 million in
2024, as compared to a net loss of US$37.2 million in 2023.

We continue to focus on our customers, bringing to market
new power tool and OPE products to meet their diverse needs.
Leveraging our research and development capability, we
continued to innovate by introducing about 200 new products
in 2024. Lithium-ion battery powered products accounted for
approximately 90% of the new products.

B EEENERA2023FM28. 1% 2T E2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EGO

EGO has firmly established itself as a premium brand,
achieving rapid market share expansion through years of
strategic execution. Our POS growth continues to outpace
overall industry performance, positioning EGO among the
market's top-tier brands in terms of penetration and consumer
recognition.

EGO maintains a disciplined yet dynamic product strategy,
continuously expanding its portfolio with cutting-edge
innovations across both core and lifestyle product categories.
This approach has strengthened our competitive positioning
and reinforced brand value. Concurrently, our steadfast
commitment to advancing lithium battery technology has
enabled us to establish a formidable presence in these
domains. We have amassed a noteworthy portfolio of patents,
which collectively fortify our competitive edge and underpin
our trajectory of sustained differentiation and innovation. In
addition, we remain committed to the strategy of Power by
EGO and are steadily acquiring new customers.

EGO enjoys exceptional brand recognition, bolstered by
strong consumer engagement and high visibility across
digital and social media platforms. Our market presence
extends beyond North America and Europe, as we accelerate
global expansion efforts. A well-diversified channel strategy
has been instrumental in unlocking further growth potential,
with sustained momentum across traditional retail channels
and particularly strong performance in online channels. We
continue to lean in with our key strategic partner, Lowe's
winning their Innovation Partner Award and driving continuous
success at stores. We also won the CTR Seasonal & Garden
Innovation Excellence Award, and the ACE Vendor of the Year
in 2024. Chervon upgraded our cooperation with Amazon
to MARQUEE PARTNER and was honored with the Amazon
Think Big Award. These accolades reflect our unwavering
commitment to innovation and excellence in both product
development and market performance.

As the largest single outdoor power equipment (OPE) platform
and the fastest-growing brand in the sector, EGO is well-
positioned to capitalize on the ongoing shift toward lithium
electrification and intelligent technologies. With a highly
scalable channel network, strong brand value, and industry-
leading R&D capabilities, we remain confident in our ability
to sustain growth and drive long-term value. Supported by
disciplined execution and a clear strategic roadmap, EGO is
committed to delivering consistent financial performance and
reinforcing its leadership in the industry.

B E 5w B AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

FLEX

In 2024, FLEX delivered strong financial performance with
a growth rate exceeding 50% and continued to innovate by
expanding its offering of next-generation power tool solutions
tailored for professionals, with more than 50 new products
launched last year, including the cordless nailer and benchtop
range. Nine new nailers and staplers that were launched in
2024, perfectly aligning to our focus on carpentry. Our flagship
category product — FLEX’s polishers won the 2024 Plus X
Award, which is one of the world’'s largest innovation award.
It is worth noting that FLEX has acquired FLEX Scandinavia
AB from the Ahlsell Group on May 31, 2024. This strategic
acquisition expands our presence primarily in the Swedish
and Scandinavian markets and we believe is a significant step
forward. During the past year, while the market in Europe was
shrinking, FLEX achieved a double-digit growth in our Europe
market.

SKIL

SKIL has achieved its centennial milestone, symbolizing our
enduring leadership and excellence in the market. Despite
industry challenges in the DIY segment, SKIL has continued
to grow, outpacing the overall weakened market during the
Reporting Period. In addition, SK/L has strengthened its
influences across social media platforms. Looking ahead, we
remain committed to delivering comprehensive and innovative
product solutions while continuously expanding our channel
partnerships to optimize our market strategy and drive
sustained growth for SK/L products.

DEVON

In 2024, our sales performance has remained notably more
resilient than the market overall. DEVON has won Annual
New Talent Award from JD group, which is one of the
biggest E-commerce platform in China. The launch of our
new 12V product line on the lithium battery platform has
been exceptionally successful during the Reporting Period.
Additionally, DEVON continued its digital marketing strategy
through social media platforms. DEVON created a marketing
matrix that linked hundreds of professional KOLs (Key Opinion
Leaders) and has accumulated rich marketing experience in
the field of digital marketing. We now lead with the largest and
most engaged followers among power tools brands on Douyin,
highlighting our significant impact and strong presence in the
digital arena.

©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Manufacturing Capability

In 2024, we have strengthened our global manufacturing
capabilities. This included accelerating the expansion
of production capacity at our Chervon Vietnam Plant,
thereby augmenting our overseas factory footprint. Against
the backdrop of the China-U.S. tariffs, the Company will
comprehensively accelerate the relocation of production
capacity from Nanjing to Vietnam in 2025, with a significant
increase in Vietnam’s production capacity expected by
the end of 2025. And as part of the Group’s strategic
realignment initiative to ensure its long-term competitiveness,
FLEX-Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, plans to relocate its production
from Steinheim facility in Germany to Nanjing, China. The
repositioning aligns with the Group’s broader strategy to
optimize its global manufacturing footprint. As the Group
continues to expand its production capacity in Vietnam, our
highly efficient production facilities in China may be better
utilized to support our business globally and enhance overall
manufacturing efficiency. We believe these initiatives will
further support our ability to build a more flexible and resilient
supply chain.

Prospects

In 2024, we are pleased to report a year of exceptional
performance, marked by substantial revenue growth,
expanded market share, and enhanced operational efficiency.
This solid foundation positions us well for the future as we
navigate through opportunities and challenges ahead. While
we recognize the potential uncertainties in 2025 — ranging from
macroeconomic volatility to risks associated with China-U.
S. tariffs — we remain confident in our ability to mitigate these
risks. To address the impact of tariffs, we have accelerated
and will continue to strategically diversify our production
capacity and implement adaptive pricing strategies, ensuring
resilience and competitiveness in a shifting trade landscape.

Looking ahead, we will optimise our strategic focus by
divesting non-core and non-operational assets, thereby
enabling more effective resource allocation to high-potential
core businesses. Through asset optimization, we aim to
enhance shareholder returns and drive sustainable growth.
Our long-term capabilities in product, technology, channel
and brand form the foundation for future success, positioning
us to embrace key industry trends — such as electrification,
intelligent technologies, and e-commerce — to create lasting
value and strengthen our competitive edge.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial Results
Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by 29.0% from US$1,374.7
million in 2023 to US$1,773.8 million in 2024, primarily driven
by our strong points-of-sales performance and higher volume
of customer orders after the destocking cycle. Our strong
brand appeal and effective promotional activities further
accelerated end consumer demand.

Revenue by product category

Revenue from the sales of OPE products increased by 24.2%
from US$811.4 million in 2023 to US$1,007.5 million in 2024,
primarily driven by the accelerated destocking process and an
increase in customer orders, especially in our EGO brand.

Revenue from the sales of power tools increased by 36.3%
from US$548.5 million in 2023 to US$747.6 million in 2024,
after several years of rapid growth, mainly driven by the
recovery and expansion of our FLEX and ODM business.

Revenue by geographic location

Our revenue generated from North America increased by
37.5% from US$940.2 million in 2023 to US$1,293.1 million
in 2024. Our revenue from Europe increased by 11.2% from
US$282.4 million in 2023 to US$314.1 million in 2024. Our
revenue from China increased by 9.8% from US$100.6 million
in 2023 to US$110.5 million in 2024. Our revenue from rest of
the world increased by 8.9% from US$51.5 million in 2023 to
US$56.1 million in 2024.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit increased by 59.2% from US$386.8 million in
2023 to US$615.7 million in 2024. During the same years, our
overall gross profit margin increased from 28.1% to 34.7%,
primarily driven by scale restoration and operational efficiency
enhancement, favorable raw material costs and currency
exchange rates.

Other Revenue

Our other revenue, which primarily consisted of government
grants, sale of scrap materials and rental income, amounted to
US$4.9 million in 2024, as compared to US$5.8 million in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Net Loss

We had other net loss of US$14.8 million in 2024, as compared
to other net loss of US$8.3 million in 2023. Our other net
loss in 2024 was primarily attributable to net realized and
unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments and net
foreign exchange gain in amount to US$6.3 million as well as
restructuring cost provision in amount to US$23 million.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses increased by 7.5% from
US$244.1 million in 2023 to US$262.3 million in 2024, primarily
attributable to an increase in our marketing expenses and
investments in expanding channels, especially in our online
channels as well as investments in talent.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Our administrative and other operating expenses increased
by 8.3% from US$96.8 million in 2023 to US$104.8 million
in 2024, primarily due to an increase in investment in talent
development and global manufacturing footprint.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs increased by 18.0%
from US$70.7 million in 2023 to US$83.4 million in 2024,
primarily attributable to the Company’s continued investment in
research and product development, particularly in commercial
and robotic technology OPE segment.

Net Finance Costs

Our net finance costs amounted to US$5.3 million in 2024, as
compared to US$3.3 million in 2023 primarily due to higher
U.S. dollar interest income generated from placement in
2023, while increased interest expenses result from declining
RMB deposit interest rate and the Company’s expanded loan
portfolio in 2024.

Share of Loss of an Associate

We had a share of loss of an associate of US$17.3 million
in 2024, as compared to a share of loss of an associate of
US$18.3 million in 2023, which were primarily attributable to
our 23.75% equity interest in Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision
Technology Co., Ltd. (FBRRESERBEHREMARN ERAT)
(“Chervon Auto Precision Technology”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Profit Before Taxation

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded profit before taxation
of US$132.8 million in 2024, as compared to a loss before
taxation of US$48.9 million in 2023.

Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expense was US$20.1 million in 2024, as
compared to a tax income of US$11.7 million in 2023. Our
effective tax rate was 15.1% (2023: inapplicable tax rate as
we incurred loss before taxation). Our income tax expense in
2024 is primarily resulted from the status of Nanjing Chervon
Industry Co., Ltd (FARRERFEBRRAF) (‘Nanjing Chervon
Industry”) as a High and New Technology Enterprise (&R &
FHRAT %), which is entitled to an enterprise income tax rate
of 15%.

Profit For The Year

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded a profit for the year
of US$112.7 million in 2024, as compared to a loss for the year
of US$37.2 million in 2023. We had a net profit margin of 6.4%
in 2024, as compared to a net loss margin of 2.7% in 2023.

O
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Non-HKFRSs Measures: Adjusted Net Loss/Profit

To supplement our consolidated results which are prepared
and presented in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), we utilize non-HKFRSs
adjusted net profit/loss (“Adjusted Net Profit/Loss”) as an
additional financial measure. We derive Adjusted Net Profit
from profit for the year by excluding the non-recurring costs
associated with the repositioning of the Group’s Steinheim
facility in Germany.

Adjusted Net Loss/Profit is not required by, or presented in
accordance with, HKFRSs. We believe that the presentation
of non-HKFRSs measures when shown in conjunction with
the corresponding HKFRSs measures provides useful
information to investors and management regarding financial
and business trends in relation to our financial condition and
results of operations, by eliminating any potential impact of
items that our management does not consider to be indicative
of our operating performance such as the impact of certain
investment transactions. We also believe that the non-HKFRSs
measures are appropriate for evaluating the Group’s operating
performance. However, the use of this particular non-HKFRSs
measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should
not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute for the
analysis of, our results of operations or financial conditions as
reported under HKFRSs. In addition, this non-HKFRSs financial
measure may be defined differently from similar terms used
by other companies and therefore may not be comparable to
similar measures used by other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

The following table reconciles our Adjusted Net Profit/Loss for ~ TEREHINFF2HNFEENLHEGF BB FHEER
the years presented to the most directly comparable financial HEEBMBERELEBFEN 2N REE A B LHLE
measure calculated and presented in accordance with BT E (BNERFIE) HER

HKFRSs, which is profit for the year:

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILEE

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
US$’ 000 US$'000
e FET
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE,(EE) 112,708 (37,150)
Add: i
Restructuring costs(" BEHARAOD 23,032 -
Net realized and unrealized losses on AJREFKE S KRS IREIBFE _ 630
convertible bonds®
Income tax effects of non-HKFRSs FEBUBMEERABRNAERTE® = (134)
adjustments®
Adjusted Net Profit/(Loss) LREMAR S (BEFEH) 135,740 (36,654)

Notes: Hyat

(1) Represents the non-recurring costs associated with the (1) ERAEEMNEENERERSREMENT
repositioning of the Group’s Steinheim facility in Germany. (L FRRE VRS IR o

(2) Represents the net realized and unrealized losses on our  (2) IR 2023 F A R IE R HEIEE HT 8 1TH A]

investment, net of income tax effects, in the convertible BREHFNRE 2 2R RAREHRBERFE (30
bond issued by Chervon Auto Precision Technology in BRETISHEE) -
2023.

(3) Represents income tax effects of non-HKFRSs adjustments.  (3) BB B BREEANFAENMEHZE -

Liquidity and Financial Resources RBESRUBER
Financial Position BIHBME

The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position. AEEEEEFERINPBMR - BZE20245F 12
As of December 31, 2024, the Group had US$328.8 million in  A31H » K"EEEF328.8FEETLRE REESH
cash and cash equivalents (December 31, 2023: US$296.3 fE¥ (2023612 731H : 296.3E&EXE ) - #ZE
million). 34.8%, 54.6%, 4.3% and 6.3% of the cash and cash 2024F12H31H - RERREEEWH34.8% -
equivalents as of December 31, 2024 were denominated in  54.6% * 4.3%%6.3% A RIAARE - £7T - BT Kk
RMB, US dollar, Euro and other currencies, respectively. HihEH¥EEHE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Funding and Treasury Policy

The Group’s funding and finance policy aims to maintain
stable financial position and mitigate financial risks. The
Group regularly reviews its funding requirements to maintain
adequate financial resources in order to support its current
business operations as well as its future investments and
expansion plans.

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had bank loans of
US$295.6 million (December 31, 2023: US$323.6 million),
which were primarily denominated in RMB, and lease liabilities
of US$13.9 million (December 31, 2023: US$12.4 million). As
of the same date, fixed-rate and floating-rate loans account
for 53.4% and 46.6%, respectively, of the Group’s total bank
loans.

As of December 31, 2024, short-term bank loans and current
portion of long-term bank loans collectively accounted for
65.2% of the total bank loans (December 31, 2023: 61.2%).

The Group’s gearing ratio (which equals total debt (including
bank loans and lease liabilities) divided by total equity) was
0.3 as of December 31, 2024 which has remained consistent
compared to the same period in 2023.

Working Capital

Our inventories amounted to US$608.3 million as of December
31, 2024 as compared to US$531.0 million as of December 31,
2023. Our inventory turnover days decreased to 180 days in
2024, as compared to 209 days in 2023, primarily due to the
improvement in our operational efficiency.

Our trade and bills receivables turnover days were at 87 days
in 2024, as compared to 77 days in 2023, which is in line with
the credit terms we granted to our customers. The increase
primarily resulted from strong sales performance in the fourth
quarter of 2024 that led to an increase in the balances of our
trade and bills receivables as well as a decrease in our use
of customer supply chain financing to mitigate the impact of
higher U.S. dollar-denominated interest rates.

Our trade and bills payables turnover days were 86 days in
2024, as compared to 96 days in 2023, which is in line with
the credit terms that we obtained from suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures in 2024 amounted to US$63.0 million
(2023: US$77.1 million), primarily due to our investments in
upgrading smart manufacturing systems and advancing digital
transformation.

Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2024, our capital commitments (including
those contracted for and authorized but not contracted for)
for the construction of plant and buildings and acquisition of
machinery and equipment amounted to US$63.7 million (2023:
US$67.5 million) primarily for the expansion of our production
capacity in Vietnam.

Pledge of Assets

During the Reporting Period, certain assets of the Group were
pledged as security for bank loans, as further detailed below:

BEXBE

R2024%F - HPIMEARF S A63.05 &3 (2023
F771EBEL) TZAERKMARTERER
SRR S TR IR E AT -

BAERE

HZE2024F12A31H ' HMARBEREFER
LB R R ENEREE (BREBITOREEE
ARG ERAIE) B63.7EH B 3ETT (20234 -
67.5EHEE) TEANEAESENESE -

BELRA

RBERAR - AEEF O EECERRRITERD
R E—HHBOT

As of December 31,

HZE12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
US$’000 US$'000
ET FE=T
Plant and buildings W E RETF - 31,740
Leasehold land FAEL - 21,852
Inventories FE 16,427 16,565
Trade and bills receivables B SR TE & RN = 1,921 1,538
Pledged deposits [REEEEEERS N 15,424 14,511
Interest in an associate REEE R E R 13,226 17,069
Total @t 46,998 103,275

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had pledged deposits
of US$20.2 million (December 31, 2023: US$18.2 million),
which will be released upon the settlement of letters of credit
and bills payable and by the Group or the expiry of relevant
banking facilities.

20
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent Liabilities

During the Reporting Period, the Group issued guarantees
to financial institutions in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC") for certain indebtedness of our independent third-
party customers, who are typically qualified distributors of
ours in the PRC. As of December 31, 2024, the maximum
guarantee amount was US$21.6 million (December 31, 2023:
US$21.9 million) and the guarantee issued was US$8.1 million
(December 31, 2023: US$8.5 million).

Significant Investments Held

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not hold any
significant investments (including any investment in an
investee company with a carrying amount of 5% or more of the
Company'’s total assets as of December 31, 2024).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associates.

Future Plans for Major Investments and Capital Assets

In the coming years, the Group intends to continue investing
in expanding its manufacturing plant in Vietnam, including by
building production facilities on a land lot owned by it with a
total area exceeding 150,000 square meters.

During the Reporting Period, save for the expansion plans as
disclosed in the section headed “-~Use of Net Proceeds from
our Global Offering” in this Annual Report and as disclosed
above, the Group has no specific plans for major investment
or acquisition for major capital assets or other businesses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Exposure to Fluctuations in Foreign Exchange Rates

The Group manufactures and sells its products in many
countries throughout the world. As a result, there is exposure
to foreign currency risk as the Group enters into transactions
and makes investments denominated in multiple currencies.
For example, changes in currency exchange rates may affect
the relative prices at which the Group and its competitors sell
products in the same market and the costs of products and
services the Group requires for its operations. The Group's
predominant exposures are in US dollar, Euro and RMB. The
Group is subject to risks arising from the translation of balance
sheets and income statements of its subsidiaries to US dollars
as well as the risk arising from the export of products and
sales outside the country of manufacturing.

The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts with
financial institutions to mitigate its exposures to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates. Fluctuations in the foreign exchange
rates may lead to losses resulting from the Group’s exposure
to foreign exchange forward contracts or similar arrangements.
Our net foreign exchange gain in 2024 amounted to US$2.1
million, as compared to a net foreign exchange gain of US$4.9
million in 2023. Our net realized and unrealized gain on
derivative financial instruments (which primarily include foreign
exchange forward contracts) in 2024 amounted to US$4.1
million, as compared to a net realized and unrealized loss on
derivative financial instruments of US$12.2 million in 2023.

Investment Risk Management

Our investment strategy is grounded in the principles of
compliance, prudence, safety and effectiveness. Each
investment decision is made based on internal vetting and
discussions, considering factors such as market dynamics,
expected returns and risks involved. We believe that our
internal strategy and policies regarding investments and the
related risk management mechanisms are adequate, and that
our investment decisions have been in full compliance with our
investment strategy and policies.

©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2024, the Group’s largest customer and five largest
customers accounted for approximately 39.1% and 63.3%
(2023: 34.5% and 59.3%) respectively of the Group’s total
revenue; and the Group's largest supplier and five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 9.6% and 23.1%
respectively of the Group’s total purchases (2023: 21.7% and
33.8%).

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) who owned more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital had any interest in the five largest customers or
suppliers of the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The number of employees of the Group was 6,481 as of
December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: 6,173). The total
staff costs for the Reporting Period amounted to US$240.2
million as compared to US$208.9 million in 2023. We did
not incur equity settled share-based expenses during the
Reporting Period.

The Group is committed to hiring, retaining and promoting top
talents across its global teams. As part of its retention strategy,
the Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its
employees, including salary and allowances, performance-
based bonuses and long-term incentive programs. The Group
also provides regular and specialized training tailored to the
needs of its employees in different departments.

As of December 31, 2024, the male-to-female ratio of the
Group’s employees is approximately 1.55 to 1 (December 31,
2023: 1.56:1). The ratio is primarily driven by the nature of our
business as we employ a higher portion of male engineers and
front-line workers. While we consider such ratio to be in line
with industry norms, we are firmly committed to offering equal
employment opportunities to all qualified candidates based on
merits and will seek to achieve relative balance between male
and female employees going forward.
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TEREREREERS

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (GB#ER) (“Mr. Pan”), aged 61, is
our principal founder, executive Director, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Pan is primarily responsible
for supervising overall operations, management, strategic
planning and business development of our Group.

Mr. Pan has over 30 years of experience in the power tool and
OPE industry and 29 years of management experience in our
Group. Mr. Pan founded our principal operating subsidiary,
Nanjing Chervon Industry Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Chervon
Industry”) and has served as its chairman since September
1997. On June 22, 1999, Mr. Pan was appointed as our
executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
Mr. Pan currently serves as a director in a number of our
subsidiaries and as the general manager of Chervon (China)
Investment Co., Ltd.* (RiUE(FEH)EEHFRAE) (“Chervon
China Investment”). He is also a director of Chervon
Global Holdings Limited (“Chervon Global”) and its various
subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in the production
of key automobile and mechanical components and investment
management. Mr. Pan serves as the chairman of Nanjing
Chervon Auto Precision Technology Co., Ltd. (F&R R I& 55
B MD B R A7) (“Chervon Auto Precision Technology”),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603982.SH) since October 2012. Prior to founding
the predecessor company of our Group, Nanjing Chervon
International Trading Co., Ltd.* (BREEREREZERAA)
(“Chervon International Trading”) in 1994, Mr. Pan served
as a salesperson in Nanjing Machinery, Minerals, Metals &
Medicine Import and Export Company* (78 R T 4 i = 58 24
#2 R OR7F]), a company engaged in machinery import
and export trading, from July 1988 to June 1993.

Mr. Pan received his bachelor's degree and his master’s
degree in earth sciences from Nanjing University (FRAZ) in
the PRC, in July 1985 and July 1988, respectively.
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Ms. Zhang Tong (&f%) (“Ms. Zhang"), aged 53, is our
co-founder, executive Director and executive vice president for
the North America sales & marketing. Ms. Zhang is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our Group in North America.

Ms. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in the power tool
and OPE products industry and management experience in
our Group. Ms. Zhang co-founded our principal operating
subsidiary, Nanjing Chervon Industry, and has served as
its director since September 1997. On June 22, 1999, Ms.
Zhang was appointed as our executive Director and executive
vice president for the North America sales and marketing.
Ms. Zhang currently serves as a director in a number of our
subsidiaries. She is also a director of Chervon Global and
its various subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in the
production of key automobile and mechanical components
and investment management. Ms. Zhang serves as a director
of Chervon Auto Precision Technology, a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH), since
October 2016.

Ms. Zhang studied foreign trade English from Hohai University
(AKX in the PRC and graduated in July 1991. Ms. Zhang
received her master's degree in business management from
China Europe International Business School (FREXEE2FT) in the
PRC in May 2012.

=3
B

EEZNSREEEBEEF

Rz (Rt ]) 535 @ AR KRB
A BITEERIEXHERZHLRTRIAE - K
AITBABEBASEEILINERESZ  F
B B EIA R E RS -

REZTHBEB20FNEHTAROPEERITELR
B WHEBEASBEMNER  c R T HEANT
BMNETZELWBRARAMRARERE - WE 1997
FOAREMEEE - N1999F 6 A22H » kX =
WEEABMORNITESTRILEHE REHEHNITE
BEH - RETBAMETERMZRMBARINES -
H R AChervon Global M EZXRWEBARIMES -
ZERNRETENSEBIBEREMEIFREEMN
RIEEEI - R+ BE2016F10 AR IEFERIERE
BEREN (ELEELFRSGMETMHRAF - BHR
15 1 603982.SH) V&= -

REZTRABNBRSEBBINERE - WHN19914F
7ARE - Rz 12012455 AES B B £
TrERE LT -

RIETERER AT —EZUFFR

75/



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

TERBREEBRER

==
H

Mr. Ke Zuqian (f8) (“Mr. Ke"), aged 64, is our
co-founder, executive Director and executive vice president
for manufacturing and supply chain. Mr. Ke is primarily
responsible for supervising manufacturing and production
processes and management of our Group.

Mr. Ke has over 20 years of experience in the power tool and
OPE products industry and management experience in our
Group. Mr. Ke joined Chervon International Trading in January
1996 as a technical director, and has served as a director and
a vice general manager of Nanjing Chervon Industry since
September 1997. On June 22, 1999, Mr. Ke was appointed
as our executive Director and executive vice president for
manufacturing. Mr. Ke currently serves as a director in a
number of our subsidiaries and as the general manager of
Nanjing Chervon Industry. He is also a director of Chervon
Global and its various subsidiaries, which are principally
engaged in the production of key automobile and mechanical
components and investment management. Mr. Ke serves as
a director of Chervon Auto Precision Technology, a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.
SH), since October 2016. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ke
was a lecturer in Tongji University ([F/EAX£) from July 1984 to
June 1992, a technical manager in TUV Rheinland (TUV 2B
A F]), a technical services provider, from July 1992 to May
1994 and a technical manager in TUV SUD (TUV 742 @ iR %
‘A\]), a testing and certification provider, from June 1994 to
December 1995.

Mr. Ke received his bachelor’s degree and his master’s degree
in industrial automation from Tongji University ([E/&AX£Z) in the
PRC in July 1984 and April 1990, respectively.
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Mr. Michael John Clancy (“Mr. Clancy”), aged 69, is
our executive Director and senior vice president for the
North America sales and marketing. Mr. Clancy is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our Group in North America.

Mr. Clancy has extensive experience in the power tool industry
and has accumulated over 30 years of experience in corporate
management.

Mr. Clancy joined our Group in September 2018 and has since
served as the chief executive officer of Chervon North America,
Inc. (“Chervon NA") from September 2018 to December 2024.
Mr. Clancy was appointed as our executive Director on August
4, 2021. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Clancy served as the
vice president for the national accounts unit of Skil Corporation
from 1978 to 1992, a power tool and accessory supplier which
was later acquired by our Group, the vice president of the
consumer business group of Rust-Oleum Corporation, a paint
supplier, from 1992 to 1995, the president of RotoZip Tool
Corp, a power tool and accessory supplier, from 1995 to 2000
and the senior vice president of the North American Sales
organization and the project management of Robert Bosch
Tool Corporation, a power tool and accessory supplier, from
2010 to 2016 and from 2016 to 2017, respectively.

Mr. Clancy received his bachelor's degree in business from
Western lllinois University in the U.S. in May 1977 and his
master’s degree in business administration from Depaul
University in the U.S. in February 1983. Mr. Clancy has been
one of the board members of the Outdoor Power Equipment
Institute since March 2021.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming (EH®), aged 64, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Mr. Tian is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”).

Mr. Tian has over 20 years of extensive experience in the
fields of competitive strategy, operation management and
property investment and development. Mr. Tian worked at
the Nanjing People’s Government (B R AREKMA) from July
1991 to October 2001, with his last position being the deputy
department head. He was also the executive secretary of
Nanjing Changjiang Waterway Bureau (B Rm&/IMEEE
/&) from December 1979 to April 1991. In December 2001, Mr.
Tian founded Landsea Group Co., Ltd. (BAzFSEEIRMH AR A F),
a company principally engaged in property development, and
has since served as its director and chief executive officer.
He has been the chairman of the board of Shanghai Landleaf
Architecture Technology Co., Ltd.* (/B EERIEBRAF))
since July 2013, a company principally engaged in providing
green construction technologies related services and the
shares of which were listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations Co., Ltd. (stock code: 870998.NEEQ) from
February 2017 to March 2020.

Mr. Tian served as the chairman and an executive director
in Landsea Green Management Limited (Bis54r2EIR AR
xA]) (previously named as Landsea Green Properties Co.,
Ltd. (BAzF4EEABR A 7)) (stock code: 106.HK) from July
2013 to December 2024 and Landsea Homes Corporation,
a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market (symbols:
“LSEA”, “LSEAW") from January 2021 to October 2024. He
was appointed as a director of Landsea Green Life Service
Company Limited (B E4EEREABMR AR (stock code:
1965.HK) in December 2020, and subsequently, its chairman
of the board and a non-executive director in January 2021 and
has been re-designated from a non-executive director to an
executive director since March 2024.

Mr. Tian served on various committees, such as the vice
president of China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce (& B
HZEE) from October 2016 to October 2021, the president
of the China Europe International Business School (/BB
THEBT) (“CEIBS”) Alumni Association from April 2017 to
April 2020, and the rotating chairman of China Urban Realty
Association (I3 EE ) from April 2018 to April 2020.
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Mr. Tian received a diploma in engine management from
Nanjing Heyun School* (FFUAEESER) (currently known
as Nanjing Maritime School* (FRMEEZH)) in the PRC in
December 1979 and a diploma in Chinese from Nanjing
Vocational Tertiary Institute* (BARBTS5E24%) in the PRC
in December 1988. Mr. Tian completed a master’'s course
program in administrative management from Nanjing University
(FAHEAEZ) in the PRC in August 1997 and received his
master’'s degree in business management from CEIBS in
the PRC in September 2007. Mr. Tian was awarded the “EY
Entrepreneur of the Year” in the real estate industry by Ernst &
Young in October 2019.

Dr. Li Minghui (Z8#8), aged 51, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Dr. Li is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board. Dr. Li was a
lecturer in accounting from August 2003 to July 2005 and
an associate professor in accounting from August 2005 to
November 2006 at the School of Management in Xiamen
University (EFIKE). Dr. Li served as an associate professor
at the School of Business in Nanjing University (F 7= A2 from
December 2006 to December 2009. Since December 2009,
Dr. Li has been a professor in accounting at the School of
Business in Nanjing University (8 R AEZ).

Dr. Li has served as an independent non-executive director of
Nanjing Zhongweixin Software Technology Co., Ltd.* (Fg&=H
BEEERBERMABRAF]), a company principally engaged in
computer software development from August 2020 to August
2023 and Jiangsu Sugang Shipping Co., Ltd.* (T&EBME
P ERATR),
cargo transportation from October 2023 to July 2024, and has
also served as an independent non-executive director of a
number of listed companies, including Baosheng Science and
Technology Innovation Co., Ltd. (BEBEEEFRMDERAR])
(stock code: 600973.SH) from December 2014 to May 2019,
Changchai Co., Ltd. (B4 7 AR 2AF]) (stock code: 000570.
SZ) from March 2015 to April 2020, Jiangsu Fasten Co., Ltd.
CIEEBBRRMAEMR AR (stock code: 000890.5Z) from April
2015 to November 2019, Nanjing Securities Co., Ltd. (A R&EH
fZDBBR A R]) (stock code: 601990.SH) from May 2016 to June
2022 and GCL Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (#Z&seRRH D
BIRA[]) (stock code: 002015.57) from June 2019 to January
2025.

a company principally engaged in maritime
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Dr. Li has been a director of China Audit Society (FREIZEFH2
=) since December 2009 and the vice president of Jiangsu
Audit Society* ((TE T2 ®) since January 2019.

Dr. Li received his bachelor's degree in accounting from
Nanjing University of Science and Technology (FARIET
KE) in the PRC in June 1997 and his master's degree in
accounting from Shandong University of Economics (ILE#E
EEBT) (currently known as Shandong University of Finance
and Economics (IIFEBEKE)) in the PRC in June 2000.
Dr. Li obtained his doctorate degree in accounting from
Xiamen University (EFIAZ) in July 2003. Dr. Li is qualified
as a non-practicing certified public accountant issued by
The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
December 2009.

Mr. Jiang Li (#¥3Z), aged 60, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Mr. Jiang is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Jiang was the founder of Nanjing Tianjia Air-conditioning
Equipment Co., Ltd.* (FRKXINZEFHRE AR AT, which was
later renamed as Nanjing Tianjia Environmental Technology
Co., Ltd.* (FBRAIMREREBRAF) and had been appointed
as its director and general manager in 1999, and has currently
served as the chairman of the board of the same. Mr. Jiang
served as a director of MayAir Technology (China) Co., Ltd (3£
B (R E)RERHE R AR AF) from July 2019 to March 2020
and was appointed as the chairman of its board since March
2020. Mr. Jiang has been a director of Guangzhou Smardt
Chiller Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (B/MBEE L RZEREFR
A|]) since January 2021. Mr. Jiang is also a member of the
National Professional Standardization Technical Committee*
(FEEXERECRTEER).

Mr. Jiang received his master’'s degree in business
management from China Europe International Business School
(FELFEEPT) in the PRC in September 2009. During his career,
Mr. Jiang was nominated as an innovative enterprise talent
by the Ministry of Science and Technology* (Bl EBaIFT%
AA) and an excellent contributor to the cause of socialism
with Chinese characteristics in Jiangsu Province* (I#&EF
PEEEHETIEEERRE) Mr Jiang was also awarded the
first prize and the second prize in China machinery industry
science and technology* (FFEIMH TERISRM—S8/E -5
#%) and Nanjing science and technology progress award* (/

R R 87).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hu Yian (# 3L Z) (“Mr. Hu"), aged 56, is our chief financial
officer. Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for overseeing overall
financial operations, financing and investment activities of our
Group.

Mr. Hu joined our Group in April 2003 and has since served
as the director and financial vice president of Nanjing Chervon
Industry. Mr. Hu currently also serves as a director in a number
of our subsidiaries. Mr. Hu has been a director of Chervon
Auto Precision Technology, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH), from March 2012 to
November 2022. Prior to joining our Group, he was a financial
manager of Nanjing Ericsson Panda Communication Co., Ltd.*
(ARENERRHAEABRAT) from November 1995 to March
2003.

Mr. Hu received his bachelor’'s degree in industrial accounting
from Northeast Institute of Technology (Rt TEPT) in the
PRC in June 1992 and his master’s degree in international
management from The Australian National University in
Australia in June 2001.

Mr. Wu Shuming (R%Z8#8), aged 58, is our vice president
for product solution group department. Mr. Wu is primarily
responsible for supervising and managing the research and
development system and leading technological development
of our Group.

Mr. Wu joined our Group as an engineer in Nanjing Chervon
Industry in June 1997. Mr. Wu was appointed as the general
manager of R&D of our Group in March 2010. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Wu was an engineer in Nanjing Soil Instrument
Factory* (FAR T HEFEZ2M) from July 1989 to May 1997.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in vacuum technology
and equipment from Hefei University of Technology (& T2
AE) in the PRC in July 1989.
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Mr. Wu Gang (=), aged 51, is our chief digital officer. Mr.
Wu is primarily responsible for overseeing the digital strategy
and information technology development of our Group.

Mr. Wu has extensive experience in managing the digital and
information system at various companies in the automotive
industry. He joined our Group as the chief digital officer on
April 26, 2021. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wu was the IT
system project manager of SAIC General Motors Co., Ltd.
from April 1998 to July 2005, the IT application director and
the IT PMO director of SAIC Motor Corporation Limited from
August 2005 to July 2011, the chief IT director of industrial
group of Nippon China Limited from July 2011 to March 2012,
the IT director of Geely and Volvo China in April 2012 and the
chief digital officer of SAIC MAXUS Automotive Co., Ltd. from
February 2017 to July 2020.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor’'s degree in computer science
and technology from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (/&%
BARE) in the PRC in July 1996 and his master's degree in
business administration from Fudan University (fEB X&) in
the PRC in January 2008.

Ms. Shan Xiaodong (B ), aged 58, is our vice president
for human resources. Ms. Shan is primarily responsible for
overseeing human resources planning and management of our
Group. Ms. Shan joined our Group in May 2017 as the vice
president for human resources in Nanjing Chervon Industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Shan was a lecturer in School
of Economics and Management of Inner Mongolia University
(ARHABEHEEEER) from 1995 to 1996. Subsequently,
Ms. Shan held senior human resources management positions
in various companies, including serving as a human resources
and administrative manager at BP China Ltd. from 2001 to
2003, the vice president for Asia Pacific human resources
(BB RANNEREE) of Hexion Inc. (previously Momentive
Specialty Chemicals) from 2003 to 2015 and the vice president
for human resources of Shanghai Fortune Map Trading Limited
(EEEEE SHBRAF]) from 2015 to 2017.

Ms. Shan received her bachelor’'s degree in economic
management from Fudan University (8B KX£) in the PRC in
July 1988 and her master's degree in management from BI
Norwegian School of Management in Norway in February 1999.

©
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Peter John Melrose, aged 59, is our vice president for
the European sales & marketing. Mr. Melrose is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our DIY power tools and OPE business in Europe. Mr. Melrose
joined our Group as a general manager of Chervon Europe
Limited in June 2007 and was appointed as the managing
director of EGO Europe GmbH since November 2015. Mr.
Melrose has been a managing director of Chervon GmbH
since November 2022. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Melrose
began his career with Black & Decker and held various sales,
marketing and product development positions before joining
NEC (UK) LTD as the European marketing manager. Mr.
Melrose continued his career in marketing with one of the UK’s
foremost companies (Centrica plc) within its energy supply
business (British Gas Trading Ltd) and re-joined the power
tool industry in Europe as a commercial director with Global
Machinery Company Pty. Mr. Melrose received his bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering from Hatfield Polytechnic in
the UK in July 1988 and his master's degree in business
administration (MBA) with a major in strategic marketing from
Hull University in the UK in July 1997.

Dr. Christian Neuner, aged 49, is our vice president for FLEX.
Mr. Neuner is primarily responsible for supervising overall
operations, management, strategic planning and sales and
marketing development of the FLEX brand product.

Dr. Neuner joined our Group in August 2014 as the vice
president of corporate strategy and development of Nanjing
Chervon Industry. Dr. Neuner has subsequently held positions
in a number of our subsidiaries, including the managing
director of Chervon GmbH from October 2016 to March 2023,
the managing director of FLEX Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH since
May 2017, the managing director of Flex Geschéaftsfuhrungs
GmbH since June 2017 and the chief executive officer of Flex
Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG since January 2018. Prior to
joining our Group, Dr. Neuner served as a project manager of
Roland Berger Strategy Consultants GmbH from May 2003 to
October 2010 and a principal of Roland Berger Management
Consultants (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from October 2010 to July
2014.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Dr. Neuner received his master's degree in business
administration with a major in marketing and production and
his doctorate degree in business administration from the
University of Bayreuth in Germany in May 2002 and April 2009,
respectively. Dr. Neuner has been one of the board members
of the European Power Tool Association (EPTA) since January
2020 and has been elected as the vice president of the
German Power Tool Association (ZVEI) in July 2021.

*

For identification purposes only

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Hu Yian (#3A %) was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of our Company on August 4, 2021,
which took effect on the same day.

I

For biographical details of Mr. Hu, please see “—Senior

Management” in this section.

Ms. Lam Wing Chi (#%2) (“Ms. Lam”) was appointed
as one of the joint company secretaries of the Company on
October 28, 2024, which took effect on the same day.

Ms. Lam is currently a senior manager of company secretarial
services of Tricor Services Limited. She is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an
associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Lam
holds a holds a bachelor’'s degree in accounting. She has over
11 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and
has been providing professional corporate services to Hong
Kong listed companies as well as multinational, private and
offshore companies.

3¢/
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The Board is pleased to present this Annual Report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Reporting Period. All references in this section to other
sections, parts of or notes in this Annual Report, form part of
this Directors’ Report section.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in Hong Kong as a private
company with limited liability under the predecessor ordinance
of the Companies Ordinance (which was in force from time
to time before March 3, 2014) on February 19, 1999, the
shares of which (the “Shares”) were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on December 30, 2021 (the “Listing Date”).
The prospectus of the Company dated December 17, 2021
(“Prospectus”) has been published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(https://global.chervongroup.com).

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in researching, developing,
manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-sale services for power
tools, outdoor power equipment and related products. Analysis
of the principal activities of the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Reporting
Period are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 7 to 8 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 9 to 23 of this Annual Report.

An account of the Group's key relationships with its key
stakeholders is provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statements” on pages 7 to 8 of this Annual Report and “—
Relationship with Stakeholders” under this section. An analysis
of the Group’s performance during the Reporting Period using
financial key performance indicators is set out in the section
headed “Financial Summary” on page 6 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 23 of this Annual
Report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the Reporting Period, as far as the Board is aware, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group in all material aspects.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Directors are aware that the Group’s financial condition,
results of operations, businesses and prospects may be
affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group are set out as
follows:

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to the Industry and
Overall Economy

. Unfavorable economic and geopolitical conditions in
the markets in which we operate, such as the trade
tensions between China and the United States, may
adversely affect our sales.

. We face active competition and resulting pricing
pressures, and we may not be able to compete
effectively against current and future competitors.

° Competitor innovations, customer and end-user
preferences and production and market conditions in
the power tools and OPE industry may change rapidly,
and we may not be able to sufficiently and promptly
respond to such changes.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Products

° Changes in customer and end-user preferences,
inability to maintain mutually beneficial relationships
with large customers, inventory reductions by
customers and inability to penetrate new channels of
distribution could adversely affect our business.

° The inability to develop and introduce new products
at favorable margins, or low customer demand for new
products, could adversely impact our business.

o Unsatisfactory performance of or defects in our
products may harm our reputation, lead to product
returns or recalls and subject us to significant product
liability litigations.

o
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° Any mishandling of our battery cells and battery packs
may cause safety accidents and disruptions to the
operation of our facilities.

. We may fail to maintain our brand position among our
targeted end-user groups, and market perception and
end-user acceptance of our brands may suffer.

o We are subject to various regulatory and customer-imposed
guidelines and may not be successful in maintaining an
effective quality control system.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Operations

° Our business depends in part on our ability to protect
our intellectual property rights and operate without
infringing on the rights of third parties.

o Our business depends on third-party suppliers to meet
our requirements for high-quality production and timely
delivery of raw materials and components.

° Our manufacturing capabilities depend on labor supply
and middle management, and we may not be able to
recruit, train and retain qualified personnel or maintain
a sufficient workforce.

. Our distributors may engage in misconduct or other
improper activities, as a result of which, we may be
exposed to regulatory investigations, penalties or other
negative consequences.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Financial
Condition

° We may not be able to obtain adequate financing on
commercially reasonable terms on a timely basis, or at
all, and any debt financing may contain covenants that
restrict our business or operations.

. We may not achieve optimal results in future
acquisitions, investments, partnerships or new
businesses, or may encounter difficulties in integrating
and developing the acquired assets or investments
successfully.

o Changes in taxation on our business may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Regulatory
Compliance

o We may not be able to obtain, maintain and renew
various permits, licenses, certificates, consents and
other approvals from administrative authorities.

° Failure in complying with quotas, duties, tariffs or other
restrictions on imports and exports may expose us to
increased costs and delay the transportation of our
products to market.

o We are subject to national and local environmental and
health and safety directives, laws and regulations, and
the violation of which may materially and adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Doing Business in
the PRC

° The economic, political and social conditions in China,
as well as government policies, laws and regulations,
could affect our business, financial conditions and
results of operations.

° Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system
could limit the legal protections available to us and
any litigation in China may be protracted and result in
substantial costs and diversion of our resources and
management attention.

o Fluctuations in the value of the RMB and the PRC
government’s control over foreign currency conversion
may adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

For details regarding the Company’s risk management system,
please refer to the section headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control” in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 87 to 90 of this Annual Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Board is responsible for evaluating and managing
material ESG issues. Company management is responsible for
developing the Company’s ESG strategy, policy and reporting,
including assessing and managing climate-related risks, with
oversight provided by the Board. For environmental matters,
our Environmental, Health and Safety (“EHS") department
and equipment management department are responsible
for managing environmental and climate-related risks
arising from our business operations. The EHS department
identifies key environmental factors, establishes operational
control requirements and procedures and conducts relevant
monitoring and inspections. The EHS department also reviews
and updates the operational control procedures on an annual
basis in accordance with changes to key environmental
factors, applicable laws and regulations and compliance
assessments.

During the Reporting Period, we had not been subject to
any material fines or other penalties due to non-compliance
in relation to environmental protection laws and regulations
that had a material adverse impact on our operations and,
so far as our Directors are aware after making all reasonable
enquiries, there was no threatened or pending action by any
environmental government authorities in respect thereof.

For details of the Company’'s environmental policies
and performance, please refer to the Company’s 2024
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the
“comply or explain” provisions in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Further details of the Group’s ESG matters including
environmental policies and performance are set out in the
Company’s 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group's
largest customer and five largest customers accounted for
approximately 39.1% and 63.3% (2023: 34.5% and 59.3%)
respectively of the Group’s total revenue; and the Group’s
largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 9.6% and 23.1% respectively of the Group’s
total purchases (2023: 21.7% and 33.8%).

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
in the consolidated financial statement on pages 105 to 112 of
this Annual Report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of US$0.0802 per ordinary share (equivalent to HK$0.6258 per
ordinary share) for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023:
Nil). This proposed final dividend is subject to the approval
of the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”) to be held on Thursday, May 22, 2025,
and the final dividend is expected to be payable on or before
Monday, June 23, 2025 to those Shareholders whose names
appear on the Company’s register of members as of Thursday,
May 29, 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS/RECORD
DATE

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, May 19, 2025 to Thursday, May 22, 2025, both days
inclusive, in order to determine the identity of the Shareholders
who are entitled to attend the AGM, during which period
no share transfers will be registered. The record date for
determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and
vote at the AGM is Thursday, May 22, 2025. To be eligible
to attend the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on Friday, May 16, 2025.

O
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The record date for determining the entitlement of the
Shareholders to the final dividend (if approved by the
Shareholders in the AGM) is Thursday, May 29, 2025. To
qualify for the final dividend, all transfers forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, May 27,
2025. The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, May 28, 2025 to Thursday, May 29, 2025,
both days inclusive, on which dates no share transfers will be
registered.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy adopted by the Company (the
“Dividend Policy”), the declaration of dividends is subject to
the discretion of the Board, and, if necessary, the approval of
the Shareholders. In considering the declaration and payment
of dividends, the Board shall take into account the Group’s
results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company, the Company’s capital requirements, future
business plans and prospects and any other factors that the
Board may consider relevant. Any declaration and payment,
as well as the amount, of any dividend will also be subject
to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”) and all applicable laws and regulations.
The Directors may reassess the Dividend Policy from time to
time. Further details of the Dividend Policy are provided in
the Corporate Governance Report on page 41 of this Annual
Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 6 of
this Annual Report. The summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the bank borrowings of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company received net proceeds (after deduction of
underwriting commissions and related costs and expenses)
from its global offering completed in December 2021, including
the full exercise of the over-allotment option, of approximately
HK$3,470.1 million (the “2021 Net Proceeds”).

As of December 31, 2023, the balance of the 2021 Net
Proceeds amounted to approximately HK$339.7 million. As
set out in the Prospectus, it was the Company's plan that
66.5% of the 2021 Net Proceeds would be used for expanding
and upgrading production facilities. After due and careful
consideration of Group’s business strategy and evolving
market environment and customer needs, the Board has
resolved on August 28, 2023 to approve the reallocation of
the 2021 Net Proceeds that remained unutilized as of June
30, 20283 and the updated timeframe. For details of the
reallocation, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated August 28, 2023.

During the Reporting Period, we have fully utilized the balance
of the 2021 Net Proceeds as set out below:

2RBEFEREFEAS

RARR2021F12 AZM BB E (BIEREIT
FEBREACAAE ) BEMEFIEFE (CHkeEEe
KA AR 453,470 1 B BB T (2021 F
FIBRIEFE]) -

HZE2023F 128318 » 2021 EMEREFREE
NAE339.7TEEBIT - WUBBRERME - AQF]
FTEI#5 2021 F A5 FRIE FEEM66.5% AR EA LI
WAEERNE KAEDBEZENEENEBRE -
TER#IEMMBREUREFPFERE EE2EERN
2023F 8 A28 HBm AN EEH HDELEH £2023F6
A30BIABAM2021 FAERBFALETE
& - BEEFSEMNFE  F2HAQRAHA
2023F8 A28 HHIRE

RBEHA - RPICBBB B 2021 FHFHRBFHE
MEER > BT

Updated Percentage
Allocation of of Updated Balance of 2021 Updated
Remaining 2021 Allocation of Net Proceeds Timeframe for
Net Proceeds Remaining Unutilized Use of the
Intended Use of as of 2021 Net as of Unutilized 2021
Net Proceeds December 31, 2023 Proceeds December 31,2024 Net Proceeds
B E2023F12A31H H88T2021F #EZ2024512A318 FEAKXBHH2021F
T 2021 FIBRE FRBREREN REF2021F FISREFEMN

FeREFERERZE BENENDE EHAENBEAL FEREREES ERRER
Expanding and upgrading HK$192.8 million 56.8% Nil Fully utilized

production facilities during the

Reporting Period

BARFA R E R 192.8EEAT 56.8% T REeEHEEHA
Researching and HK$146.9 million 43.2% Nil  Fully utilized

developing products during the

Reporting Period

EmifE 146.9B8E T 43.2% T PNEREHEEDA
Enhancing sales and Nil Nil Nil  Fully utilized

distribution channels in 2023
HEHERDHERE z =z T R20235FHHHA
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Updated Percentage
Allocation of of Updated Balance of 2021 Updated
Remaining 2021 Allocation of Net Proceeds Timeframe for
Net Proceeds Remaining Unutilized Use of the
Intended Use of as of 2021 Net as of Unutilized 2021
Net Proceeds December 31, 2023 Proceeds December 31,2024 Net Proceeds
B £2023F12H31H 8 T2021F #HZE2024%5128318  FAKEH202145
£ 2021 FFGNE B RIERREN REFH2021F FrSROEFEMN
FRREFERERAZE BENEHNIE EHAENBEAL FEREREES ENRER
Paying interest- Nil Nil Nil Fully utilized
bearing bank borrowings in 2023
XEBRITER z Z T R2023FFHIA
Working capital and other Nil Nil Nil  Fully utilized
general corporate purposes in 2023
LEEG RAM—RRARIAR e z T R2023FEHHA
Total HK$339.7 million 100.0% Nil
et 339.7EBATT 100.0% z
SUBSIDIARIES L5 NG

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note

16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to expand
its business and newly acquired property, plant and equipment
of approximately US$63.0 million. Details of the movements

M - BERRE

in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the 12°
Reporting Period are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RIEZRBR AT — T - HFFR

ARBMBRRZFHBEHNGEMEMKRMEE6 -

RBEH  AEBREBRREEBLABADE
W= KR E#RI63.0BEET - ARERREHHY)
¥ BELKRBEHFBHRIINGE P BHREME
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SHARE CAPITAL

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s total number of
issued Shares was 511,053,811. Details of movements in the
Company’s share capital during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 33(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period
or subsisted as of December 31, 2024.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during Reporting Period are set out in note 33(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders as of December 31, 2024 amounted to US$139.4
million (2023: US$186.7 million). Details of the reserves of
the Company available for distribution to the Shareholders
as of December 31, 2024 are set out in note 33(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting
Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the

Company'’s listed securities.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, approximately RMB3.2 million
charitable donations were made by the Group (2023: RMB1.2
million).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company and its subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period and as of the date of this Annual Report are:

Directors of the Company:
Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Ke Zugian

Mr. Michael John Clancy

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming
Dr. Li Minghui
Mr. Jiang Li

Directors of the subsidiaries of the Company:

The following directors have served on the board of the
subsidiaries of the Company as of December 31, 2024:
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5=

RBEBAEEATHRAE AR REHBRFR
WEEMOT :
AARESE:
HITEE
ERRTE(EFR
kY& +

T tE R ST
Michael John Clancy %4

TEAREL)

BUIIFHTTEE

HAAsEE
FHEE L
Bkt

AAEMBRRES :

HZE20245 128318 U TEERARAFTHBR
AINESSIR -

Place of

Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation
MEARER I E) R AL 3t Name of Directors Ex£B
Chervon (HK) Limited Hong Kong Mr. Pan Longquan BEREE
RIE(BE) BRAF B Chervon Holdings Limited REZERERRA

Ms. Zhang Tong b2

Mr. Ke Zugian TR E

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BRHEEE
Chervon Overseas Holdings Limited  Hong Kong Mr. Pan Longquan ERRLE
RIEEINERABIR AR 575 Ms. Zhang Tong b2

Mr. Ke Zugian TE R E
Chervon (China) Trading Co., Ltd. PRC Mr. Pan Longquan BERTE
RIE(FE)BFERRTA HE Ms. Zhang Tong R &t

Mr. Hu Yian AR K&
Chervon (China) Tools Sales Co., Ltd. PRC Ms. Zhang Tong b2
RIE(RE) TRHEEERAA HE

RIETERER AT —EZUFFR
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Place of
Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation
o)== NS ST Ave: ) Name of Directors EEEB
Chervon Industry Co., Ltd. PRC Mr. Pan Longquan ERRELE
REREBRAR HE Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Ke Zugian TE R &
Mr. Hu Yian BAA % 5t
Chervon Industry (Vietnam) Co. Ltd.  Vietnam Mr. Ke Zugian AR E
REEHE (M) GRATE Hi
Chervon China Investment PRC Mr. Pan Longquan BREREE
RIE(PE)EFE HE Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Ke Zugian TE R
Chervon North America Inc. us Ms. Zhang Tong bR -
=35 Mr. Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy st £
Mr. Wang Bin Wang Bin%t A&
Chervon Canada Inc. Canada Mr. Pan Longquan BERTE
mnex Ms. Zhang Tong bR -

Chervon Europe Ltd

EGO Europe GmbH

Chervon Australia Pty

Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited

Flex Geschéftsfihrungs GmbH

Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co KG

o

United Kingdom
=B

Germany
=E

Australia

AN

New Zealand
ST

Germany

(3=

Germany
=H5
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Mr. Gerald Beaudrie Il

Mr. Pan Longquan
Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Peter John Melrose
Mr. Axel Stemmer

Mr. Pan Longquan
Mr. Ng Paul King-Por
Mr. Hu Yian

Mr. ASHBY, Richard Charles
Mr. Pan Longquan
Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Ke Zugian
Dr. Christian Neuner

General Partner: Chervon
Geschaftsfuhrungs GmbH

Limited partner: Chervon
Overseas Holdings limited

Gerald Beaudrie 1174

ERRKL
R L

Peter John Melrose %t &
Axel Stemmer %t £

EREREE
Ng Paul King-Por %t 4
AR LA

ASHBY, Richard Charles%t 4
ERERALE
Rzt

AT E
Christian Neuneri&+

L@AEZA - Chervon
Geschaftsfuhrungs GmbH

BREBA : REBIMER
BRARA
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Place of

Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation

MEARER NG Ave: ) Name of Directors E=EB

FLEX Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH Germany Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neunerf§ =
=

FLEX Power Tools BVBA Belgium Mr. Robert Charles de Koning Robert Charles de Koning %t &
sl Flex Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH Flex Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH

FLEX Power Tools B.V.

FLEX Elektronaradi, s.r.o

FLEX ltalia S.r.|

FLEX Electroportatif Machines et
Accessoires-FEMA

Flex Power Tools Limited

Flex Power Tools Middle East Fzco

SKIL B.V.

Chervon GmbH

Netherlands

ol

The Czech Republic
P HAE

[taly

BAF

France

ER

United Kingdom

£

United Arab Emirate
FA{RE A RE

Netherlands

oL

Germany
=5

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Robert Charles de Koning

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Jan Skala

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Stefano Galdabino
Mr. Gert Moller

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Philippe Bayet

Mr. Ashley Senna

Dr. Christian Neuner
Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Chadi Kachmar
Mr. Pan Longquan

Mr. Peter John Melrose

Chervon (HK) Limited

Mr. Peter John Melrose

Christian Neunerf&+
Robert Charles de Koning %t £

Christian Neunerf&+
Jan Skala%t &

Christian Neunerf&+
Stefano Galdabino %t 4
Gert Mollersc 4

Christian Neunerf&+
Philippe Bayetst4£
Ashley Senna%t4
Christian Neunert&+
Christian Neunerf&§ £
Chadi Kachmarst 4
ERERALE

Peter John Melrose 4

K& (BE)BRAT

Peter John Melrose %t 4

REERBRAT —T_NFFR
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In accordance with Article 111 of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Zhang Tong, Mr. Tian Ming and Dr. Li Minghui will retire
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Company has not received any notice in writing specifying
that the resignation or refusal to stand for election is due
to reasons relating to the affairs of the Company from the
Directors.

The particulars of Directors who are subject to re-election
at the forthcoming AGM are set out in the circular to our
Shareholders dated April 25, 2025.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has reviewed the independence of each
independent non-executive Director in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent as of
the date of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 24 to 34 of
this Annual Report.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there are no changes
to any information required to be disclosed in relation to
any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) under
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the publication of the
Company'’s Interim Report dated September 26, 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENTS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service

and the
Company has issued letters of appointment to each of the

contract with the Company on December 8, 2021,

independent non-executive Directors. The service contracts
with each of the executive Directors is for an initial fixed term
of three years commencing from December 8, 2021, which
may be automatically renewed for successive periods of three
years until termination. The letter of appointment with each of
the independent non-executive Directors is for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from the December 8, 2021,
which was renewed on December 8, 2024 for a term of three
years. The service contract and the letters of appointment
are subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms, and may be renewed in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the applicable Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered,
or has proposed to enter, a service contract with any member
of the Group (other than contracts expiring or determinable
by the employer within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the
Group’s emolument policy and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and
senior management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME
Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of

the Company are set out in note 6(b) and note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2024, the interests or short positions of
each Director of the Board or chief executive of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) are as follows:

(i) Interest in our Company

EERFETHRAEBRKRS - HEAKRGRE
HFZEBRAR

HZE2024F12A31H  EFE€KEZTRLALRAIR
BITRABRAR A E MR EE (EERBS
ERIEST1EE R RHEGRD ([#FEREBEHRE )
EXVED) R - AERRG EREEF EERIEFE
HF R EEGIEXVIBET7 8D B ABME AN A7) KB
RETH R MoK B (BIEIRIEFF R EE &M A Bk
MWE SRR ARENERIAR) » REERAEAR
BIREESREENEI528AFEEMNE LMK
REFMEITAZESETESFIZMIZESTA ([
2578 ) AMG ARG RERATAER RAR I
T

(i) REL2FHER

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Nature of interest Number of shares® interest®
Name of Director EEHH ERME BROHEEO RESAEIL
Mr. Pan® EIE® Interest in controlled corporation 260,226,344 (L) 50.92%
TN o
Ms. Zhang® R+ Interest in controlled corporation 98,010,850 (L) 19.18%
ZEEEE S
Mr. Ke® fa] g 6 Interest in controlled corporation 27,118,822 (L) 5.31%

XY REE S
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Notes:

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such
Shares.

As of December 31, 2024, the total number of issued
Shares was 511,053,811.

These Shares are held by Panmercy Holdings Limited
(“Panmercy”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Pan, who is
also a director of Panmercy.

These Shares include (i) 97,637,750 Shares held by Green
Hope Limited (“Green Hope”), which is wholly owned by
Ms. Zhang and (ii) 373,100 Shares held by one offshore
employee shareholding platform pursuant to an employee
incentive arrangement, of which Ms. Zhang is the sole
director. Ms. Zhang is deemed to be interested in these
Shares for the purposes of the SFO.

These Shares are held by Klamm Limited (“Klamm”), which
is wholly owned by Mr. Ke, who is also a director of Klamm.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FRGWE

Hiat

(1) FEILIBZATRZERNDOETE -

(2) HZEC024F12A31BERTRHAER A
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(ii)  Interest in our associated corporations (i) ABEBZEPHER
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest
director Ez4l ExME REEE/ WEARER RERORAL
Mr. Pan BRE Interest in controlled Chervon Global 66.72%
corporation
RiEEBER Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%
Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%
Chervon Capital Management Limited 100.00%
Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%
Chervon (Nanjing) Management Services Co., Ltd.* 100.00%
(RE(@R)EBRBAERAF) (“Chervon Management Services')
RE(BR)EERBARAR ((REERRE))
Chervon International Trading 85.00%
Nanjing Jiuhao Electromechanical Industry Co., Ltd. 100.00%
(“Jiuhao Electromechanical”)
HRNEREBEARNA ([JERE])
Chervon Precision Technology Holdings Company Limited 100.00%
(“Chervon Precision Technology’)
FURERITERERAF (| REEHH])
Chervon China Investment 100.00%
i (R E) &
Chervon Auto Precision Technology!” 50.18%
RGBT
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%
FEREEER (BN AR
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Anhui) Co., Ltd. * 100.00%

(RERERERM(ZE)RHERAH) ("Chervon Anhui’)
FERERTR (LB RNERAR ([ REZH])
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Approximate

percentage of
shareholding
Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest
director ~ EZ%E BHUE BEEE/ HEARER RERHEL L
Ms. Zhang  ®XL Interest in controlled Chervon Global 24.66%
corporation
RS Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%
Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%
Chervon Capital Management Limited 100.00%
Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%
Chervon Management Services 100.00%
R E R
Chervon International Trading 85.00%
REERES
Jiuhao Electromechanical 100.00%
WERE
Chervon Precision Technology 100.00%
FERER
Chervon China Investment 100.00%
g (RE) A
Chervon Auto Precision Technology!” 50.18%
HRREAERERIY
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%
FEREEER (BN AR
Chervon Anhui 100.00%
REZH

RIEZRBR AT — T - HFFR @
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest
director ~ EE%E BHUE BEEE/ HWEARER RERHEA L
Mr. Ke {Epie Interest in controlled Chervon Global 6.85%
corporation
REEEER Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%
Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%
Chervon Capital Management Limited 100.00%
Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%
Chervon Management Services 100.00%
REERRE
Chervon International Trading 85.00%
REERES
Jiuhao Electromechanical 100.00%
WERE
Chervon Precision Technology 100.00%
REBERM
Chervon China Investment 100.00%
g (RE) A
Chervon Auto Precision Technology!” 50.18%
HRREAERERIY
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%
BT (BN AR
Chervon Anhui 100.00%
REZH

*

For identification purposes only
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Note:

(1) 50.18% interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology
is represented by 26.44% personal interest in directly
held by Mr. Pan, Ms. Zhang and Mr. Ke in Chervon Auto
Precision Technology and 23.75% interest held through the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company had
or were deemed to have any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company
under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors or
the chief executive of the Company) have interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO or which were
required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Name of Nature of interest Number of shares" interest®

shareholder BRERER ERME BOEHEEMO ERBAEIL

Panmercy® =Ee Beneficial owner 260,226,344 (L) 50.92%
EmEAA

Green Hope® 235 Beneficial owner 97,637,750 (L) 19.11%
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Approximate
percentage of
Name of Nature of interest Number of shares™ interest®
shareholder BERER ERME BROBE® HERPHNEILEE
Klamm®) A Beneficial owner 27,118,822 (L) 5.31%
EREEA
FMR LLC® FMR LLC® Interest in controlled corporation 30,260,574 (L) 5.92%
A E
Notes: Kiat -

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such
shares of the Company.

(2) As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s total number of
issued Shares was 511,053,811.

(3) Panmercy is wholly owned by Mr. Pan, who is also a
director of Panmercy.

(4) 97,637,750 Shares are held by Green Hope, which is
wholly owned by Ms. Zhang, who is also a director of
Green Hope.

(5) Klamm is wholly owned by Mr. Ke, who is also a director of
Klamm.

(6) FMR LLC holds the Shares through its direct and indirect
subsidiaries, including Fidelity Management Trust
Company, Fidelity Management & Research Company
LLC, FIAM Holdings LLC, Fidelity Management & Research
(Japan) Limited, Fidelity Management & Research (Hong
Kong) Limited, Fidelity Advisory Holdings LLC, Strategic
Advisers LLC, Fidelity Canada Investors LLC, Bay Street
Holdings LLC, 483A Bay Street Holdings LP, Fidelity
Canada Holdings (UK) Limited, Fidelity Investments
Canada ULC and FIAM LLC.
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FMR LLCHEBHEBFHZ LMEEMNE R A
ARfn  B¥EFidelity Management Trust
Company - Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLC » FIAM Holdings LLC »
Fidelity Management & Research (Japan)
Limited * Fidelity Management & Research
(Hong Kong) Limited * Fidelity Advisory
Holdings LLC - Strategic Advisers LLC *
Fidelity Canada Investors LLC, Bay Street
Holdings LLC - 483A Bay Street Holdings
LP  Fidelity Canada Holdings (UK)
Limited ~ Fidelity Investments Canada ULC
K FIAM LLC °



Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, the
Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group considers investors, employees, suppliers, society,
peers, governments and clients as its key stakeholders. It is
committed to building diversified, streamlined mechanisms
for communicating with such key stakeholders. Please refer to
the Company’s 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for further details.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

We set out below a summary of the connected transactions
conducted by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Continuing Connected Transactions Fully Exempt from
the Reporting, Annual Review, Announcement and
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

We set out below a brief summary of the continuing connected
transactions fully exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholder’s approval
requirements conducted by the Group during the Reporting
Period.
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Connected Persons of the Company

We have entered into certain transactions that will constitute

AR FIRYEFEA T
BPERTIETRS  RIBELHRAFE14A311

continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.31 of the REXFBERLITREXREBEBERS - ZE5XH

Listing Rules upon Listing. Those transactions are entered into

TYERTHIREA L R EBE AR

with the following connected persons and their associates:

Connected person
BEAL

Connected Relationship

BAE R %

Chervon Auto Precision Technology

SR T B KR B

Cheng & Cheng Corporate Services
Limited (“Cheng & Cheng”)
EREWMERBSBR AR ([ERE]D))

Cheng & Cheng Taxation Services
Limited (“Cheng & Cheng Taxation”)
HHBBARAT ([EEBHIE )

Chervon Auto Precision Technology is owned as to 26.44% by
Chervon Precision Technology, which is an indirect subsidiary
of Panmercy. As such, Chervon Auto Precision Technology is an
associate of Panmercy and therefore our connected person under
Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules.
RERERTRMAZENREZENEARRERSTRMESE26.44%
B o AUt REAEBERMABENBEAN - SRE ETHRAUE
14A 133 I BB MABEEAL -

Cheng & Cheng is owned as to 50% by Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (ZfEE
) and 50% by his spouse. Cheng & Cheng is an associate of Mr,
Cheng Hong Kei, a director of Chervon (HK) Limited, and therefore
our connected person under Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules.
BB RIS E R EB MBS BIHEES50% K50%Ea o EEARIE (FE)
ERARESERELENBEA - BURE EWHEANE14A12(1) () A
HMREEEAL -

Cheng & Cheng Taxation is owned as to 50% by Mr. Cheng Hong
Kei (EBEE#E) and 50% by Ms. LUNG Yin Yin Amy. Cheng & Cheng
Taxation is an associate of Mr. Cheng Hong Kei, a director of
Chervon (HK) Limited, and therefore our connected person under
Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules.

EPEDH 5 R BB R S A IR LUNG Yin Yin AmyZ =5 BI#EH 50% K50% 1
o MEMBRRE (FE) ERAPEFHRELENBEA - BIRE
MRAE14A1201) ()MERFR M BEAL -
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Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory
Lease. During the Reporting Period, Nanjing Chervon
Industry, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as lessor) performed under a lease agreement with
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (the “Nanjing
Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory Lease”),
pursuant to which Nanjing Chervon Industry leased to
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (as lessee) part
of its factory of an area of approximately 7,654.22 m?
located at No. 159 Jiangjun Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing, the PRC. The transactions under the Nanjing
Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory Lease
constitute de minimis transactions and are exempt
from the reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Utilities Payment Agreement. During the Reporting
Period, Nanjing Chervon Industry, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, performed under a utilities
payment agreement with Chervon Auto Precision
Technology (the “Utilities Payment Agreement”),
pursuant to which Nanjing Chervon Industry procured
supply of water and electricity services in respect of the
Factory for the operations of Chervon Auto Precision
Technology. Given that (1) the utilities supply services
is a “consumer service” and (2) the use of the water
and electricity supply services is on normal commercial
terms in our ordinary and usual course of business,
the payment for water and electricity utilities charges
under the Utilities Payment Agreement on an at-cost
basis is fully exempt from the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Rule 14A.97 of the Listing Rules.
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Company Secretarial Services Agreement and
Tax Compliance Services Agreement. During the
Reporting Period, the Company performed under a
company secretarial services agreement with Cheng
& Cheng (the “Company Secretarial Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which Cheng & Cheng
provided company secretarial services, custody
of company records and act as the designated
representative of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries.
The Company also performed under a tax compliance
services agreement with Cheng & Cheng Taxation (the
“Tax Compliance Services Agreement’), pursuant to
which Cheng & Cheng Taxation provided routine tax
compliance services and prepare profits tax returns
and tax computations to Company and certain of its
subsidiaries. The transactions under the Company
Secretarial Services Agreement and Tax Compliance
Services Agreement, when aggregated, constitute de
minimis transactions and are exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
normal course of business are provided under note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements, pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of such related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction (as the case may be).

o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements and the
section headed “Related Party Transactions and Connected
Transactions” in this Annual Report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director and/or any of its connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, and no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s controlling
Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended December 31,
2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for
the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body
corporate or had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Reporting
Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, none of the Directors or their respective associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) had engaged in or had
any interest in any business which competes or may compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to
applicable laws, the Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance to cover all costs, charges, losses, expenses and
liabilities incurred by any Directors or officers in the execution
and discharge of his duties or in relation thereto. The relevant
provisions in the Articles of Association and such directors and
officers liability insurance were in force during the Reporting
Period and as of the date of this Annual Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange to request
the Stock Exchange to exercise its discretion under Rule
8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules, and the Stock Exchange has
granted to the Company, a waiver from strict compliance with
the requirements under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.
Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least
18.43% (being the minimum public float prescribed by the
Stock Exchange and the Listing Rules) of the Company’s entire
issued share capital were held by the public as of the date of
this Annual Report.
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ADOPTION OF 2024 SHARE SCHEME

On January 29, 2024, the Board proposed to adopt a share
scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (the “2024
Share Scheme”). On February 20, 2024, the resolution
for adopting the 2024 Share Scheme was passed in an
extraordinary general meeting. As of the date of this report,
no share was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under
the 2024 Share Scheme. As of the date of this report, the total
number of the Shares available for granting under the 2024
Share Scheme was 51,105,381 Shares, representing 10%
of the Shares in issue on February 20, 2024 (the “Adoption
Date”), within which the Service Provider Participant Sublimit
(as defined in the 2024 Share Scheme) shall not in aggregate
exceed 5,110,538 Shares, representing 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue on the Adoption Date. For further
details regarding the 2024 Share Scheme, please refer to the
Company'’s circular dated February 2, 2024.

Between June 27, 2024 and July 3, 2024, the trustee for the
2024 Share Scheme purchased a total of 1,106,100 shares
on the market, accounting for approximately 0.22% of the
total number of the Company’s shares. For details regarding
the purchase on-market by the Company’s trustee for the
2024 Share Scheme (as defined above), please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated June 27, June 28, July 2
and July 3, 2024, respectively.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options
and awards granted under all schemes of the Company during
the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average number
of Shares in issue for the Reporting Period is nil.

The following sets forth a summary of the principal terms of
the 2024 Share Scheme. For further details regarding the 2024
Share Scheme, please refer to the Company’s circular dated
February 2, 2024. The summary does not form, nor is intended
to be, part of the 2024 Share Scheme nor should it be taken
as affecting the interpretation of the rules of the 2024 Share
Scheme. Unless context requires otherwise, capitalized terms
used herein shall have the same meanings as those defined in
the Company’s circular dated February 2, 2024.
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EERHRS
(a) Purpose

(b)

(c)

o

The purposes of the 2024 Share Scheme are: (1) to
bind the interests of the Shareholders, the Company
and its employees to focus on the realization of the
Company’s strategic development objectives and
to drive performance growth; and (2) to improve the
Group’s long-term incentive mechanism to attract and
retain outstanding talents and to fully mobilize the
senior management team and core employees.

Eligible Participants

Eligible Participants of the 2024 Share Scheme include:
(1) full-time and part-time employees, and directors
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including
persons who are granted Options or Awards under
the 2024 Share Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment contracts with these companies)
(the “Employee Participants”); (2) the directors
and employees (whether full-time, part-time or other
employment arrangement) of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company (the “Related Entity Participants”); and
(3) the independent service providers, suppliers,
subcontractors and consultants who are the participants
(the “Service Provider Participants”).

Maximum Number of New Shares to Be Issued In
Respect of the Options and Awards

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Options to be granted under the 2024
Share Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) generally
shall not in aggregate exceed 51,105,381 Shares,
representing 10% of the total number of the Shares in
issue as of the date on which the 2024 Share Scheme
is adopted by resolution of the Shareholders. The
Company may seek the approval of the Shareholders in
a general meeting for “refreshing” the Scheme Mandate
Limit and the Service Provider Participant Sublimit
under the 2024 Share Scheme after three years from the
date of Shareholders’ approval for the adoption of the
2024 Share Scheme or the last refreshment, whichever
is later. The Scheme Mandate Limit represents 10% of
the total number of the Shares in issue as of the date of
this Annual Report.
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(d)

(e)

)

Maximum Entitlement of Shares of Individual
Participants

Where any grant of Options or Awards to a participant
would result in the new Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all Options and Awards, and other options
and awards granted to such person (excluding any
Options and Awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the 2024 Share Scheme) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in
issue, such grant must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such participant
and his or her close associates (or, if the participant is
a connected person, associates) abstaining from voting.
The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
in connection therewith.

Exercise Period

The Board may determine in its absolute discretion the
Exercise Period for any award of Options and/or Awards
and such period shall be set out in an offer letter.
However, the Exercise Period for any award of Options
must not be longer than 10 years from the Grant Date.

Exercise Price

The Exercise Price at which an Option holder may
subscribe for Shares upon the exercise of an Option
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, and shall be at least the higher of: (1) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
Board meeting for proposing an offer for the grant
of an Option or an Award (the “Offer Date”), which
must be a Business Day; and (2) the average closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date.

The Board may in its absolute discretion determine
whether the Award holder is required to pay any price
to acquire the Award Shares (the “Purchase Price”)
and, if so required, the amount of the Purchase Price,
after taking into account the practices of comparable
companies and the effectiveness of the 2024 Share
Scheme in attracting talents and motivating the Award
holder to contribute to the long-term development of
the Group. For the avoidance of doubt, the Board may
determine the Purchase Price to be nil.

(d)

(e)

("
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(g) Vesting Period

Under the 2024 Share Scheme, the Board has absolute
discretion to set a minimum period (the “Vesting
Period”) for which an Option or Award has to be held
before it is vested. The Vesting Period shall not be less
than 12 months provided that the Options or Awards
granted to Employee Participants may be subject
to a shorter Vesting Period under certain specific
circumstances. For Related Entity Participants and
Service Provider Participants, the Vesting Period shall
not be less than 12 months in any event.

(h) Duration

The 2024 Share Scheme will remain valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the date
on which the 2024 Share Scheme is adopted, after
which period no further Options will be granted but the
provisions of the 2024 Share Scheme shall in all other
respects remain in full force and effect and Options
which are granted during the life of the 2024 Share
Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance
with their terms of issue. The remaining life of the 2024
Share Scheme is approximately eight years and ten
months.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On March 26, 2025, the Company has entered into an equity
transfer agreement with Chervon Precision Technology,
an indirect subsidiary of Panmercy Holdings Limited, our
controlling shareholder, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity interest in Chervon
(China) Investment at a cash consideration of RMB570,000,000
or HK$ equivalent. The disposal constitutes a discloseable and
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 and
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is subject to reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements. In connection with the disposal and subject to
the satisfaction of the conditions of the special dividend (being
the approval of the disposal and the special dividend by the
independent Shareholders), the Board has recommended
the payment of a special dividend of HK$1.1905 per ordinary
share. For further details, please refer to the Company's
announcement in relation to the disposal and the proposed
special dividend on March 26, 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no important events
which occurred after the end of the Reporting Period that are
required to be disclosed.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
has jointly reviewed with the Board the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed the
Group’s internal controls and financial reporting matters with
the management.
discussed the annual results of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and

AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as auditor of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

KPMG shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.
KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

A resolution for the re-appointment of

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance practices. Details of the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
68 to 97 of this Annual Report.

By Order of the Board

Pan Longquan

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, March 26, 2025

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company during the Reporting
Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards
of corporate governance best suited to the needs and
interests of the Group as it believes that an effective corporate
governance framework is fundamental to promoting and
safeguarding interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders
and enhancing Shareholder value. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted and applied corporate governance principles
and practices that emphasize a quality board of Directors,
effective risk management and internal control systems,
stringent disclosure practices, transparency and accountability
as well as effective communication and engagement with
Shareholders and other stakeholders.
committed to continuously enhancing these standards and

It is, in addition,
practices and including a robust culture of compliance and
ethical governance underlying the business operations and
practices across the Group.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”)
as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed
in this Annual Report, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions under the CG Code during the
Reporting Period. The Company will continue to review
and monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.
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THE BOARD
Corporate Culture and Strategy

The Group instills a culture that respects and promotes
opportunities to exchange ideas and
cross-fertilization of innovative advancements and solutions.
The Board sets the tone and shapes the corporate culture
of the Company, which is underpinned by the core values
of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all levels
of the Group. The Board plays a leading role in defining the
purpose, values and strategic direction of the Group and in
fostering a culture that is forward-looking, change-embracing
and competitiveness-focused. The desired culture is
developed and reflected consistently in the operating
practices of the Group, workplace policies and practices as
well as relations with stakeholders. The Board’s oversight of
culture encompasses a range of measures and tools over
time, including workforce engagement, employee retention
and training, stringent financial reporting, effective and
accessible whistleblowing framework, legal and regulatory
compliance (including compliance with the Code of Conduct
and group policies), as well as staff safety, well-being and
support. Taking into account the corporate culture in a range
of contexts, the Board considers that the culture and the
purpose, value and strategy of the Group are aligned.

creativity,

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the
Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors
business and performance. The Board has delegated the
authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Group to the senior management of
the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs, the Board has established three Board committees,
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of liability arising from legal action against its
Directors, and will conduct an annual review on such insurance
coverage.
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Board Composition

As of December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board comprised seven Directors,
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as set out below:

including four

Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
member of Nomination Committee)

Ms. Zhang Tong (member of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Ke Zugian

Mr. Michael John Clancy

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming (Chairperson of Remuneration Committee and
members of Audit and Nomination Committees)

Dr. Li Minghui (Chairperson of Audit Committee and
member of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Jiang Li (Chairperson of Nomination Committee and
member of Audit Committee)

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

The Board considers that the composition of the Board
provides a strong independent element with a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board has met at all times the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, which relates to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the
Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to be
independent as of the date of this Annual Report.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this Annual Report, none of the
Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with
any other Directors or any chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring
directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held
in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved
to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism which sets out the mechanisms to
ensure a strong independent element on, and independent
views and input are available to, the Board. The mechanisms
cover, among other topics, (i) appointment of independent
non-executive directors to the Board and Board committees,
(ii) independence assessments conducted by the Nomination
Committee and (iii) Board decision-making process. We
believe these mechanisms will enable the Board effectively
exercises independent judgment to better safeguard the
Shareholders’ interests. During the Reporting Period, the
Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism and the results
were satisfactory.
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Board Diversity Policy

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain
the high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on
December 8, 2021, which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to
Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve board diversity
by taking into consideration of various factors and objective
criteria, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity and length of service.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level, including gender diversity, as an essential element
in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage and
enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate employees
from the widest possible pool of available talent.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one member of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

(D) at least 80% of the members of the Board shall have
more than 15 years of experience in the industry he/she
is specialized in; and

(E) at least one member of the Board shall have overseas
work experience.
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As of the date of this Annual Report, the seven Directors
of the Company have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills
and experience, including the areas of accounting, asset
management, consumer goods and computer industries.
They obtained academic degrees in various majors, including
business administration, accounting, computer and marketing.
We have three independent non-executive Directors with
different industry backgrounds, representing more than
one-third of the members of our Board. Furthermore, our
Board has a wide range of age, ranging from 51 years old
to 69 years old. We currently have one female Director and
one female member of senior management, and will continue
to take steps to further promote gender diversity at all levels
of our Company, including but not limited to the Board and
management levels. In addition, the range of length of service
of the Directors is between 3 and 26 years, balancing the
needs for both fresh perspectives and leadership continuity.
The Directors also have a range of ethnicity background and
cross-border work experience. While we recognize that the
diversity at the Board can be further improved, we will continue
to apply the principle of appointments based on merits, with
reference to our Board Diversity Policy.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the
diversity of our Board members and compliance with relevant
codes governing board diversity under the CG Code. Our
Nomination Committee will review and revisit the Board
Diversity Policy and our diversity profile (including gender
balance) at least once annually to ensure its continued
effectiveness and discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to our Board
for consideration and approval. We will also disclose in our
Corporate Governance Report regarding the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis. At present,
the Nomination Committee considers that the diversity of the
Board is sufficient.

EVITAPAN

1IPxXE #&:1

BEAFHRAM AR CHZEEHREIENZ
REERKR  BHEER  EEEE  HEmMFE
BITERRE - RERZEAEXEBRML - BREIRH
B gF SHERETISEE RABA=RA
BETRTEESNBUIFNTES  HESEKE
=02 —NE - tbsh EFEFREEEZ - N
F51mE69m - HFIRBE—BRXUEFR—RK
MERRERENKE - BiSEERIUERE —FRE
ARmfrEEENMERNZ T  BRETRRES
EREEEREH - U EERBHMENFIE26
FrUFEHREARAEEEENT R - BERTA
BETRAMRKE R RBRTIEER - @ERMBH
NERESZ LA ANRE  BERMABEESRES
BEUEBRERRAEAMREENRA -

REZESGAEMREFENENZ TERETD
XERBRTAETREEFEZT(CMMERATR - 12

D

FEEERELBFLET - REFTTETILEER
ZIEBER (BIE MR ) R AR - ARER
HFEEXN  UmAERENEMEET L&A
EEeRBEMABETAREL - RMITEEF
REMNEXESRETREEFTSZITLEERDN
BHEER - REZESRRREZTSSLILERD

RIEZERBRAR —Z_POFFR

@



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
PEERAME

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at
least one female Director, one female member of senior
management and appropriate balance of female employees
of the Group and considers that the Company’s current
gender diversity is satisfactory. The Nomination Committee
will continue to identify suitable female candidate(s) for
appointment to the Board based on merits against objective
criteria. Details on the gender ratio of the Group together
with relevant data can be found in the Company’s 2024
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published
separately.

Training and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Directors would be provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company
also arranges regular seminars to provide the Directors with
updates on the latest development and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements
from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has from time to time
updated and provided the Directors with written training
materials in relation to their roles, functions and duties.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors have been given the
training regarding the directors’ duties and responsibilities,
corporate governance and regulatory updates and relevant
reading materials including compliance manual/legal and
regulatory updates/seminar handouts have been provided to
the Directors for their reference and studying.
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Based on the information provided by the Directors, during the
Reporting Period, the Directors received the following trainings
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and updates:

Attending seminars
and/or conferences
and/or forums
relating to rules
and regulations

Reading
newspapers,
journals and

updates relating
to the economy
and business

or duties of management and
the directors  duties of directors
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Name of Directors B4 BERHwE BIRSHER
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Pan Longquan ERRLE v v
Ms. Zhang Tong E 2 v v
Mr. Ke Zugian FERR A& v v
Mr. Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 5t 4 v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEBTES
Mr. Tian Ming HLE v v
Dr. Li Minghui ZHIEE L v v
Mr. Jiang Li Bk 14 v
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FERITHER

Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer be separate and not be
performed by the same individual.

However, the Company does not have separate chairman
and chief executive officer roles, and the responsibilities of
both chairman and chief executive officer vest in Mr. Pan
Longquan. The Board believes that vesting the responsibilities
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring the consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning of the Group. Besides, with three
independent non-executive Directors out of a total of seven
Directors on the Board, there will be sufficient independent
voice within the Board to protect the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Therefore, the Board considers that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and
this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. The Board will continue
to review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Company at a time
when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of Mr. Pan Longquan, Ms. Zhang Tong, Mr. Ke Zugian
and Mr. Michael John Clancy, each an executive Director, has
entered into an executive director service agreement with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
from December 8, 2021, which may be automatically renewed
for successive periods of three years until termination, and
subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms, the Articles of Association and the applicable Listing
Rules.

Each of Mr. Tian Ming, Dr. Li Minghui and Mr. Jiang Li, each
an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term
of three years commencing from December 8, 2021, which
was renewed on December 8, 2024 for a term of three years,
and subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered
into, or has proposed to enter into, a service contract or letter
of appointment with the Group (other than contracts expiring
or terminable by the employer within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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Pursuant to Article 111(a) of the Articles of Association, subject
to the provisions of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but greater than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.
Subject to the provisions of the Ordinance, the Listing Rules
and the Articles of Association, the Directors to retire in every
year shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last election, and as between persons who became Directors
on the same day, the Directors to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by lot.
Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term,
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 110 of the Articles of Association, without
prejudice to the power of the Company in general meeting
in accordance with any of the provisions of the Articles of
Association to appoint any person to be a Director, the Board
shall have power, exercisable at any time and from time to
time, to appoint any other person as a Director, either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board, provided
that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed
the maximum number (if any) determined pursuant to the
Articles of Association. Any Directors so appointed shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for reelection, but shall not be taken
into account in determining the Directors or the number of
Directors who are to retire by rotation at each AGM.

Accordingly, Ms. Zhang Tong, Mr. Tian Ming and Dr. Li Minghui
shall retire by rotation at the AGM and they being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition, and for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment of Directors and
succession plans for the Directors.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the code provision C.5.1
of the CG Code. Notices of no less than fourteen days are
given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors
with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying Board papers are dispatched to the Directors
or Board Committee members at least three days before the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the
papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings and
that each Director can participate the board proceedings in
a meaningful and effective manner. When Directors or Board
Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they
will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior
to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the
company secretary of the Company with copies circulated to
all Directors for information and records. Minutes of the Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings are recorded in
sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each
Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings
are open for inspection by the Directors.

@
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During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings and two
general meeting were held by the Company. The attendance
of each Director at the Board meetings during the Reporting
Period is set out below:

TEERRE
R A AT ARIAE S G R AR
HAG  REENN  EERLFESGERNN
I

Attended/eligible to attend

BHEELE

Board meetings = General meetings
Name of Directors EEEE EEggE BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Pan Longquan EREREA 4/4 2/2
Ms. Zhang Tong Ry + 4/4 2/2
Mr. Ke Zugian fH R ST 4/4 2/2
Mr. Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 5t 4 4/4 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. Tian Ming FH A 5 4 4/4 2/2
Dr. Li Minghui R+ 4/4 2/2
Mr. Jiang Li EL AVt 4/4 2/2

The CG Code requires that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors. During the
Reporting Period, one meeting was held between the Chairman
and the independent non-executive Directors.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. In response to
specific enquiries made, all of the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code during the Reporting Period. There has been
no non-compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
the Annual Report.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The Directors may seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the
Board. Approval must be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by senior management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board confirmed that corporate governance is a collective
responsibility of the Directors, which corporate governance
functions include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.

o
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The Board reviewed the Company’'s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, compliance with the Model Code and written
employee guidelines, as well as compliance with the CG Code
and disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Dr. Li
Minghui, Mr. Tian Ming and Mr. Jiang Li, being all independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by
Dr. Li Minghui (being the independent non-executive Director
with the appropriate professional qualifications).

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in, among other aspects: (i) overseeing the scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors, (ii) monitoring
the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
accounts, as well as annual and interim reports, (iii) reviewing
the Company’s financial controls and risk management and
internal control systems, (iv) reviewing the Company’s financial
and accounting policies and practices and (v) establishing
a whistleblowing policy and system for the Company's
employees to raise concerns regarding possible improprieties
in financial reporting,
written terms of reference of Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

internal control and other matters. The

During the Reporting Period, two meetings of the Audit
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following
matters:

° reviewed interim and final results of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the fiscal year as well as the audit
report prepared by the auditor relating to accounting
issues and major findings in course of audit; and
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° reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, internal control (including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function), risk management systems,
review the annual cap of existing continued connected
transactions, and processes and the re-appointment
of the auditor; the Board had not deviated from any
recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
auditor.

The attendance of each Audit Committee member at the Audit
Committee meeting during the Reporting Period is set out in
the table below:

. R ISR REE AREF - NEEE
(BREARRES MM P RBEE T @
BR - BTEENES:  BIIRELERE
HESRR) BEREBRES BAREBER
BB SHFE LR RIEF A KRB
B EFgUERMEXZESREE
RE - BHESKARRREE IR KA E(T R -

EERZBENERREHNLFEZZES SR
BN T

Attended/Eligible

to attend
Name of Directors EELE BHE EHE
Dr. Li Minghui ZHAEIE L 2/2
Mr. Tian Ming HEAE A4 2/2
Mr. Jiang Li Bt 2/2

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee also met the
auditor once without the presence of the executive Directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
members, including one executive Director, namely, Mr. Pan
Longquan, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Jiang Li and Mr. Tian Ming. The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. Jiang Li.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
compliance with the CG Code. The primary responsibilities
of our nomination committee are to, among other aspects, (i)
consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment,
removal and re-election of Directors of the Company and
(ii) review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy
adopted by the Company on regular basis. The written terms
of reference of Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

©
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Policy on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the

“Nomination Policy”) on December 8, 2021,

which sets out

the approach to guide the Nomination Committee in relation

to the selection, appointment and re-appointment of the

Directors. The Nomination Committee will review the Director
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a Director in accordance with the following

procedures and process as set out in the Nomination Policy:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(vi)

the Nomination Committee will, giving the consideration
to the current composition and size of the Board,
develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and
experience at the outset to focus the search effort on
suitable candidates, where necessary;

the Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertisements, recommendations from an independent
agency firm and proposals from Shareholders with
due consideration given to the criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy;

the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as conducting interviews, background
checks, presentations and third-party reference checks;

upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

the Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment and the proposed remuneration
package; and

the Board will have the final authority in determining the
selection of nominees and all appointment of Directors
will be confirmed by the filing of the consent to act as
Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar
filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or
accept the appointment as Director, as the case may be).
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_LI_/\’/"\—\
TERERRE
In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, RAZEEEHEREAR  EREZESBLETEHE

the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit BIZEEBREREANED  TEHEEZEEEEGNEZ T
against objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits (L - RMEBMRNEEZAFHRAL  EFgd
of diversity on the Board. During the Reporting Period and up ~ AKiEEE L -

to the date of this Annual Report, there was no change in the

composition of the Board.

—\\
mE}

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination HHFEHRK @ RREEGBE8T © LAET R

Committee was held to discuss and consider the following NZEEATEIE :

matters:

. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the e WA EEGHZEE - SRR AR
Board;

. assessed independence of the independent non-executive e HEB IERITE SN B L
Directors;

. reviewed the Nomination Policy; . BRI B BUR

. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and . R EEFEMEZILLECR « &

. considered the re-appointment of the retiring Directors. e ERENEMREIES -

The attendance of each Nomination Committee member at the T%%X?'Jﬁf‘iﬁiﬁﬂlﬂ REZESEIKNBEBHFERSA

Nomination Committee meeting during the Reporting Period is ZE& &3 115)
set out in the table below:

Attended/

Eligible to attend

Name of Directors EEER BEELE
Mr. Jiang Li LAV oS 11
Mr. Tian Ming ML 1/1
Mr. Pan Longquan ERREAE 1/1
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
members, including one executive Director, namely, Ms.
Zhang Tong, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Tian Ming and Dr. Li Minghui. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Tian Ming.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to, among other aspects, (i) make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy, (ii) review and approve the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives and (iii) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Directors and senior management. The written
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration
Committee was held to discuss and consider the following
matters:

. recommended to the Board the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management in respect of the year ended December

31, 2024,

° reviewed the remuneration of non-executive Directors;
and

° reviewed and recommended to the Board the Company’s

policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors
and senior management.
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The attendance of each Remuneration Committee member at ~ FEREIIAMEMAR - FHNEZ B & F K E L FE 5 N
the Remuneration Committee meeting during the Reporting ZE&@mMIER
Period is set out in the table below:
Attended/

Eligible to attend
Name of Directors EEEB BHE ELHE
Mr. Tian Ming ML 1/1
Ms. Zhang Tong K+ 1/1
Dr. Li Minghui FEEE L 1/1
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EEREREEETH
The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, REFESHA  BRESHFMHEE (BERS -
bonuses, allowances, benefits in kind and pension scheme % * fE4L - 84 - a%?mﬂ&%%ﬁﬂriﬂfﬁ%’()%’97/%
contributions) payable to the Directors during the Reporting ZBEE%E °

Period was approximately US$2.6 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of
the Group. During the Reporting Period, details of the
remuneration of the members of the Board of the Company
(whose biographies are set out on pages 24 to 30 of this
Annual Report) are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements and details of the remuneration by band
of the members of the senior management of the Company
(whose biographies are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this Annual Report) are set out below:

EEHFMABLEAEALBRARINNFTS EF
BANFERAENBREARANEENEEETE
RBEMA - ARBEEEKE (RENBEHIIRN
RERF24E308) HMRBFHBHINNEE
WERMES  MARAGRERBKE (RENEE
FINAFREERSREREREFE | )
HoNREFITERIIMT

Number of
individuals
Band of remuneration (US$) FMER (£5x) AE
Nil to US$500,000 £ £500,000% 7T 6
Over US$500,000 BiB500,000% 7T 0

o
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for each financial
period to ensure that they give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows.

Senior management has provided to the Board such
explanations and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.
The Company has provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates on the Company’s performance, positions
and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 98 to 104 of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for (i) maintaining sound and
effective internal control and risk management systems in
order to safeguard the Company’s assets and its Shareholders’
interests and (ii) reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and risk management systems on an
annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk
management systems in place are adequate. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Our internal audit department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems. The
Company has established comprehensive risk management
and internal control processes through which the Company
monitors, evaluates and manages the risks that the Company
is exposed to regarding its business activities and operations,
which include but are not limited to procurement management,
sales management, inventory management, research and
development management, investment management, credit
risk, related party transaction controls, information disclosure
controls, human resources, IT management and other financial
and operational controls and monitoring procedures. Examples
of the relevant risk management and internal control measures
are as follows:

Financial Reporting Risk Management — The Company has
in place a set of accounting policies in connection with its
financial reporting risk management, such as financial report
management policies, budget management policies, financial
statements preparation policies and financial department and
staff management policies.

Information System Risk Management - The Company has
implemented relevant internal procedures and controls to
ensure that user data is protected and that leakage and loss
of such data is avoided.

Internal Control Risk Management — The legal & compliance
department of the Company reviews and updates the forms
of contracts the Company enters into with its customers and
suppliers and other relevant due diligence materials.

Human Resources Risk Management — The Company has in
place an employee handbook approved by its management
and distributed to all of its employees, which contains internal
rules and guidelines regarding best commercial practices,
work ethics, fraud prevention mechanism, negligence and
corruption. A whistle blowing policy has also been adopted to
detect and identify potential improprieties and bring issues to
the attention of senior management, the Audit Committee and
the Board.
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Investment Risk Management — The investment strategy of
the Company is grounded in the principles of compliance,
prudence, safety and effectiveness and the Company
considers criteria including (i) size, expected returns and
associated risks; (ii) compliance with applicable laws and
regulations; (iii) consistency with our growth strategy; (iv)
appropriateness of enterprise resource allocation; and (v)
optimization of our portfolio when making investment decisions.

ESG Risk Management — The Company undertakes measures
to manage ESG risks and issues covered under relevant
international standards, such as reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions, use of environmentally friendly resources, as well
as production safety and employee health.

The risk management procedure of the Company is based
on the well-defined risk identification standards, risk monitor
responsibilities and risk control measure of each major
classification. The management of the Company actively
monitors the regional economy, trends of power tools and
outdoor power equipment industry, reliance on continuing
connected transactions and changes in applicable laws
and regulations, and assesses income and expenditure
and absorptive capacity of business expansions. The risk
management procedure of the Company clearly specifies
the management duties, authorization and approval of
each party in respect of the major risk identification and
management, and develops clear written policy for significant
risk management process and circulate it to all members
of management and staffs. The Company’s internal control
procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance for
achieving objectives, including efficient and stable operations,
reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The Company’s management will review
the risk assessment report on a quarterly basis and reports to
the Board on a semi-annual basis.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management system of the Group and is of the view that such
system is effective and adequate.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted
various measures to ensure the effective implementation of
its internal control and risk management system, including
(i) establishing the Audit Committee to review and supervise
its financial reporting process and internal control system;
(ii) adopting various policies to ensure compliance with
the Listing Rules, including but not limited to aspects
related to risk management, connected transactions and
information disclosure; (iii) organizing training sessions
for its Directors and senior management in respect of the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and duties of
directors of companies listed in Hong Kong; (iv) conducting
regular internal training for its employees and management
on applicable laws and regulations to ensure awareness
and compliance, which cover various aspects of employee
behavior during the ordinary business operations.

The Company has adopted other internal rules and policies
on December 8, 2021, which include procedures for handling
inside information in accordance with the SFO and the
Listing Rules to ensure the confidentiality of handling inside
information and the publication of respective disclosure to
the public as soon as practicable. The Company will make
timely disclosure of information that is unlikely to maintain
confidentiality, so as to ensure effective protection of the rights
and interests of investors and stakeholders.

WHISTLEBLOWING PROCEDURES AND
ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICIES

The Company has in place a whistleblowing policy for
employees of the Company and those who deal with the
Company to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
with the legal & compliance department and the Company’s
management and the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

o0/
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The Company has also in place an anti-corruption policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open
and available for employees of the Company to report any
suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also make
anonymous reports to the legal & compliance department,
which is responsible for investigating the reported incidents
and taking appropriate measures. The Company continues to
carry out anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate
a culture of integrity, and actively organizes anti-corruption
training and inspections to ensure the effectiveness of
anti-corruption and anti-bribery. For example, during the
Reporting Period, the Company held anti-corruption trainings
and briefings for its employees. There was no material
non-compliance in relation to bribery and corruption during the
Reporting Period.

DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted other internal rules and policies on
December 8, 2021, which includes procedures for disclosure
policy and provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees
in handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on December
8, 2021, which outlines the principles and guidelines that
the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders.

According to the Dividend Policy, subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations, the Board after taking into account several factors,
has absolute discretion on whether to declare and distribute
dividends.

The Board will take into consideration, if it decides to pay
dividends, the Company’s operational results, cash flows,
financial condition, statutory and regulatory restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Company, the capital
requirements, future business plans and prospects and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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The Company has adopted a general annual dividend policy of
declaring and paying dividends on an annual basis of no less
than 20% of the Company’s total net profit attributable to the
Company for any particular year. The declaration of dividends
is subject to the discretion of the Directors, and, if necessary,
the approval of the Shareholders. A decision to declare or
to pay any dividends and the amount of any dividends will
depend on various factors, including but not limited to the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial
conditions, operating and capital expenditure requirements,
distributable profits as determined under applicable laws,
the Articles of Association, market conditions, the Company’s
strategic plans and prospects for business development,
contractual limits and obligations, payment of dividends to
the Company by its operating subsidiaries, taxation, and
any other factors determined by the Board from time to time
to be relevant to the declaration of dividend payments. The
Company’s future declarations of dividends may or may not
reflect its historical declarations of dividends. In addition, the
Directors may reassess the Company’s Dividend Policy in the
future.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor to the Company during the Reporting Period
was approximately as follows:

ARABERM—MRFEREERE  BEASEFNH
RRBEIEFNBEBENTDR20%EET IR RIK
NFEERS - BREERAEERNBEEEN (BFR)
PRRSIRHLAE o B SOR N 0] BB HDRTE R AR
BREEESIARSEEER  BHEETRRARF
MELEE R RERMBARN - ELERERH
XFER  RBEEREREENAHIENE - 5
ERMA - WHRR - AR A ARG B N R
EAIR  ARRGIREMLE ELMBERRMARA
XKRE  RBEREEFETHETHT KK EE
BEEREMERZ - AR ARORESRATEE
HATRE T ERREBAERBEIR - 1S - EERIK
A B EAR RN IREHE -

% BB 5 B

RI|EHA - RBE R AR BREHE NIRRT
RIS FBBLAE R T

Amount

&5

(US$’000)

Type of Services BRAS Rl (F%mx)
Audit services EETRTE 881
Non-audit services related to tax consultation BRI SE AR FER AT RIS 14
Total et 895

©
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

Directors have access to the services of the joint company
secretaries to ensure that the Board procedures are followed.
Mr. Hu Yian, one of the joint company secretaries, is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters and ensuring that Board policy and procedures and
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong
laws, the Company also engaged Ms. Lam Wing Chi, a senior
manager of company secretarial services of Tricor Services
Limited, as another joint company secretary to assist Mr. Hu in
discharging his duties as company secretary of the Company
with effect from October 28, 2024. Ms. Mok Ming Wai resigned
as the joint company secretary of the Company, effective from
October 28, 2024. Ms. Lam’s primary corporate contact person
at the Company was Mr. Hu.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Hu and Ms. Lam have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
the Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and understanding of the Company’s business, performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing
a two-way relationship and communication between the
Company and the Shareholders to ensure that Shareholders’
views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The
Company has several channels to communicate and engage
with the Shareholder as described below:

o The AGM provides an opportunity for constructive
communication between the Company and the
Shareholders. The Chairman and the chairpersons
of the Board Committees of the Company or their
delegates will attend the AGMs to answer Shareholders’
questions. The Auditor will also attend the AGMs to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor's report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

° The Company maintains a website of the Company
at https://global.chervongroup.com, where up-to-date
information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

o Latest information of the Group including annual and
interim reports, announcements and other corporate
communications which will be sent to the Shareholders
and/or published are updated on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on a timely basis.

o Investor/analysts briefings and one-on-one meetings,
media interviews and marketing activities for investors,
among other channels, will be available where
necessary in order to facilitate communication between
the Company, Shareholders and the investment
community. The Directors and Company employees
who have contacts or dialogues with investors, analysts,
media or other interested outside parties are required
to comply with the relevant disclosure obligations
and requirements under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws.
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. Shareholders may submit requisitions to move a
resolution at the AGM, convene a general meeting,
propose a person for election as a director at a general
meeting or enquiries or concerns with the Board, among
other rights, in accordance with the applicable laws and
procedures under the section headed “Shareholders’
Rights” below.

° The Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company
serves the Shareholders in respect of share registration,
dividend payment and related matters.

The Company regularly reviews its shareholders’ communication
to ensure that it has been implemented in a proper and
effective manner. Having considered the various channels of
communications and engagement with the Shareholders, the
Company considers its shareholders’ communications policy to
be effective during the Reporting Period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution on each substantially separate issue will be
proposed for voting at a general meeting, including the
election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.

According to Article 62 of the Articles of Association and the
Companies Ordinance, the Shareholders may: (i) move a
requisition to move a resolution at the AGM; (ii) requisition to
convene an extraordinary general meeting; and (iii) propose a
person for election as a Director at a general meeting.
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Requisition to Move a Resolution at an AGM

In accordance with section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, a
requisition to move a resolution at the AGM may be submitted
by any number of Shareholders representing not less than
2.50% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having the
right to vote on that resolution at the AGM, or not less than 50
Shareholders having the right to vote on that resolution at the
AGM. The requisition must identify the resolution and must be
authenticated by the person(s) making it. The requisition must
be deposited at the Registered Office (as defined below), for
the attention of the joint company secretaries, not later than 6
weeks before the AGM to which the request relates, or if later,
when the Notice of AGM is dispatched.

Requisition to Convene General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the total voting rights
of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings
of the Company can deposit a requisition to call a general
meeting pursuant to sections 566 to 568 of the Companies
Ordinance. The requisition must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and must be
authenticated by the person(s) making it. The requisition must
be deposited at our Registered Office for the attention of the
joint company secretaries.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director at a
General Meeting

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person for election as
a Director at a general meeting, he/she must give a written
notice to that effect to the joint company secretaries. The
written notice must include the personal information of the
person proposed for election as a Director as required by
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and be signed by such
Shareholder and the person proposed for election as a
Director indicating his or her willingness to be appointed or
re-appointed and consent of publication of his or her personal
information. Such notice shall be given within the period (or
a longer period as may be determined by the Directors from
time to time) commencing no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of such meeting and ending no later
than seven days prior to the date appointed for such meeting.
Such details and procedures are available on the Company’s
website. For requesting the Company to circulate to
Shareholders a statement with respect to a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution or any other business to be dealt with
at a general meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the
requirements and procedures as set out in section 580 of the
Companies Ordinance.
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Procedure in Relation to Raising Enquiry and Concerns
with the Board

Shareholders of the Company wishing to make any enquiry to
the Board may do so in writing to the Company since verbal or
anonymous enquiries would not generally be dealt with by the
Company.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board may send their enquiries to the
registered office of the Company (the “Registered Office”)
at Unit 04, 22/F, Saxon Tower, 7 Cheung Shun Street, Lai
Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong by mail, telephone (+86 25
84994002) or e-mail chervon-ir@cn.chervongroup.com.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the address above and
provide their full names, contact details and identification in
order to give effect to such requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the amended and restated Articles
of Association (the “Articles of Association”) on December
8, 2021, which has been effective from December 16, 2021.
During the Reporting Period, the Articles of Association did not
have any change.

A special resolution will be proposed at the AGM to amend
the Articles of Association to (i) tie in with the latest legal and
regulatory requirements in relation to, amongst others, treasury
shares, expanded paperless listing regime and electronic
dissemination of corporate communications, following the
relevant amendments to the Listing Rules and the forthcoming
amendments to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong); and (ii) make consequential and other
housekeeping amendments to the Articles of Association.

The proposed amendments to the Articles of Association shall
be subject to the passing of the special resolution by the
Shareholders at the AGM. Details of the proposed amendments
are set out in the circular to our Shareholders dated April 25,
2025.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AR 2GR

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Chervon Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Chervon Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 105 to 252, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2024, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at December 31, 2024 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

judgement,

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
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consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Revenue recognition

WATER

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 140 to 144.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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The Group’s revenue principally comprises sales of
power tools, outdoor power equipment and related
products.
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Contracts for different products with different types of
customers have a variety of different terms. Such terms
may affect the timing of the recognition of sales to these
customers. Management evaluates the terms of each
contract in order to determine the appropriate timing of
revenue recognition.

EﬁiT\ﬁ*ﬁ’*”%:)f'?ﬁT\ﬁéuuuTiE’J HWHERS R - BRAK
ﬁé?ﬁ%ﬁ?%%ﬁﬁ‘ié’]ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂ c ERENAENA
%’UE’MI%?X EWARERH A B

Revenue from sales of products is recognized when
the control over the goods is transferred to customers,
which is generally at the point in time when the goods
leave the Group’'s warehouses, when the goods are
delivered at the customers’ premises or when the goods
are loaded on board of shipping, in accordance with the
terms of sales contracts with customers.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
revenue included the following:
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. obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls in relation
to revenue recognition;
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o inspecting customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify performance obligations and
terms and conditions relating to the transfer of
control of the goods and assessing the Group’s
timing of revenue recognition with reference
to the requirements of prevailing accounting

standards;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AR 2GR

Revenue recognition

LON

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 140 to 144.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and therefore there is an
inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of revenue
recognition by management to meet specific targets or
expectations.
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comparing revenue transactions recorded
during the current year, on a sample basis, with
invoices, sales contracts, customer acceptance
notes, customs declaration forms, sales
statements, and other underlying documents,
where appropriate, to assess whether the related
revenue was recognized in accordance with the
Group’s revenue recognition accounting policies;
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comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and after
the financial year end date with underlying
documentation, which included goods delivery
notes, customs declaration forms, goods
acceptance notes, and sales statements, where
appropriate, to assess whether the revenue had
been recognized in accordance with the contract
terms and in the correct financial year; and

RMBEE - BRPRFELEBAEMARNEER
SWAEEHER (BREERINE  BEARHRE
EmBWE RIHERER (WER)) EITHLE - UFHE
BRAKRAZEEREHEES QM RR RN ERA R
BERENER &

confirming, on a sample basis, the amount of
sales transactions for the year ended December
31, 2024 directly with customers and inspecting
underlying documentation to reconcile the
difference between the transaction amounts
confirmed by customers and the Group’s
accounting records.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

B 2 BE RS

RE MR R B L AT R R B R 5 B S
&¥

EEHHMENEE - HBENSRFHRMEANM
BEH  ETEEEEMBERR LB EN
ZEEDERE

BREBGAMBRRNERLBRERLMES
F AP IR AL A B B R AT RO RE M

REMBEEMBRERNERZME - HPINEER
BIEHEMER  KMEEEMENES RBEETE
BRABMEEZBRPEINERFEEAT
5 AT HFEEASERBRAL -

HWERMERD TR TER/EMERHBBEKX
SRR - RPIAREZFE - BB UL EATR
HEIE -

EERGREMBRRARENER

ESFARARERESITMASEMOETEM B R
SRARBAARGIGREEMARNGEE P
BE - UHERBRESAMBERROBRIFE
BN EFF R M E R ERFERBGAA L TR
HEHEE -

RS AMBHRRE EFRATE EXER
BREMEEN  YHEERBATREEKELLES
MMEE UREAKECERSHER  KIEE
EAEHR ESEEBRIFLLLE  HHEEME
PREVERTER

EENERZESNHH TRITHEEE &8 &
SEWPBEREBIE o

RIEHERRAR AR —T —MEER

o
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

considered material if,

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

as fraud may involve collusion,
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group'’s internal control.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Ting Yuen.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 26, 2025

©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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For the year ended December 31, 2024  (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
A FE2024F 1231 HIFFZ (KT [T /37)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
Note USD’ 000 USD’000
k=3 =7 FET
Revenue ['ON 4 1,773,773 1,374,714
Cost of sales SHE R A (1,158,092) (987,881)
Gross profit EF 615,681 386,833
Other revenue HaA 5(a) 4,893 5,787
Other net loss HfbEig#am 5(b) (14,798) (8,333)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (262,251) (244,052)
Administrative and other operating expenses  {TH M E A 4E &5 (104,758) (96,787)
Research and development costs A A (83,410) (70,673)
Profit/(loss) from operations KERE O (BR) 155,357 (27,225)
Net finance costs BB KA F R 6(a) (5,250) (3,290)
Share of loss of an associate DIEE N RBE 17 (17,344) (18,341)
Profit/(loss) before taxation MRBATRIE,(BE) 6 132,763 (48,856)
Income tax expense FIsfim > 7 (20,055) 11,706
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE(FHE) 112,708 (37,150)
Attributable to: BT AL FES :
Equity shareholders of the Company PN L i 112,474 (37,137)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR 234 (13)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE(FHE) 112,708 (37,150)
Earnings/(losses) per share SREF (&8) 11
Basic (USD) BEAR(Ex) 0.22 (0.07)
Diluted (USD) B8 (1) 0.22 (0.07)

The notes on pages 113 to 252 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reRmMEMEERER

For the year ended December 31, 2024  (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))

B2 2024F 1231 HIFFEE  (UZE [ )FT)

Year ended December 31,

BE12A31HLEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20244
Note USD’000 USD'000
Wizt ES T=rn

Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE/(BR) 112,708 (37,150)
Other comprehensive income for the year FrEMEZEKS 10

(after tax adjustments) (BiEARE)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or l0ss: BT EES P EEBmEE -
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan obligations RERNFEEEETHE 15 21
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to R RGBT A E By

orofit or oss: EA -
Exchange difference on translation of financial DA g (kX ) RENE (15,245) (10,861)

statements of subsidiaries with functional NEHBREANER =5

currencies other than US dollar (“USD”)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREM2EKRES (15,230) (10,840)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ER2EKE (FE) 48 97,478 (47,990)
Attributable to: LA AL FESG
Equity shareholders of the Company AREERRE 97,244 (47,977)
Non-controlling interests 2 234 (13)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ER2EKRE (FR) 4E 97,478 (47,990)

The notes on pages 113 to 252 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR

At December 31, 2024 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD”))

R2024F 128318 (KZEx[ZEmT/3T)

As at December 31,

MW12A831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note USD’ 000 USD'000
HiiF EPH FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Properties, plants and equipment mE - BERSE 12 282,495 276,555
Right-of-use assets SREEE 13 57,511 57,982
Intangible assets BV EE 14 2,259 882
Goodwill [EES 15 2,963 =
Interest in an associate iNiHAANGI o 17 67,348 86,921
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JAFIE « RES K REKFIAE 22 7,824 4,637
Financial assets at fair value through AAREETEAEZEF AE MBS 18 6,586 6,393
profit or loss (“FVPL") (AR EEFEAEZE T AL
BERNEREE

Deferred tax assets EXEFHIBEE 28(b) 51,781 47,804
478,767 481,174

Current assets REEE
Derivative financial instruments fTEEMIT A 19 6,411 2,553
Inventories FE 20 608,304 530,951
Right to returned goods asset EEEWMEERER 16,516 26,248
Trade and bills receivables 2o RKFIEREKER 21 489,473 359,011
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JERFIE « RES K E b el A 22 42,122 70,895
Taxation recoverable B EE A 28(a) 1,757 10,972
Pledged deposits EHER 23(b) 20,189 18,244
Cash and cash equivalents RekR2EEY 23(a) 328,758 296,337
1,513,530 1,315,211

Current liabilities RBAE
Bank loans BITERK 24 192,619 198,185
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIT A 19 6,392 2,335
Lease liabilities HEARE 25 5,157 2,690
Trade and bills payables B ZENRIERENER 26 317,942 224,954
Other payables and accruals HifENRIERETER 27 196,600 142 507
Taxation payable eI 28(a) 8,265 7,033
Provisions BiE 29 32,313 49,617
Refund liabilities from right of return REENORFEE 30 23,680 36,104
782,968 663,425
Net current assets REBEEFE 730,562 651,786
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRRBES 1,209,329 1,132,960

The notes on pages 113 to 252 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR e ISR

At December 31, 2024 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
R2024F 12318  (KZEx[#T/37)

As at December 31,

M12A318

2024 2023

20245 20234

Note USD’ 000 USD’000

it FEx FEx

Non-current liabilities FkREBEE

Bank loans IRITER 24 102,935 125,455
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 8,767 9,691
Provisions B 29 38,916 20,060
Deferred income PEIE Uz 31 4,503 3,558
Defined benefit plan obligations AERHFEIEE 32 354 434
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 28(b) 17,161 13,141
172,636 172,339

NET ASSETS EEFE 1,036,693 960,621

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#EE
Share capital &A% 33 601,859 601,859
Reserves 5] 33 434,704 358,866
Total equity attributable to equity AATERERREGNERERE 1,036,563 960,725
shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests FEER RS 130 (104)
TOTAL EQUITY DB 1,036,693 960,621

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on March 26, 2025.

Pan Longquan

EBER

Zhang Tong
6337

The notes on pages 113 to 252 form part of these financial
statements.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024  (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
MAEETRER

For the year ended December 31, 2024  (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
A FE2024F 1231 HIFFZ (KT [T /37)

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023
Note USD’ 000 USD’'000
B EH TEr
Operating activities TR
Cash generated from/(used in) operations mEms /(R Be 23(c) 177,671 (161,357)
Tax paid BERHIE 28(a) (14,507) (16,331)
Tax refund 2IRHIE 28(a) 4,520 3,987
Net cash generated from/(used in) REERFTE(FFR) 167,684 (173,701)
operating activities ReFE
Investing activities REEH
Payment for the acquisition of properties, plants WENE  BER (73,731) (88,342)
and equipment REHORT
Proceeds from disposal of properties, plants HENE - BEKX 2,896 3,690
and equipment REMETIE
Payment for disposal of leases HERENRR - (1,226)
Proceeds from disposal of convertible bonds & TR RS TSR - 19,317
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEURAEEFZR 116,247 244,619
measured at FVPL other than convertible bonds HE T A BB
SREEMGRIE
(AR BRI M)
Payment for acquisition of financial assets WENADAEBEFNER (115,925) (243,862)
measured at FVPL other than convertible bonds HEHT AT HEEN
ERMEENK
(AR BRI M)
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired WEEINB QB IREWE 37 (6,907) =
Be)
Interest received B IH S 6(a) 7,005 7,844
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFARSFE (70,415) (57,960)

The notes on pages 113 to 252 form part of these financial

statements.
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F113E 252 B MM xR L ST B REA—E 5 -

D



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

= A\ AN
/Z\\/\ (= HEEf—z/llb

For the year ended December 31, 2024  (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))

B2 2024F 1231 HIFFEE  (UZE [ )FT)

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note USD’ 000 USD’000
HisF Er FET
Financing activities MEEH
Capital element of lease rental paid ENHEEHSEARNID 23(d) (4,071) (6,346)
Interest element of lease rental paid BENHEERSFNEHD 23(d) (515) (590)
Proceeds from new bank loans MIRTTERERIE 23(d) 433,682 346,345
Repayment of bank loans BEBITER 23(d) (457,772) (348,834)
Interest paid [=ANENESE 23(d) (10,571) (8,816)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits for RITBMEERER (913) 16,829
banking facilities (), m >
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares BT ARG 5B 33(c) - 100,168
Share issuance costs paid BRIRMOBEITRA 33(c) - (963)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders BERNARAAERERERE 33(b) (18,091) (36,691)
of the Company
Payment for purchase of shares for share SR (D SEEDET &l 33(c) (2,557) =
award scheme BERM R
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing MEEE (FTA),/ (60,808) 61,102
activities FBRLEE
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash BeRBELZEY 36,461 (170,559)
equivalents ®,/ (RP) FHE
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FURERBELEEN 23(a) 296,337 466,713
of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEEXRRBNZE (4,040) 183
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRESRBESEEY 23(a) 328,758 296,337

of the year

The notes on pages 113 to 252 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chervon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Hong Kong on February 19, 1999 as
a limited liability company with its registered office at
Unit 04, 22/F, Saxon Tower, 7 Cheung Shun Street, Lai
Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on December 30, 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”)
are principally engaged in researching, developing,
manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-sale services
for power tools, outdoor power equipment and related
products. The information of the principal subsidiaries
is set out in Note 16.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA), and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.

(a)

AN

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

—RER

RIEZEBRERAT ([ARF]) BR19994F2
A19BRBBEMBIHERAR » sk
ERNRBEBNEZRARIEE7RAES
221804 E o NARIRMH 2021412 A30
AREBERBERSMAERA A ER M -

ARRBREBEBRAT - ARAREMER
A ([ ALE]) TEXEEHTA - PO
BOREREEERNE - R BE -
A HEMRERRE - TEMBRRNE
R EE16 -

EXREFTHEE
BREH

S WA T AR B A R A B B A
8] ([EBHBMEER ) BE - X
BARCEEAEHAAS (SERHAA
& 1) B G A 0 (BRI B IS s
A - EEEHER ([ BERHER]) RRE
MR BB D ABBIHTE - ZEM BRI
BFEEWARPHERATESLTRA
R R RE X - AEERANHEAS K
ERBRTX -

BEGFAEEEMEREMKARAE
BHER S MERERANTEM B RS
B2 ETER - EERAREEARER
RN HEN S BRREIERNZF
I mR AR - BREAEREIINHIEE2(C)

FIETEIRER AR — T UFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

I = /\ﬁﬁ%i&% METEE

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

2

(b)

@

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2024 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest
in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting
policies as set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 3.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and amended
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Classification of liabilities
as current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)
and amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current liabilities with
covenants (“2022 amendments”)

o Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases - Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments. Disclosures
— Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior periods have been prepared
or presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

(c)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

I = /\ﬁﬁ%i&% METEE

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

2

(d)

e

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences
until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related non-controlling interests (“NCI”) and
other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss
is recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary is measured at fair value when
control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(l)(ii)), unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group classified as held for sale).

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(e)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).
They are initially recognized at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequently,
financial statements include the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI”")
of those investees, until the date on which significant
influence ceases.

the consolidated

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate after applying the ECL model to such
other long-term interests where applicable.

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent there is
no evidence of impairment.

(e)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

I = /\ﬁﬁ%i&% METEE

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

2

()

(9)

()

e

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses
and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 2(1)(ii)).

Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and an associates, are
set out below.

Investments in securities are recognized/derecognized
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognized directly in profit or
loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see Note 34(e).
These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 2(w)(ii)), foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit
or loss.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(9)
(i)

(1)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other investments in securities (continued)
Non-equity investments (continued)

- fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognized in profit or loss
and computed in the same manner as if the
financial asset was measured at amortised
cost. The difference between the fair value and
the amortised cost is recognized in OCI. When
the investment is derecognized, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognized in
profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes
an irrevocable election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognized in OCI. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. If such election is
made for a particular investment, at the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings and not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognized in profit
or loss as other income (see Note 2(w)(ii)).

(9)

(i)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)
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(h)

U]

®

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency and interest rate risk
exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from
the host contract and accounted for separately if the
host contract is not a financial asset and certain criteria
are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with
changes therein recognized in profit or loss, except
where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedges of net investment in a foreign
operation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
(which is, in the case of assets acquired in a business
combination, the acquisition date fair value). ltems of
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which
includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses
(see Note 2(1)(ii)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are

accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

(h)

U]

EXRSRTEEE (&)

TEEMIA
AEBRETESRITAUNEEHINE RF
KER - HESWIIFECREEANAET

B BRARSETAREANS B E
BAE -

MTETRMPRAABEMNE - 1R %ZF
TETARAREENE  HEPRBEE
B EEZETLESRIANAERERS
MEH M RAER I ERFRE H AR
e

ME - BERRE

M- RERBREERAR (REBKEHRE
ABEME - BB REAREE) JIE -
ME  BERZEBEBEREKAN (BEERL
BREA) RERFTITE R ZEHREEIES
Bk (B2 B EE2(1)(ii)) °

% BERRERETHNERSD>BEN
R EMREH - AIFHEELER (X824
BCERS)

HEWE - BFERREEBEOBAHEBER

BafER o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U]

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment,
residual values, if any, using the straight line method
over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognized in profit or loss.

less their estimated

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

()

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)
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Estimated useful life

fhEt A A FH

Leasehold land (see Note 2(k))

Plant and buildings W E KkigEF
Machinery and equipment W28 N X
Software and office equipment LI N
Motor vehicles E

HE 30 (2R E2(k)

over the period of leases

THEA

20 years or remaining lease terms
204F = I 84 7E 5R

5-10 years

5ZE104F

3 -5 years

3E5F

5 - 10 years

5Z104F

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Construction in progress represents properties under
construction and machinery and equipment pending
installation and is stated at cost (which is, in the case
of assets acquired in a business combination, the
acquisition date fair value) less impairment losses (see
Note 2(l)(ii)). Cost comprises the purchase costs of
the asset and the related construction and installation
costs.

Construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment when the asset is substantially
ready for its intended use and depreciation will be
provided at the appropriate rates in accordance with
the depreciation polices specified above.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognized in
profit or loss as incurred. Development expenditure is
capitalized only if the expenditure can be measured
reliably, the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible, future economic benefits are
probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient
resources to complete development and to use or
sell the resulting asset. Otherwise, it is recognized in
profit or loss as incurred. Capitalized development
expenditure is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost
(the acquisition date fair value) less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses
(see Note 2(1)(ii)).

Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of
intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally recognized in profit
or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

()]

(k)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

The patents, trademark and customer relationship of
the Group is arising from the business combination
and acquisition from a third party. The useful lives of
patents and trademark are estimated based on the
remaining period of economic benefits to be derived
from the respective products to be produced relying on
the acquired patents and product trademark. The useful
life of customer relationship is estimated based on the
historical length of business relationship and turnover
rate of customers of the acquiree.

The Group estimates the period of economic benefits
to be derived from the respective products based on
the expected time period required from its discovery
to commercialization and other factors, including the
patent protection period, the historical life of similar
products, the characteristics of such technologies,
their update frequency and market requirement and
Based on such assessment, the Group considers that
the expected economic useful lives of the patents and
trademark, the customer relationship held by the Group
are 10 years.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified
asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less and leases of low-value items. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
items, the Group decides whether to capitalize the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the
associated lease payments are recognized in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is
initially recognized at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and
interest expense is recognized using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease
is capitalized is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(i) and

2(1)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(k)
(1)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group presents
“lease liabilities”
statement of financial position. The current portion of
long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period.

‘right-of-use assets” and presents
separately in the consolidated
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee.
Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognized in accordance with Note

2(w)(ii).

Credit losses and impairment of assets
Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL”"s) on financial assets measured at
amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following rates if the effect is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U]

(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured at 12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk (i.e.
the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has
increased significantly since initial recognition and
when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment, that includes forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if

any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U]

(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial instrument to have low
credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the
globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in non-equity
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for
which the loss allowance is recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling) does
not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in
the statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
otherwise determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously

written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U]

(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment.
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

If any

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent
of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating
units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising from a business
combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the financial year.
At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
Notes 2(I)(i) and (ii)).

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
In the case of work in progress, costs include direct
labour and appropriate share of overheads based on
normal operating capacity.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Net realizable value represents the estimated selling

price less any estimated costs of completion and costs
to be incurred in selling the property.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

U]

(iii)

(m)

EXRSRTEEE (&)

FEBRREERE (H)

FEIR S ER KR e

EBMAERSIMERARES ETAEAR
E o AEEEETEES B4 F
HYBHRE R EREBAVBFEENS
B AR R EREI FS TR - MR EIHAR - A% E
JE AR A B B [ SR P R AR RO AR RURU BRI A,
TR R R R (B E2(1)30) K& (i) °

FE

FEEKAEAERFETOREETE -

AR INAE PR AERTE - BEAARE
FXAS ~ B0 T RGAS R i 15 BB TR A 3 B e oE
BEMEENEMER - RESRBMN S © K
AEFEEES TAREE T H B REZERA
(RBEREZENFE)

A2EFEREATEBBRET MG EER
TEREEREERFRMGRAE -

ARRFERGAAESERENTKEERS
BRTRCAR R E VSR E L R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(n)

(0)

(P)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue (see Note 2(w)). A contract liability
is also recognized if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognized (see Note
2(0)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see Note

2(w)(i).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortized cost (see Note 2(1)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and other short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see Note 2(l)

(i)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently,
these borrowings are stated at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is
recognized in accordance with Note 2(z).

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognized
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is
provided.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognizes costs
for a restructuring.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(s)
(ii)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit retirement plans obligations

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit
retirement plans is calculated separately for each
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted
to determine the present value. The calculation is
performed by a qualified actuary using the projected
unit credit method. When the calculation results in a
benefit to the Group, the recognized asset is limited to
the present value of economic benefits available in the
form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions
in future contributions to the plan.

Service cost and net interest expense (income) on
the net defined benefit liability (asset) are recognized
in profit or loss and allocated by function as part of
“cost of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses”
r “administrative expenses”. Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation resulting from employee
service in the current period. Net interest expense
(income) for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the reporting period to
the net defined benefit liability (asset). The discount
rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on
high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates
approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit retirement plans obligations (continued)

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a
plan is curtailed, current service cost for the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by
employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is
recognized as an expense in profit or loss at the earlier
of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and
when related restructuring costs or termination benefits
are recognized.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement
plans are recognized in other comprehensive income
and reflected immediately in retained earnings.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding amounts included
in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset))
and any change in the effect of the asset ceiling
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset))

Share-based payments

The fair value of share-based payment awards granted
to employees is recognized as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date by reference to the
market price or the valuer's valuation of the underlying
shares. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the shares, the total estimated fair value of the shares is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(u)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognized directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognized for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

= those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognized deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognize a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed
when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(v)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognized when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based
on the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under
that contract and an allocation of other costs directly
related to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is
established, the Group recognizes any impairment loss
on the assets associated with that contract (see Note 2

(D(iD)).

A restructuring provision is recognised only when the
general recognition criteria for provision are met. The
obligation for a restructuring is often constructive. A
constructive restructuring obligation arises only when
there is a detailed formal plan identifying the main
features of the restructuring; and a valid expectation
in those affected that the entity will carry out the
restructuring by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected.

Restructuring provision includes only the direct
expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not those
associated with the entity’s ongoing activities. Any
expected gains on the sale of assets are not considered
in measuring a restructuring provision.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognized for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognized for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services
or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases
in the ordinary course of the Group's business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognizes revenue on a gross basis. In
determining whether the Group acts as a principal or as
an agent, it considers whether it obtains control of the
products before they are transferred to the customers.
Control refers to the Group's ability to direct the use of
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
from the products.

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(w)
(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Sale of goods

Sales of the Group’s products are recognized as
follows:

Revenue is recognized when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Payment
terms and conditions vary by customers and are based
on the billing schedule established in the contracts
or purchase orders with customers, but the Group
generally provides credit terms to customers within six
months upon customer acceptance. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for
any effects of a significant financing component as the
period of financing is 12 months or less.

The Group offers warranties for its products for up to
three years from the date of sale. A related provision is
recognized in accordance with the Note 2(v).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Sale of goods (continued)

The Group typically offers customers of products
that are not made-to-order rights of return for a
period of 90 days upon customer acceptance. It also
offers retrospective volume rebates to certain major
customers of products when their purchases reach an
agreed threshold. Such rights of return and volume
rebates give rise to variable consideration. The Group
uses an expected value approach to estimate variable
consideration based on the Group’s current and
future performance expectations and all information
that is reasonably available. This estimated amount
is included in the transaction price to the extent it is
highly probable that a significant reversal of cumulative
revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is resolved.
At the time of sale of products, the Group recognizes
revenue after taking into account adjustment to
transaction price arising from returns and rebates as
mentioned above. A refund liability is recognized for the
expected returns and rebates, and is included in refund
liabilities from right of return (see Note 30). A right to
recover returned goods and corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales are also recognized for the right to
recover products from customers. This right to recover
returned goods is measured at the former carrying
amount of the inventory less any expected costs to
recover goods (including potential decreases in the
value of the returned goods).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(w)
(ii)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is
recognized in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives granted are recognized as an integral
part of the total rental income, over the term of
the lease.

Interest income

Interest income is recognized using the effective
interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset (when
the asset is not credit-impaired). However,
for financial assets that have become credit-
impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income
reverts to the gross basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognized as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are recognized as deferred income
and subsequently recognized in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the useful life of the
asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other income
(continued)

(d) Dividends

Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss
on the date on which the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all
of the consideration received (or receivable) from the
customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities
(and the corresponding change in the transaction price)
at the end of each reporting period.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognized in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognized in OCI:

- an investment in equity securities designated as
at FVOCI;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(y)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

- a financial liability designated as a hedge of
the net investment in a foreign operation to the
extent that the hedge is effective; and

- qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that
the hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the
extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
On disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation that have
been attributed to the NCI shall be derecognized,
but shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. If the
Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary
but retains control, then the relevant proportion of
the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When
the Group disposes of only part of an associate or
joint venture while retaining significant influence or
joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Asset acquisition

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
assessed to determine if they are business or asset
acquisitions. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,
the Group chooses to apply a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is an asset rather than business acquisition, when
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed do not constitute a business, the overall
acquisition cost is allocated to the individual identifiable
assets and liabilities based on their relative fair values
at the date of acquisition. An exception is when the sum
of the individual fair values of the identifiable assets
and liabilities differs from the overall acquisition cost.
In such case, any identifiable assets and liabilities that
are initially measured at an amount other than cost in
accordance with the Group's policies are measured
accordingly, and the residual acquisition cost is
allocated to the remaining identifiable assets and
liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date
of acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(bb) Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cc)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 18, 19 and 34(e) contains information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair value
of financial assets. Other key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Net realizable value of inventories

Net realizable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
These estimates are based on the current market
conditions and the historical experience of
selling products with similar nature. Any change
in the assumptions would increase or decrease
the amount of inventories write-down or the
related reversals of write-down made in prior
years and affect the Group’s net assets value.
The Group reassesses these estimates annually.

(cc)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A

W N

B HS ¥R Mot

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

3

©

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the amount of loss
allowance for ECLs on trade and other
receivables that are measured at amortized
cost based on the credit risk of the respective
financial instruments. The loss allowance amount
is measured as the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future credit
loss of the respective financial instrument. The
assessment of the credit risk of the respective
financial instrument involves high degree of
estimation and uncertainty. When the actual
future cash flows are less than expected or more
than expected, a material impairment loss or a
material reversal of impairment loss may arise,
accordingly.

Warranty provisions

The Group makes provisions under the
warranties it gives on sale of its power tools and
outdoor power equipment taking into account the
Group’s recent claim experience. As the Group
is continually upgrading its product designs
and launching new models it is possible that
the recent claim experience is not indicative of
future claims that it will receive in respect of past
sales. Any increase or decrease in the provision
would affect profit or loss in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(@)

(e)

The recognition of the deferred tax assets

The recognition of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future taxable
profits or taxable temporary differences will
be available. In cases where the actual future
taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits
estimation, a material reversal or further
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognized in profit or loss for
the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.

Right to returned goods asset

The Group makes a reasonable estimate of the
return rate for a portfolio of contracts with similar
characteristics based on historical sales data,
current sales conditions and taking into account
all relevant information such as customer and
market changes. The return rate is reasonably
estimated. The estimated return rate may not
equal the actual return rate in the future and
the Group reassesses the return rate at least at
each balance sheet date and determines the
return rate based on the reassessed return rate.
The Group reassesses the return rate at least
at each balance sheet date and determines the
accounting treatment based on the reassessed
return rate. Products with similar nature. Any
change in the assumptions would increase or
decrease the amount of inventories write-down
or the related reversals of write-down made in
prior years and affect the Group’s net assets
value. The Group reassesses these estimates
annually.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are researching,
developing, manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-
sale services for power tools, outdoor power equipment
and related products. Further details regarding the
Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by business lines is as follows:

(a)

(i)

WA R 7 BB E
ON

FEBENFEEBEEHITA  PHB R
BRBMEMRMITE - & B HER
ERIRYE - AEAREEEXBHE — 5t
BB RE4(0) R

WA
HEPRI AN ARER RO RWT ¢

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
ES FET
Revenue from contracts with customers FEHEHREERE15 FEER
within the scope of HKFRS 15 BEF R S A HBA
Disaggregated by major products BEEBERSHE
— Sales of power tools — BT AMHEESE 747,638 548,544
— Sales of outdoor power equipment — PONE I RABRISHERR 1,007,478 811,408
— Others — Hit 18,657 14,762
1,773,773 1,374,714

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers
were recognized at point in time.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and 1 (2023:
2) customer with whom transactions has exceeded 10%
of the Group’s revenues for the year ended December
31, 2024. The total revenue from the sales of power
tools, outdoor power equipment and others to these
customers amounted to US$694 million (2023: US$623
million) and arose in North Americans. Details of
concentrations of credit risk arising from the customers
are set out in Note 34(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)
(ii)

(b)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Revenue (continued)

Revenue expected to be recognized in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
goods such that information about revenue expected to
be recognized in the future is not disclosed in respect
of revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contracts for sales of goods that had an expected
duration of one year or less.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organised by a mixture of both business
lines (products and services) and geography.
manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segment.

In a

° Power tools: sales of power tools and power
tool accessories for consumer, professional
and industrial users. The products are available
under the FLEX, DEVON, SKIL and X-TRON
brands plus original design manufacturer
(“*ODM”) customers.

o Outdoor power equipment: sales of outdoor

tools and outdoor tool accessories for premium

or professional and mass-market users. The
products are available under the EGO, SKIL
brands and some ODM private labels.

o Others: sales of parts and components to a
home appliances business.

(a)
(ii)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(b)
()

©

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (continued)
Information about reportable segments

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitor the
results attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross
profit. Segment profit is used to measure performance
as management believes that such information is the
most relevant in evaluating the results of the respective
segments relative to other entities that operate in the
same industries.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment results, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue generated by the
segments in their operations.

Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly reported
to the Group’s executive directors and therefore
information of reportable segment assets and liabilities
are not presented in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WAR%IH®ME (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) DHF®WE (FE)

(i) Information about reportable segments (continued) (i) BRI AR & 5 R E# ()
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with RWAEREHE DR EEF R
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as AP - URABERD LR D &G
well as information regarding the Group’s reportable MASESRITHREEABRENEEASE
segments as provided to the Group’s senior executive E ARG D EER N T °

management for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance is set out

below.
Reportable segments
] R & 2 &P
Outdoor Total
Power power reportable
tools equipment Others segments
F5h TS
EHTH B hRE Hith 2 PR
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 UsSD’ 000
En Ee E E
2024 20244
Revenue from external customers REMDEF A
Point in time RS FE 747,638 1,007,478 18,657 1,773,773
Gross profit from external customers ~ REIBFEEHEMKE 224,902 386,362 4,417 615,681
and reportable segment profit A] 5 o 20F
Reportable segments
ARED
Outdoor Total
Power power reportable
tools  equipment Others  segments
I=E0S CE
BETHE HHK Hith Db
UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000
FET FET F=r FET
2023 20234

Revenue from external customers RENBEE KA

Point in time AR ] 548,544 811,408 14,762 1,374,714
Gross profit from external customers ~ REIMBEEHNEFKE 112,773 270,680 3,380 386,833
and reportable segment profit AR E 5 B FI
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4

(b)
(ii)

(iii)

©

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(CONTINUED)

WARZBHRE ()

Segment reporting (continued) (b) AE®E(E)
Reconciliations of reportable segment gross profit (ii) A8 & 575 S5 EFIE R
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A318LEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
SREITE FET
Reportable segment gross profit ATRE D EEF 615,681 386,833
Other revenue E bl A 4,893 5,787
Other net loss H b Esi8F 58 (14,798) (8,333)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEHAX (262,251) (244,052)
Administrative and other operating expenses 1T K& HAb &L > (104,758) (96,787)
Research and development costs A AR (83,410) (70,673)
Net finance costs BB AN F R (5,250) (3,290)
Share of loss of an associate DIGEEE R RESE (17,344) (18,341)
Consolidated profit/(loss) before taxation R AR ETIE (EE) 132,763 (48,856)

Geographic information

(iii)

The following table sets out the geographic information
analyses of the Group’'s revenue and specified
non-current assets including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
goodwill (“specified non-current assets”). In presenting
the geographic information, segment revenue has been
based on the geographic location of customers and
segment assets have been based on the geographic

location of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(iii)  Geographic information (continued)

Revenue from external customers

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

WARZBHRE ()

D EREHE ()
ZIE R (&)
E=RIS:ES 0L N

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FErx
North Americans it 1,293,059 940,197
Europe B 314,119 282,359
China H 110,519 100,615
Rest of the World R fth i [@ 56,076 51,543
1,773,773 1,374,714
Specified non-current assets BEFRBEE
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
USD’000 USD’000
SFEET FEr
North Americans ik 18,045 15,796
Europe B 25,553 29,308
China H 295,582 286,778
Rest of the World R E b b = 6,048 3,637
345,228 335,419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

5

(a)

©

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN

Other revenue

H W A B B At Uy 28 7 AR
HAtWB A

Year ended December 31,
HZE12A831HILLFE

2024 2023
20244 2023
USD’ 000 USD’000
Gt FEx
Government grants (Note (i) BB (K12 30) 1,453 1,174
Sale of scrap materials BERL Y& 3,057 4,282
Rentals receivable from operating leases, #&=HERWHS 383 331
other than those relating to investment (BRI B ZEMRAERIN)
property
4,893 5,787
Note: Ha -

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group received unconditional government grants of
USD1,336,000 (2023: USD1,085,000), as rewards
of the Group’s contribution to technology innovation
and regional economic development.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group
received government grants of USD1,126,000 (2023:
USD nil) as subsidies for construction and equipment
and recognized such grants of USD117,000 (2023:
USD89,000) in the consolidated statements of profit or

loss.
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(i) HE2024F12A831BILFEE K
£ B Y EL1,336,000% 70 (20234
1,085,000% 7T ) M & (T BT B - 1
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ERFF BN 1,126,000t (20234 + TXIT)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5

(b)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN 5 Hig g A R HAtb 25 75 88 (&)

(CONTINUED)

Other net loss

(b) EHitEBEFEHE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEEE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
E FET
Net foreign exchange gain b H a5 58 2,136 4,863
Gain/(loss) on disposal of properties, HEWE - HER 286 (46)
plants and equipment Rzt (B18)
Net loss on disposal of leases HEHEBEFE (605) (1,226)
Net realized and unrealized loss on AR EFNEER R - (630)
convertible bonds R E 18558
Net realized and unrealized gains on financial UAAREEFEREE 515 948
assets at FVPL other than convertible bonds FEEt A BN
KRR W a=)F58
(TR EHBRAM)
Net realized and unrealized gain/(loss) on TESRTANBERA K 4,120 (12,181)
derivative financial instruments RER W (F8)
FHEEMIA
Restructuring costs (Note 29) KA (H1:£29) (23,032) =
Others H 1,782 (61)
(14,798) (8,333)

SERRERAT —% - MEER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/

charging:

(a) Net finance costs

(a)

BRBIATFIE (EE)
BRELRIFIE (BB T4 (FFA) Bk A
THIBERSE
R R AR ER
Year ended December 31,
HZE12831HILLFE

2024 2023

20244 20234

USD’000 USD’000

FE5x FE

Interest income from bank deposits HRITERF B (7,005) (7,844)

Finance income BB W (7,005) (7,844)

Interest on bank loans SRITERFE 10,466 8,819

Other financing cost H A @& KA 1,274 1,725

Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 515 590

Finance costs & A AR 12,255 11,134

Net finance costs B &R ANHRE 5,250 3,290
(b)  Staff costs (b) EBIRK

Year ended December 31,
HZE12831HILLFEE

o

2024 2023
20244 20234
USD’000 USD’000
ED FET
Contributions to defined contribution FE R TR IRET B3R 33,829 31,168
retirement plans
Expenses recognized in respect of MATRAMBRNRETEIEE 12 18
defined benefit retirement plans REOFA XL (K1:£32(a))
obligation (Note 32(a))
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENMEMER 206,335 177,763
240,176 208,949
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

(CONTINUED)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

6 BRBLATRIE,(&51R) ()

(c) Other items (c) HfEE
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
USD’000 USD’000
E FET
Depreciation charge HEEHR
— owned properties, plants and equipment — BAYE  BEEXE 49,289 28,285
- right-of-use assets — ERREE 6,274 7,616
Amortization of intangible assets M EERE 401 280
Research and development costs (Note (i) A (H22 () 83,410 70,673
Provision for impairment loss on trade and B 5 REAMEWFIERE 2,180 1,172
other receivables B
Provision for write-down of inventories FERBEE 1,284 47,058
Auditors’ remuneration ZEET &
— audit services — Bz 881 822
- non-audit services — FEZRB 14 =
Cost of inventories sold (Note (ii)) HEFEXA (B 72 i)) 1,158,092 987,881
Notes: Biat -

(i)

(if)

Research and development costs include amounts
relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortization
expenses, which are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above or in Note
6 for each of these types of expenses.

Cost of inventories recognized as expenses includes
amounts relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortization expenses, provision for write-down of
inventories, which are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above or in Note 6
for each of these types of expenses.

(i) MERABIEEB TRA - T8 L
M BRMFIA - ZE AN A Lt
BERENGEPHMEER (BZHR
FxmE) °

(ii) HARAXNETEERAREEE TK
ZIS?)?%&%%F%K FEMBEEE
FARIERIAR » B F AN A L S E 3
E’EE’U%@%EEF'IMT&B#J(FJE%iE%ﬁSEHﬁ

=
5)°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

w3 /\jﬁ%i&% M{‘[E_I\I_

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

7

(a)

©

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit (a)

or loss represents:

REBBRAMEHR

mEBERABRER

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALEE

2024 2023
2024 2023
USD’ 000 USD’000
e FEx
Current tax EHBE
PRC Corporate Income Tax o 1 ZE AT 1E B
— Provision for the year — FAEE 10,296 =
— Qver-provision in respect of prior years — BAEFERERE 53 226
10,349 226
Hong Kong Profits Tax BB
— Provision for the year — FREHE 5,612 =
Tax jurisdictions outside PRC and Hong Kong — HEJ R &&= 90 7%
FEEEE
— Provision for the year — FANEE 4,499 3,786
Deferred tax EERE
— Origination and reversal of temporary — BREBEARED (405) (15,718)
differences (Note 28(b)) (Bt:£28(b))
Total income tax expense FrisBip % 20,055 (11,706)
Notes: Bt -
(i) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations (i) WEBSHMEHRIENEER 2

of Hong Kong, the Company and the subsidiary in
Hong Kong were liable to the Hong Kong Profits
Tax at a rate of 16.5% during the years ended

December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) The PRC subsidiaries of the Group are subject to
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") at a statutory
rate of 25%, except for the following specified
subsidiary:

According to the Administrative Measures
for Determination of High-Tech Enterprises
(Guokefahuo 2016 No. 32), Nanjing Chervon
Industry Co., Ltd. obtained the qualification as
a high-tech enterprise and was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years
from 2022 to 2025.

According to the prevailing PRC CIT law and
its relevant regulations, non-PRC tax resident
enterprises are levied withholding tax on dividends
from their PRC resident investees for intra-group
earnings accumulated beginning on January 1,
2008, at 10% (unless reduced by tax treaties or
similar arrangements), respectively. Undistributed
earnings generated prior to 2008 are exempt from
such withholding tax.

Under the arrangement between the Mainland China
and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the
Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes
on Income and its relevant regulations, dividends
paid by a PRC resident enterprise to its direct
holding company in Hong Kong will be subject to
withholding tax at a reduced rate of 5% (if the Hong
Kong investor is the “beneficial owner” and owns
directly at least 25% of the equity interest of the
PRC resident enterprise for the past twelve months
before the dividends distribution). The Group met
the beneficial owner requirements in 2023 and 2024
and were entitled to a preferential rate of 5% since
2015.

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

7 REBBERAMEHR (H)

(a) HEBEBRABIEAE: (&)

Hiet - (&)

(if)

AREE B BB A RIZAIR25% HETE
MEHGNPRECERBR ([REMRT
1) - HELA TR E T A BIBR S

BE(EMRMEERETERIIE) (B
Bl k2016 325%) MRRIERK
ERATRESFEMEEENE - A
20226 £ 2025F Z X 15% K FTIGHE
BRE

RIBRITCPEAREMBECEMREH
EYREMEER  FPBRBRBERE
¥HBE2008F1 A1BEZFHNERR
AR EEPEERKIRE QG
SHR B D B 10% B TBFO R (BRIE
BB R SR EE L BEFRR) © 2008 4F
ZHEEANASREERAEBEN
i o

B % R R0 B A 5 B 7 B = B A T P
15t o & BB AP IEGVRT T HE)
REMBER  MEBREERIER
BEAANIRRREDIRABE+—1EA
ERBEPRERGESZL25% MK
- PEERMCESNTHESEER
AR B E A% B 325 % B0 B B R AR
FEHB o REENR2023F K 2024 F
AEZHEARTELEH2015FRE#
ZH5%HEBERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

I = /\ﬁﬁ%i&% METEE

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

7

(a)

©

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
the United States, the Group's subsidiaries in the
United States was liable to United States federal
income tax at a rate of 21% and state income tax
at a rate ranging from 0.75% to 9.99% during the
during the year ended December 31, 2023 and
2024.

(iv) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
the United Kingdom, the Group’s subsidiary in the
United Kingdom was liable to the United Kingdom
corporation tax at a rate of 19% during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

(v) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
Germany, Chervon GmbH, Flex Geschaftsfuhrungs
GmbH, Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co., KG, Flex-
Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH and EGO Europe GmbH
were liable to German corporate tax at a rate
between 22.825% and 26.825% determined by
municipalities during the year ended December 31,
2023 and 2024.

(vi) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Australia,
the Group’s subsidiary in Australia was liable to
Australia corporation tax at a rate of 27.5% during
the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

(vii) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Canada, the
Group’s subsidiary in Canada was liable to Canada
corporation tax at a rate of 26.5% during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

(viii)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Netherlands, the Group’s subsidiaries in the
Netherlands was liable to the Netherlands
corporation tax at a rate of 25% during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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REBBERAMEHR (H)

meERBmRABIEE - ()
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(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

HZE2023F %2024 12 A31 B ILF
B BBEEEMGSHIENRER - A&
B EBH B FAR21% M =B B
HETSHBHERN F0.75%%9.99% 2
B M ETIS B R RN -

HZE2023F %2024 12 A31 B ILHF
B BBREAERIEHNEER - &
EEEERNHB A RARI19% MR
BB R RF

HZE2023F % 2024F 12 A31HIEFE
IRIEEEE) PSR IRPI K% - Chervon
GmbH ~ Flex Geschaftsfuhrungs
GmbH -~ Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co.,
KG * Flex-Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH Az
EGO Europe GmbHZE#I# =R A 7% «
R 522.825% £ 26.825% * ATTIKE B
TEE

HE2023F M2024%F 12 A31H L4
B RBRERAMDHRBIKIER - A&
BEERAFERHE R REK27.5%H
ERBARAN B R RH -

HE2023F M2024F 12 A31HIL4F
B BEBENEROARRESR  ~&E
TEINERB KB A RIZE1Z26.5% H B K
MM ERRABF -

HZE2023F M2024F 12 A31HIL4F
B BEBEEARARER  NEEE
TA1 58 O BT JBB /2 R ZB 1% 25 % ROt R B AR e
BAREL



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ix) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Czech Republic, the Group’s subsidiary in the
Czech Republic was liable to the Czech Republic
corporation tax at a rate of 19% during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

(x) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Belgium,
the Group’s subsidiary in Belgium was liable to
Belgium corporation tax at a rate of 25% during the
year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

(xi) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of ltalia,
the Group’s subsidiary in ltalia was liable to ltalia
corporation tax at a rate of 24% during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

(xii) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of France, the
Group’s subsidiary in France was liable to France
corporation tax at a rate of 28% during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

(xiii) ~ Pursuant to the Vietnam Investment Law and the
approval of Industry Zone Committee of Tinh Binh
Duong, the Group’s subsidiary in the Vietnam was
entitled to a tax exemption for 2023 and 2024 and
a preferential income tax rate of 10% from 2022 to
2025.

(xiv)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New
Zealand, the Group’s subsidiary in New Zealand
was liable to New Zealand corporation tax at a rate
of 28% during the year ended December 31, 2023
and 2024.

(xv)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Sweden,
the Group’s subsidiary in Sweden was liable to
Swedish corporation tax at a rate of 20.6% during
the year ended December 31, 2024.

(xvi)  Starting from January 1, 2024, the Group is liable to
Pillar Two income taxes in relation to its operations
in Vietnam, Canada, United Kingdom and certain
European countries (see Note 7(c)).

(a)

=

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

mERAFEH (&)

meRBmRABIEE - ()

Hiat - (%)

(ix)

(xii)

(xiil)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

HZE2023F %2024 12 A31 B ILF
B REEREAFBEARAEER - K
EEERER EMBIAM B AR EEZ19%
BT REMER AR o

HZE2023F %2024 12 A31 B ILHF
B BEBLFEORBRARER  A5E
T b FI) 5 B9 BT BB A B 83225 % B B R4
LTI A R o

HZE2023F %2024 12 A31 B ILHF
B BEBEEAFORKRARER  A5E
EERFEM B A R EIEZ24% T K8
MBAFARHB -

B E20234F %2024 12 A31 B IFF
B REBEBEARARER  AEEE
SRE R B A RZE1R 28 % KB REAN A
B A EF

$E%F<<tﬁ&%“i£>>&$&%%l¥@§
BEMltY  AEEEBENNEA
R2023F 2024 FZH R F ﬂ%u&
BH2022F £2025F 1% 10% M E B X
MBS

HZE2023F %2024 12 A31H L4
B BREHAENRARER  AEH
TE 37 R 3 O BT BB 1 R 7B 12 28 % B0 B R 4
bl S/NCIE 5D

HZE2024F12A31BILFE - BB
AR B ROE AR - RSB AE IR A B
B2 RIZAIE20.6% M B R BN Bk B R 7]
B o

H2024F1A18E  "EEREREE
ME - NEX - ZREERETEMER
MEBBATFE_MEH (FLHEM=E
7(c)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n.

e M HRRI

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

7

(b)

©

INCOME TAX

IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation between profit/(loss) before (b)
taxation and tax expense and at applicable tax

rates:

REBRBRAMEH (K

)

BRBATRIE,(FE) RBEMXURER
PRz EHNHEK:

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
USD’000 USD’000
=TT FET
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELATFE (&E) 132,763 (48,856)
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BRI RIFIERER - 23,006 (8,873)
calculated at the rates applicable to profits RERRNEERE
in the jurisdictions concerned MFIE*'J?FEJE’]EEE‘—.—’E‘I'QE:
Effect of PRC tax concessions obtained B EBUOR e E (7,149) 306
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (Note) TT?D%REES’ZE’J%R%%; 4,795 5,764
(Htaz)
Tax effect of non-taxable income FEFE R M 2 O B 7 S 28 (960) (740)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized FERRBABBOHRBEEE 8,632 291
Tax effect of bonus deduction for research T3 R AN S8 0 BR Y (9,620) (7,607)
and development costs MIETE
Provision of withholding tax on Ko ERFER RN B E 1,298 (1,073)
undistributed profits
Over-provision in prior years BT REEEME 53 226
Income tax expense S fif 20,055 (11,706)
Note: Hst -

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses mainly represented
tax effect of loss of an associate, expenses incurred by BN
entities without assessable profits and other non-deductible

expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

()

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Pillar Two income taxes

In 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development published the Global Anti-Base
Erosion Model Rules (“Pillar Two model rules”) for a
new global minimum tax reform applicable to large
multinational enterprises. Certain jurisdictions in which
the Group operates have implemented Pillar Two
income tax legislation based on this framework, and
those Pillar Two income tax laws became effective on
January 1, 2024.

The Pillar Two income taxes are levied on subsidiaries
under the new tax laws in Vietnam, Canada, United
Kingdom and certain European countries which
introduced a domestic minimum top-up tax effective
from January 1, 2024. The Group didn’t recognise any
current tax expense related to Pillar Two income taxes
for the year ended December 31, 2024, as the Group
assessed Pillar Two model rules had no material effect
on the current tax expense.

The Group has applied the temporary mandatory
exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar
Two income taxes and accounted for the tax as current
tax when incurred.

Other jurisdictions in which the Group operates are in
the process of implementing their Pillar Two income
tax legislation. Therefore, it is possible that the Group
may be subject to additional Pillar Two income taxes in
those jurisdictions.

(c)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

REBBERAMEHR (H)
XEZREHR
R2021% - KEAERBERABLEANK

BEEC A2 RKEHR R EZE M2

REBRBIRA ([XE_TBHRA) -
AEBELZMAER TRAEEREAEXIER

AR FEBIT_MENRE  ZEXEZ
FRSRERMN2024F1 A1 B4Rk -

STHEZFBHRIIRIEME - hEA - ZHEBER
ETEMNBER A BOEE B AR EE - %
ZRREETRARKEMTER © 5202441
A1B#ER - HE2024F12A31BILFE
B AEEYERRETE _MEHEEN
TEPHE  FRARANEETFHR AT E
ZTRERAEE AN IERTWEEATE -

AEBMERAELH SR  AERAREE
ERTH_FBHMNEEHEEERAEBD
B WHREARETIBEARSEE B
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AEBEECMEHEMAZEEREARKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and

EEME

REBEZBARIEHEI8I(NIERAT (FE
BENFER) BOAFE A0 FEENE S

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information SHEBNT :
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2024
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
£4 . 2RE 20245
B2He ENER MERL  BRIGTEER st
UsD’000 USD’000 USD’000 UsD’000 USD’000
TZn Txr SEI TZn Txr
Chairman Ed:;
Pan Longquan BER 30 121 281 - 432
Executive directors HITES
Zhang Tong &Y 30 160 281 - 47
Ke Zugian LOLE 30 160 281 - 47
Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 30 476 603 20 1,129
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Tian Ming i3 28 - - - 28
Li Minghui TR 28 - - - 28
Jiang Li 4y} 28 - - - 28
204 917 1,446 20 2,587
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

ey

N

8 EEME (&)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2023
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
E A 20235
ik REMET BERL  RIGHEIRR st
USD'000 USD’000 USD'000 USD'000 USD’000
S T=x T£n TEL T£n
Chairman £
Pan Longquan BER 30 157 26 - 213
Executive directors BITES
Zhang Tong ERiZ 30 166 26 = 222
Ke Zugian B 30 166 26 S 222
Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 30 463 263 22 778
Independent non-executive BUkBTES
directors
Tian Ming iafe? 28 - - - 28
Li Minghui THE 28 - - - 28
Jiang Li By 28 - - - 28
204 952 341 22 1,519
Note: Hia -
All the executive directors are key management personnel HZE2023F R2024F12A31HILLFE © fTA
of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2023 WITEEHAAEBENEZEEAE - X
and 2024 and their remuneration disclosed above include BEREENTNEREEEIEATETEABR

those for services rendered by them as key management
personnel.

R ARTES FRAESREN -

RIEEBRAR AT —F_FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one
(2023: one) is director whose emoluments are disclosed
in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect
of the remaining four (2023: four) individuals are as
follows:

9

SEMAL

®

RAZSHMAHALHR  —% (2023F : —
%)7%%% HF AN FE8 R i EE o ERMY
% (20234 : UE) ATHFBAZENT

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023

2024 5% 20234

USD’000 USD’000

FE FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %% - 2B R EWEF 1,170 1,242
Discretionary bonuses E‘J’IEJ'EZI 713 440
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEI IR 98 101
1,981 1,783

The emoluments of the four (2023: four) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

P4 (20234F - MU ) S s B A £ 69 57 B
BRRATEEA

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AH

USD nil to USD500,000 T X ITE500,000 E5T 3 3
USD500,001 to USD1,000,000 500,0013 5% 1,000,000% 7T 1

None of the Directors of the Company has waived any
emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2024.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
or the five highest paid individuals (including directors
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensating for loss of office
during both years.

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Tax effects relating to each component of other
comprehensive income

=
NN

VSRR P ot

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

10 Hftz2mEWE
HEM 2 EK SR BREN B E

Exchange
differences
on translation

Remeasurement

of financial of net defined
statements  benefit liability Total
BREBMERRN REEHEE #at
EREHE FBEEHTE
uUsSD’000 USD’000 USD’ 000
FER FEx FEx
For the year ended #HZE2023 F£12A31H
December 31, 2023 IEFE
Before-tax amount BREiAT &% (10,861) 16 (10,845)
Tax expense MIAR X - 5 5
Net-of-tax amount HRTIEN S5 (10,861) 21 (10,840)
For the year ended HZE2024 F£12831H
December 31, 2024 IFFE
Before-tax amount BREIRT SR (15,245) 21 (15,224)
Tax expense MIAR X = (6) (6)
Net-of-tax amount HRTHIEN S5 (15,245) 15 (15,230)

SEERERAT —F - mEER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAMBRENE

W N

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

11
(a)

(b)

@

EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE 11 SRERN (HE)
Basic earnings/(losses) per share (a) BREXERN (EHE)
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per BREARREFRFTIRBEARRD A SRR
share is based on the profits attributable to equity FEAEFE 112,474,000 7T (20234 : "R
shareholders of the Company of USD112,474,000 Al M AR R (L E5 18 37,137,000k ) R E
(2023: loss attributable to equity shareholders of the BRINETHEEENT
Company of USD37,137,000) and the weighted average
of ordinary shares calculated as follows:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BRI T2
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
Ordinary shares at the beginning of the year FHE B 511,053,811 490,218,811
Effect of shares issued (Note 33(c)) BT (H12£33(c)) - 19,750,438
Effect of shares purchased (Note 33(c)) BARMBTE (K/7£33(c)) (561,045) =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares A @ A% HntE F1H & 510,492,766 509,969,249
at the end of the year
Diluted earnings/(losses) per share (b) BER#BIERAN (EHE)

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in
existence for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023. The calculated diluted earnings per share equals
the basic earnings per share at December 31, 2024
and 2023.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

12 PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT 12 9%¥ - BERRE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) REEHK
Software,
Machinery motor vehicles
Plant and and and office  Construction
buildings equipment equipment  in progress Total
B RER
BERET BERZE WARE TRIR ECHY
USD’ 000 USD’000 USD’ 000 USD’000 USD’ 000
Txx Txr Txx Txr Txx
Cost: BA
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1 A1H 115,148 149,419 60,822 57,734 383,123
Additions RE - 23,523 12,486 41,048 77,057
Transfers 2 61,829 17,700 6,346 (85,875) -
Disposals & - (2,719) (5,962) - (8,681)
Exchange adjustment RS (1,801) (916) (515) (745) (3,977)
At December 31, 2023 and 2023128318 K& 175,176 187,007 73,177 12,162 447,522
January 1, 2024 20241 A1H
Additions AE 0 15,918 6,115 41,002 63,040
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WEKBAR - - 43 - 43
(Note 37) (H15237)
Transfers B2 2,595 764 3,852 (7,211) -
Disposals HE (166) (2,395) (2,548) = (5,109)
Exchange adjustment X A% (3,230) (3,741) (2,485) (609) (10,065)
At December 31, 2024 R2024F12A318 174,380 197,553 78,154 45,344 495,431
Accumulated depreciation: ~ Z3t7E :
At January 1, 2023 R2023E1 A18 (52,364) (66,981) (30,554) - (149,899)
Charge for the year ENER (5,952) (14,856) (7,477) = (28,285)
Written back on disposals HERER - 1,201 3,744 = 4,945
Exchange adjustment BN AR 1,849 139 284 = 2,272
At December 31,2023 and 12023128318 & (56,467) (80,497) (34,003) - (170,967)
January 1, 2024 20241 31H
Charge for the year ENER (8,122) (25,788) (15,379) - (49,289)
Written back on disposals e 53 1,312 1,134 - 2,499
Exchange adjustment [ % 1,320 2,039 1,462 - 4,821
At December 31, 2024 R2024%5 128318 (63,216) (102,934) (46,786) - (212,936)
Net book value: BEFE:
At December 31, 2023 R2023F12 8318 118,709 106,510 39,174 12,162 276,555
At December 31, 2024 R2024F12 8318 111,164 94,619 31,368 45,344 282,495
SEERARAT T MEER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

12

(a)

@

PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT 12

(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) 12

Note:

Certain properties, plants and equipment of the Group

Details are set out as follows:

were pledged as security for bank loans (see Note 24).

M - BERRE (&)

M - BEKRE (E)
Wit :

REENETHE  BERRBEERRITE
FERYIER (FL2BRE24) - FIBWT ¢

As at December 31,

M12A318
2024 2023
2024 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FEr

Plant and buildings

BB K gF

- 31,740

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset is presented below:

13

ey

N

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

EHERE

RIEREERMNE D

DT EFIMT :

B8 M S ERR T FE

Plant and Leasehold

buildings land Total

BEREF HE LT st

uUSD’ 000 USD’ 000 USD’000
FER FER FER
Cost: R :
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H 39,003 29,447 68,450
Additions =Y 998 24177 25,175
Disposals & (14,119) - (14,119)
Exchange adjustment bE W 3R % (199) (592) (791)
At December 31, 2023 and R2023%F 128318 & 25,683 53,032 78,715
January 1, 2024 2024%1 A1H
Additions NE 7,190 - 7,190
Disposals & (6,023) - (6,023)
Exchange adjustment M H A (234) (780) (1,014)
At December 31, 2024 R2024%F 12 A31H 26,616 52,252 78,868
Accumulated depreciation: ZFIE
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H (18,149) (5,670) (23,819)
Charge for the year FRER (6,732) (884) (7,616)
Written back on disposals S R ] 10,510 - 10,510
Exchange adjustment bE 5 3R 2 94 98 192
At December 31, 2023 and M2023F 12 A31BH & (14,277) (6,456) (20,733)
January 1, 2024 20241 A1H

Charge for the year FRNEA (5,098) (1,176) (6,274)
Written back on disposals o E RO 5,418 = 5,418
Exchange adjustment b R 125 107 232
At December 31, 2024 R2024%F 12 A31H (13,832) (7,525) (21,357)
Net book value: BREEE :
At December 31, 2023 R2023%F 12 A31H 11,406 46,576 57,982
At December 31, 2024 202412 H31H 12,784 44,727 57,511

RIETER AR

RNAE ZZZINFEFR

7o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13 MFHEEE (E)
Notes: Hiet -
(i) The Group obtains the right-of-use certain land in (i) AEBEPREBEE T0FHNLEHE

the PRC under several operating lease agreements
of 50 years. As at December 31, 2024, the carrying
amounts of leasehold land held for own use were
USD44,727,000 (2023: USD46,576,000).

(i) The Group has obtained the right to use certain (i)
office and warehouse properties through tenancy
agreements during the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023. The leases typically run for a period
of 2 to 13 years.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases LEiEh A =]
recognized in profit or loss is as follows: T

WIS E T LR FERE - R2024
F12HA31H  HEEBABEELHH
BRE{E A44,727 0003 7T (20234 :
46,576,00037T) °

AEEREE2024F £ 2023F 12 A 31
HIEFERAEEHZESETHAE
REEWMENERE HENHBRE
B2EA3E o

HERNEERENRAXIAR SN

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
USD’000 USD’000
FTEx FEr
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by &+ EAEERIZIHH
class of underlying asset: EREEERNEER -
- Leasehold land — HE T 1,176 884
— Plant and buildings — BERETF 5,098 6,732
6,274 7,616
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HEAENE (HiF6(a) 515 590
Expense relating to short-term leases BGHHERANRAX 2,655 2,864

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 23(e)
and 25, respectively.

Certain right-of-use assets of the Group were pledged
as security for bank loans (see Note 24). Details are set
out as follows:

13

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

EHEEE (&|)

HEEBRSRE NS aBEI BRI ITHNFS
2RISR FE23(e) K225 ©

AEENETEREEECERRITERE
YR (2RI E24) - FHIBAT ¢

As at December 31,

M12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
SFEEn F=E7T
Leasehold land HELH - 21,852

SERRERAT —% - MEER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14 HEEEE

Customer
Patents Trademarks relationship Total
=7 (5L EFBR #st
uUSD’000 UsSD’ 000 USD’000 USD’000
FEn FER FER FEn
Cost: AR
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1A1H 930 2,425 - 8,005
Disposals & - - - -
Exchange adjustment e 5, 5 2 - - 2
At December 31, 2023 F2023%12 4318 K 932 2,425 - 3,357
and January 1, 2024 20241 A1H
Disposals HE - - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary  UWXBEKE A ] - - 1,850 1,850
(Note 37) (B1a37)
Exchange adjustment b H & (3) - (72) (75)
At December 31, 2024 20244128318 929 2,425 1,778 5,132
Accumulated amortization: 23t i#sH
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H (619) (1,574) - (2,193)
Charge for the year FRNER (66) (214) = (280)
Exchange adjustment HE 5, 8 2 (2) = = (2)
At December 31, 2023 1K2023F12A31H & (687) (1,788) - (2,475)
and January 1, 2024 20241 A1H
Charge for the year FREH (80) (217) (104) (401)
Exchange adjustment PE H P& 3 - - 3
At December 31, 2024 R 2024412 4318 (764) (2,005) (104) (2,873)
Net book value: BREEE :
At December 31, 2023 R2023%12A31H 245 637 - 882
At December 31, 2024 R2024F12 31 H 165 420 1,674 2,259

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

15

GOODWILL 15 mE
USD’000
FEn
Cost: AR :
At January 1, 2023, December 31, 2023 R2023%F 1818 ~ 2023F12A31H & =
and January 1, 2024 2024F1H1H
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 37) WM B AR (K17#37) 3,078
Exchange adjustment P H A% (115)
At December 31, 2024 R2024F 12 A31H 2,963
Accumulated impairment losses: RETRERE :
At January 1, 2023, December 31, 2023 R2023F 1 A1H  2023F 12A31H K -
and December 31, 2024 202412 A831H
Carrying amount: BRMEME :
At December 31, 2023 M2023F12A31H =
At December 31, 2024 R2024F12A31H 2,963

RIEERABRAG —F =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

15

©

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units
containing goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating
unit as follows:

15

B
!

(II )
ERENREELEVNRERNR

pir:

i
1

ENREREENA TR SEELEN ¢

=

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

USD’ 000 USD’000

ES FEx

Flex Scandinavia AB Flex Scandinavia AB 2,963 -

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The Group
engaged an independent professional valuer to assist
with the calculations, which use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using an estimated annual
growth rate of 2.0%, which is estimated based on the
inflation rate. Key assumptions used for the value in use
calculations are the discount rate and revenue growth
rate in the five-year projection period. The discount
rate was a pre-tax measure based on the risk-free rate
in the relevant market and in the same currency as the
cash flows, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect both
the increased risk of investing in equities generally
and the systematic risk of the specific CGU. Revenue
growth rate in the five-year projection period was
estimated taking into account of the past performance
and management expectation for market development.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units
containing goodwill (continued)

Key assumptions used in estimating the recoverable
amount are as follows:

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

e (&)
EHENREELEANRENS (B)

T AU Bl S ZR AT A RO RRR AR T

2024

2024

Pre-tax discount rate B AT AA IR 10.81%
Average revenue growth rate during the RIERIHI R U A R = 13.00%

projection period

The estimated recoverable amount exceeded its
carrying amount as at December 31, 2024 by
UsD827,000.

Management performed sensitivity analysis of two
key assumptions that could significantly affect the
recoverable amount. The following table shows
the percentage by which these two assumptions
would need to change individually for the estimated
recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount:

Change required for recoverable amount of the CGU to
be equal to its carrying amount

RK2024F 128318 @ Al D £ EBBE
HEEE{E827,0003E T °

EEECHAEREXEN WO SANMIEA

BB R RETBREDN - TRIUREME

Tﬂi@égﬁﬁwﬁé‘ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ% C ZEMIARR
DRIFRESNE DL

FRETELFEMNAIKRESEASNERT
BfFEES)

2024

2024 F

Increase in pre-tax discount rate BREIATARIR & £ 7t 0.88%
Decrease in revenue growth rate during the TR HA A U A 38 = R TR BE 2.39%

projection period

The recoverable amount of the CGU based on the
value-in-use calculations was higher than the carrying
amount as at December 31, 2024. Accordingly, no
impairment loss for goodwill was recognised in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss. Also, based
on the sensitivity analysis above, the Group concluded
that a reasonably possible change in key parameters
would not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to
exceed its recoverable amount as at December 31,
2024.

R2024% 128318 @ ENFEREETEDN

REELBEMMAIKNESESNREE - B

gt WERGAEBERANEREENRER

B oo s ER EMSRESN - AEE R

F 0 R2024F12A31 8 BHRILHENEE
AR I EPR S EABUNEmMER
BEAKEESEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

16 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16 RHBEATNKRE

TREJIARRETEIEXLEAEBEE -
BESRBENHNBARAE KIFZEHE
B DRAMSROBRG A EEK -

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
of the Company which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares

©

held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
ARER RIBHRAE BRTREAESFHE itk {331 TEXH
Held by the Held by a
Company subsidiary
AREKE  WEARRA
Chervon (China) Investment Co., Ltd. The PRC USD120,000,000 100% - Investment holding
(RE(RE)REARAT) (‘Chervon (China) August 2, 2016
Investment”) (Note ()
RE(RE) RABRAA (& (hE)RE]) (HiHz) +E 120,000,000%7C 100% - RARR
201648728
Nanjing Chervon Industry Co., Ltd. The PRC USD345,000,000 100% - Production of tools,
(ARFENHERLR) Note (3)) September 26, 1997 research and
development, sales
BRRERBARAR (Wit()) hE 345,000,000% 70 100% - EEIA W%
199749 268
Chervon (China) Trading Co., Ltd. The PRC USD6,200,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
(RE(HE)EFERAR) (Note (2)) March 29, 2006 and outdoor power
equipment
S (hE) ERERAR Wit el 6,200,000% 7 - 100% HESHIARFNSNRE
200653 A29A
Chervon (China) Tools Sales Co., Ltd. The PRC Renminbi (“RMB") - 100%  Sales of power tools
(RE(RE)IAHERRAR) (Nots (3) June 28, 2010 66,506,700 in the PRC
S& () TARERRAA Wit e AEB(ARE]) - 100% RPEEESHIE
201056 A28H 66,506,7007

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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16

INVESTMENTS
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

IN SUBSIDIARIES 16

RHERRNERE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
AAEB RUBERAH BEARBRHERHE frEgRELf IEEY
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
ARAKE  WEAREA
Chervon (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% - Trading and financial
November 8, 2010 Dollar (*HKD") management
790,000,000
SE(FE)BRAR B4 790,000,00057C 100% - BORUBER
2010%11A8A (T&7))
Chervon Overseas Holdings Co., Ltd. Hong Kong USD82,140,040 100% - Investment holding
August 6, 2013
SEBNMERERAR 30 82,140 04050 100% - REnk
20138768
Chervon Industry (Vietnam) Vietnam Vietnamese Dongs - 100%  Production of
Company Limited January 21, 2020 (‘VND") gardening tools
70,100,000,000
FEEE (W) ERAT i3 70,100,000,000 - 100% EEREIR
2020518218 e (HmE])
Chervon Canada Inc. Canada CAD1,500,001 - 100%  Sales of power tools
QOctober 31, 2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Canada Inc. mex 1,500,001 AT - 100% HEEHIARPISNGE
20165104317
Chervon Australia PTY Limited Australia AUD1,500,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 31,2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Australia PTY Limited Nl 1500,00027 - 100% HEEHTARFNGNRE
016%7A31A
Chervon North America Inc. The United States USD300,000 - 100%  Research in the North
February 25, 2005 American market,
product design, sales
and services
Chervon North America Inc. %8 300,000%7 - 100%  FETEHE - ERdi
2005528258 HERRH

SERRERAT —% - MEER @
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

16

©

INVESTMENTS

IN SUBSIDIARIES 16

RBARNRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
AIER RUBERAH BEGICE FUE frERRELA TEEH
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
AAARE  WELERE
Flex Geschaftsfihrungs GmbH Germany Euro (‘EUR") - 100%  Investment holding
May 3, 2013 25,000
Flex Geschaftsfinrungs GmbH 28 25,0008 - 100%  %&#k
2013%5A3R (TB7el)
Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co., KG Germany EUR19,000,500 - 100%  Production of FLEX
May 22, 2013 brand, design, sales
and services
Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co., KG 28 19,000,5008 7T - 100% EEAEXRE R
2013%58228 HERRE
Flex-Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH Germany EUR3,580,100 = 100%  Production of FLEX
November 27, 1980 brand, design, sales
and services
Flex—Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH 28 3,580,10080 - 100% EEAEXRE R
1980114278 HERRE
Chervon GmbH Germany EUR25,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 1, 2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon GmoH fEd 25,0008 - 100% HETHTARPHGNRE
2016%7A1A
EGO Europe GmbH Germany EUR50,000 - 100%  Operation of £GO brand,
November 20, 2015 sales, and services
EGO Europe GmbH =8 50,0008 - 100% BELGORIE - HERMRR
20155115207
Flex Elektronéradi, s.r.o The Czech Republic CZK500,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
June 18, 2008 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Elekironéradf, s.r.0 FRAAE 500,000 7725 - 100% HEEHTARFIGNRE
2008%6A18H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

16 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16 RKBATNEE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
AEH RUBHRAH BRTRESERFE frEgRELf TERH
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
ARARE  WELRRE
Flex Italia S.r.l. Italy EUR50,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 11,2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex ltalia S.r.. EAM 50,0008 7T - 100% HEEHTARFHSNGE
01257A118
Flex Electroportatif Machines ET Accessoires France EUR10,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 11, 2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Electroportatif Machines ET Accessoires il 10,0008(C - 100% HESHTERPHNBNRE
01257118
Flex Power Tools BVBA Belgium EUR95,167,585 - 100%  Sales of power tools
May 15, 2005 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools BVBA A 95,167,585 81 - 100% HESHIARPHGNRE
2005557150
Flex Power Tools B. V. The Netherlands EUR31,800 - 100%  Sales of power tools
January 24,2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools B. V. b 31,8008 - 100% HEEHTARFIGNRE
2012617248
Skil B.V. The Netherlands EUR50,000 - 100%  Do-It-Yourself business
August 12,2016 design in Europe,
operations and sales
Skil BV, i} 50,0007 - 100% EHEYHERRH
2016587128 EERHE
Flex Power Tools Ltd. The United Kingdom (GBP1 - 100%  Sales of power tools
November 9, 2020 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools Ltd. LG 184 - 100% HEEHTARFIGNRE
2020511498
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)

(AT [T )T - b= H59)

16 INVESTMENTS

IN SUBSIDIARIES 16

RHERRNERE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
AIER RUBHRAH BRRERERFE it L34 TERH
Held by the Held by a
Company  subsidiary
AAARE  WELRER
Flex Power Tools Middle East FZCO The United Arab Emirates AED2,000,000 - 70%  Sales of power tools
April 13,2022 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools Middle East FZCO MAEAERE 2,000,000 HESHIARPAINRE
02547130
Chervon Europe Limited The United Kingdom (GBP1 - 100%  Sales of power tools
June 7,2007 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Europe Limited #E 155 HESHLEARPHGNKE
200756 A7 A
Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited New Zealand New Zealand Dollar - 100%  Sales of power tools
May 3, 2021 ("NZD")1,500,100 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited HER 1,500, 1003 EH T HESHIARPHNRE
202155438 (THaEm))
Flex Scandinavia AB (Nofe 37) Sweden Swedish Krona - 100%  Sales of power tools
March 30, 1981 (“SEK”)100,000 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Scandinavia AB (#£57) it 10,0003 £ 525 HESHIARPANRE
1981534308 o 35)
Note: Htat -
(a) These entities are limited liability companies (a) ZEERRERBKNIMEREER

established in the PRC. The official names of these
entities are in Chinese. The English translation of
the Company names is for identification purpose

only.

None of the Group’s subsidiaries has a material non-

controlling interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17

AN

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17 REBEARNER
The following list contains the particulars of the Group’s LATPI RSB AN B E QRIS
associate:

Proportion of ownership interest

as at December 31,2024
R2024F12 A3 AN FTBRRE LA
Place of Particulars of Group’s Held Held
Form of business incorporation and issued and effective by the by a
Name of associate structure business paid-up capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
ERAIER BRTR r&H ARE WEAF

BENRER PERRES  SERY EHELRE  ERER b BE IEER

Nanjing Chervon Auto Incorporated The PRC Renminbi (‘RMB") 23.75% - 23.75%  Manufacturing,
Precision Technology Co., 272,353,821 Research and
L. (AR EAERE R development
BAERAR) (“Chervon and sales of auto
Auto Precision parts
Technology”) *

ARRETERERMRG A e ARE(TARE]) 23.75% - RB.75% HE HER
ERAF 272,353,821 HEREZRM
(TReRERER])"

% Chervon Auto Precision Technology is a limited 2 g RIBFBEBFERM AR R BEKIIHER
liability company established in the PRC. The NE - ZEBEBNEHNEABAPRXE
official name is in Chinese. The English translation e ARETEMEXEEEHRBN 2
of the company name is for identification purpose A -
only.

Notes: it -

(i) As at December 31, 2024, 12,700,000 shares of the (i) MR2024F12A318  AEFB LA
Group’s associate (2023: 12,700,000 shares) were A8 12,700,000 i 15 (2023 £ :
pledged as securities for bank loans of the Group 12,700,000 i& 17 ) e E Rt AN K E
(see Note 24). RITERAER (GE2HME24) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I\\/ =] /E\jir% &2% METEE

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

17 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(if)

Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology
Co., Ltd. was established in the PRC with limited
liability on March 19, 2012 and is principally
engaged in the production, sales and research and
development of automotive power systems and
relevant components. Its shares are currently listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
603982.SH).

In September 2016, the Group acquired 38.8%
of the equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision
Technology from Nanjing Chervon Industry Co., Ltd.
of USD19,400,000 (RMB129,776,300 equivalent).
In November 2016, Chervon Auto Precision
Technology reduced its registered capital and the
Group reduced its investment to RMB46,560,000
on a pro rata basis. In March 2017, the proportion
of the Group’s interest in Chervon Auto Precision
Technology has been diluted to 31.04% due to the
new financing obtained by Chervon Auto Precision
Technology and further diluted to 23.28% in April
2019 due to the listing of Chervon Auto Precision
Technology on Shanghai Stock Exchange. In
June 2020, the proportion of the Group’s interest
in Chervon Auto Precision Technology has been
diluted to 23.10% due to the new issuance of shares
and increased to 23.12% due to the repurchase of
the shares by Chervon Auto Precision Technology
in 2021.

In November 2022, the Group further purchased
18,111,000 shares of Chervon Auto Precision
Technology with a total subscription amount of
RMB357,875,000 (USD50,340,000 equivalent) and
the proportion of the Group’s interest increased
to 24.72%. In December 2023, the proportion of
the Group’s interest in Chervon Auto Precision
Technology has been increased to 24.74% due
to the repurchase of the shares by Chervon Auto
Precision Technology in 2023. In December 2024,
the proportion of the Group’s interest in Chervon
Auto Precision Technology has been diluted to
23.75% due to conversion of convertible bonds of
the shares by Chervon Auto Precision Technology
in 2024.

The associate above is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED) 17

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

REE QR R ()

Summarized financial information of the material TEHMES N REBEEBERERRINEEER
associate, Chervon Auto Precision Technology, BMERBSTRERTMEEELFE I
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, BEATSHRENNETEETEE S
and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the W
consolidated financial statements are disclosed below:
December December
31, 2024 31, 2023
20244 20234
12H31H 12H31H
USD’ 000 USD’000
E5om FET
Gross amounts of Chervon Auto Precision  RIESEFBRR M
Technology’s DT &IBEHNEE
Current assets mBEE 349,342 347,642
Non-current assets EMENE E 583,583 611,625
Current liabilities mEBE (325,492) (362,696)
Non-current liabilities FEMBEAR (349,455) (270,260)
Equity s (257,978) (326,311)
Revenue A 323,661 302,181
Loss from continuing operations REKEEBEER (73,474) (80,038)
Other comprehensive income Hh 2w (1,449) 1,601
Total comprehensive loss ZHEBERRE (74,923) (78,437)
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in HAEERRESE
Chervon Auto Precision Technology RBERMEREER
Gross amounts of net assets of Chervon Auto  RIESEEZRITEE 257,978 326,311
Precision Technology FELATE
Group'’s effective interest AEBERER 23.75% 24.74%
Group’s share of net assets of Chervon Auto AEBD{HRIESE 61,257 80,738
Precision Technology BRI EEFE
Goodwill i 6,091 6,183
Carrying amount of in the consolidated AV BREANREE 67,348 86,921
financial statements
Market value mi5EE 71,606 131,586
Group’s share of Chervon Auto Precision AEB D {HRIESTE
Technology's BEEMATEIE
Loss from continuing operations B TS ER (18,152) (19,667)
Deemed gain on dilution of interest in an =N AN 808 1,326
associate T 5 S A Y
Other comprehensive income HEt 2wk (354) 395
Total comprehensive loss ZHEERTE (17,698) (17,946)
RIEZERAR AT T UFFH @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

18 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 18 UQAAEBEFTEEHEBHTAEHE
mHNEREE
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
USD’000 USD’000
FFEEn FET
Financial assets at FVPL — non-current UAREEFTEEEEE
STAEHERNEMEE
—kRE
— Insurance product — R EMm 6,586 6,393
The Group’s non-current balances of financial assets at AEBUAREBETEAHEEZHTALHIE
FVPL represent a life insurance product issued by an S e EENIEREAERIEB Y E =R
independent third-party insurance company. S NEIHEHNASREBES °
The analysis on the fair value measurement of the BRAAEE e EENAABETSED
Group’s above financial assets is disclosed in Note WA FE34(e) I E -
34(e).
19 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 19 TTEERmIE
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
USD’ 000 USD’000
ES FET
Assets BE
— Foreign currency forward contracts (Note (i)) — INEREIE L (ML) 1,842 2,553
— Foreign currency option contracts (Note (i) — SNEERRES X (H52()) 366 =
- Foreign exchange swap contract (Note (i) — SNEIRERE L (B (i) 4,203 =
6,411 2,553
Liabilities afE
- Foreign currency forward contracts (Note (i) — SMNEEBA K (A7) 4,670 804
- Foreign currency option contracts (Note (i) — SNEHRER K (B1aE() 20 1,212
- Foreign exchange swap contract (Note (ii)) — SNERERE K (A7 (i) 1,702 319
6,392 2,335
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19

20
(a)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(i) The Group entered into several foreign currency
forward contracts and foreign currency option
contracts with certain banks to mitigate the
currency risk arising from certain of its bank loans
and receivables denominated in USD and EUR.

(ii) The Group entered into several foreign exchange
swap contracts with bank to mitigate the currency
risk arising from receivables denominated in USD.

The fair value changes of above derivative financial
instruments were recognized in other net gains and
losses.

The analysis on the fair value measurement of the
above financial assets is disclosed in Note 34(e).

INVENTORIES

Inventories in the consolidated statements of
financial position comprise:

19

20
(a)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

fTESmMI A (F)

(i) AEBEE TRITAIL TE THNEEH
BHRINEERAH - ARREEE T
EL R B TRHE R IRTT B R R MR IR
EANEERRE -

(if) REBERITAIL T A TIHERRS
%) SARRAE R ASE ST AHE B B YRR E
AHEREER

FafTAEeRmITANAABEZS N H MU
& M EFRERER o

LS BEEN R ARBESTEDTRHK
¥34(e )ﬁ&
FE

FEMBRRARANEFEESE

As at December 31,

®W12H31A
2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
USD’ 000 USD’000
SFEDI FET
Raw materials R 187,557 248,885
Consumables SRS 3,941 5,743
Semi-finished goods + X fn 16,167 16,703
Finished goods SR o 435,453 321,782
643,118 593,113
Write down of inventories FEMUR (34,814) (62,162)
608,304 530,951

SEERERAT —F - mEER @
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4= A

I = /\ﬁﬁ%i&% METEE

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

20
(b)

(c)

©

INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 20 7#=FE(#)
The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) ®ERABIRIAEBZNEESESHMNU
recognized as an expense and included in profit T

or loss is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
USD’000 USD’000
=TT FET
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEREE 1,185,440 942,703
Written-off of inventories FEME (28,632) (1,880)
Provision for write-down of inventories 7 EMOR B 1,284 47,058
1,158,092 987,881

All inventories are expected to be recovered within one FEGFEESRBR —FRKE -

year.

Certain inventories of the Group were pledged as (¢) A&KEEETEFEECHEREARITERN
security for bank loans (see Note 24). Details are ER(FSHEME24) - FHEHIIWOT :
set out as follows:

As at December 31,

A12A31H
2024 2023
2024 5% 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
=T FEx
Inventories FE 16,427 16,565
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IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

21  TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21 EBEZRURNREREBEREE
As at December 31,
MH12A831H
2024 2023
2024F 20234
Notes uUsSD’000 USD’000
Htat EH FE=r
Trade debtors and bills receivable, EWERERRERRE
net of loss allowance HNREERE
— measured at amortised cost — IREEN A2 (i)
Trade receivables B 5 W FIE 480,599 351,628
Bills receivables K EE 4,136 2,424
484,735 354,052
— measured at FVOCI —RUARAREEFEAR (ii)
EBEt AR M EK
WAt e
Trade receivables B S REWGRIE 4,738 4,959
489,473 359,011
All of the trade and bills receivables are expected to be TR 2B REUR RERRBERA/RN —F
recovered within one year. AKE -
Bills receivable primarily represent short-term bank FRUCR I3 8 298 B T AR SR B R DAY 2 B
= = o - o=
acceptance notes receivable that entitle the Group 5ﬁﬁﬂqﬁz@i”gﬂ‘ﬁi\”BE@EW%”&E'H%E{T
to receive the full face amount from the banks at AARE  ZSREBTERTAMERY
maturity, which generally ranges from 3 to 12 months 3E12fAA - EA@E ' 7"&%*@@“@”&?
1
from the date of issuance. Historically, the Group had BHREAEBRNE

experienced no credit losses on bills receivable.

SEERERAT —F - mEER @
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

21

©

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21 ZEZEKREREVERE (&)

(CONTINUED)

Notes: Hat -

(i) As at December 31, 2024, certain trade debtors of (i) 2024412 A31H + 1,921,000% ¢
USD1,921,000 (2023: USD1,538,000) were pledged (20234 : 1,538,000%7T) METES
as securities for bank loans of the Group (see Note FEWRIEE HEREARNERIRITER
24). IR (B2 RMEE24) -

(ii) Certain amounts of the Group’s trade debtors (i) AEENRAABEAEEEZHITAR
and bill receivables measured at FVOCI are trade ftb 2 T s 2 ) 8 59 T LUK T % FE U R 4R
debtors factored to banks in accordance with METeERBBRENRIBEEERZR
receivables purchase agreements. These factored RITRIENE 5 EIGIE - BLKEIE LY
trade debtors were held for both collection of ReRREEREZSERRENE HE
contractual cash flows and sales. The contractual WkTE - BSRBRFMENRERE
cash flows of the trade debtors comprised solely B ARBMNR - ARBEZESHNHEM
payments of principal and interest. Changes in 2HEWEAER - EEREEBHENE
fair value are recognized in other comprehensive a NFERR o
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss
of ECLs.

Aging analysis BRI AT

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis HERESHFR  ENEEZAHLINREER

of trade and bills receivables, based on the invoice BEHE S EWEIE & W E i fBR i 5 AT tn

date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: T -
As at December 31,
MW12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
USD’000 USD’000
FERT FEr

Within 6 months 6B A A 480,763 347,589

Over 6 months but within 12 months 61E A LA E{BE12(E A A 3,414 6,160

Over 12 months 1218 A A £ 558 303

484,735 354,052

Trade and bills receivables are due within 30 — 180
days from the date of billing. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
and bills receivables are set out in Note 34(a).
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22

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22 F{IF

RECEIVABLES

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

RIH - RS R HE AR

The Group rEH As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
USD’000 USD’'000
FEx FE
Current g5
Value added tax recoverable Al [E R (E 15,068 8,855
Other tax recoverable H b AT Uz B R IH 5,358 2,013
Prepayments for materials and expenses MRTER RIE R 16,289 55,245
Advances to employee A& B EH H 2K 902 905
Other deposits and receivables H R E S M E W TE 4,505 3,877
42,122 70,895
Less: loss allowance B ETERE - -
42,122 70,895
Non-current EEH
Prepayments for properties, plants and M - B REER 3,820 1,482
equipment TR 3B
Advances to staff M8 TEHAER 4,004 3,155
7,824 4,637
The Company ¥ NN As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
USD’000 USD’000
FE5x FET
Current s
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NG B e 118,050 196,486

All of prepayments, deposits and other receivables
current balances are expected to be recovered or

recognized as expense within one year.

BERMNFKIEA RESREMREFIENE
HEBRTRREN —FRROKERRM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

RERRESENRERERN

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) HERBELEEYERE:
As at December 31,
H12A318
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
USD’000 UsSD’000
TER FEx
Cash at bank R17TIR & 328,688 296,280
Cash in hand FHERES 70 57
328,758 296,337
Note: Hiaz -

As at December 31, 2024, cash and cash equivalents
situated in Mainland China amounted to USD252,624,000
(2023: USD256,571,000). Remittance of funds out of
Mainland China is subject to relevant rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control.

M2024%12A318 URFEAMHIEE
MRS EEWEHE 252,624,000 7T (2023
4 : 256,571,0003%7T) ° K& &L PR A
BB THINEE HIAERBRETE -

(b) Pledged deposits comprise: (b) EHREREHE:
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
USD’000 USD’000
X FEx
Pledged deposits for LA & IEm 7 3K
— issuance of bills payable — BITEMNEE 4,765 3,733
— issuance of banking facilities — BITIRITHE 15,424 14,511
20,189 18,244

The pledged deposits will be released upon the
settlement of letters of credit and bills payable and by
the Group or the expiry of relevant banking facilities.

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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23

(c)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to (c)

cash generated from operations

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

RERBEEENRERER (H)

BRBAFIE(BE) EEERBSRSNY

AR

Year ended December 31,

BZ12B3ALEFE
2024 2023
2024% 20234
Note USD’000 USD’000
it Er T£n
Profit/(loss) before taxation BHAFE/(B58) 132,763 (48,856)
Adjustments for: AT B R -
Depreciation of properties, plants and equipment % BERRERE 6(c) 49,289 28,285
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENE 6(c) 6,274 7,616
Amortization of intangible assets B EESH 6(c) 401 280
Net finance costs BENAFE 6(a) 5,250 3,290
Share of loss of an associate AMEBERREE 17 17,344 18,341
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of properties, LENE - BEREE 5(b) (286) 46
plants and equipment (Ws)/ BiEFE
Net losses on disposal of leases HEREBRTE 5(b) 605 1,226
Net realized and unrealized loss on convertible bonds ~ ATEREAFNEEERAZBHEFE 5(b) - 630
Net realized and unrealized gains on financial NAABEHERAEBHAEH 5(b) (515) (948)
assets at FVPL other than convertible bonds ERNSBEECERRAER
W5 (TARERRIN)
Net realized and unrealized loss on derivative BERRAERERTE 5(b) (4,120) 12,181
financial instruments fTEeRIA
Restructuring cost BHEKA 5(b) 23,032 -
Provision for impairment loss on trade and REBEREL S REMENGE 6(c) 2,180 1172
other receivables
Provision for write-cown of inventories FEMREE 6(c) 1,284 47,058
Net foreign exchange gain R ey (2,136) (6,743)
Operating profit before changes in working capital ~&€E&&BHANLLE 231,365 63,578
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits BRER (Em),/ R (1,032) 1,422
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE(Em),/ wb (78,637) 23,870
Increase in trade and bills receivables BHRWHEREREREN (132,372) (141,688)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and BETE - RESREMEKERD 27,924 7,231
other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in right to returned goods asset ~ REISWEEMERHL /(3210) 9,732 (21,831)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables kR ZEEn/ (5) 91,506 (69,498)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals i EMFIEREFBREM/(HD) 61,968 (66,532)
(Decrease)fincrease in warranty provision REBERL)/Em (21,332) 12,544
(Decrease)/increase in refund liabilities from EEEFMEFER D)/ Em (12,424) 29,672
right of return
Decrease in defined benefit retirement plans obligation ~ FE@FIE K EELHD (36) (36)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income EEMEEM/(RD) 1,009 (89)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations mems /(R B 177,671 (161,357)

RIEFRERAT —T_FFHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)

(AT [T )T - b= H59)

(d)

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23 HBRE&RBESEEYREFER(E)
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (d) ®BETHELENEEYER
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's TRAMRTAEEEREETHEENBED
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash 2 (EERekIREEY) - ETHE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing EMBEAEBSRENARKRERENA
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or SEGARERERAESBHBZHIEAK
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s BEREETHNRERENAE -
consolidated cash flow statements as cash flows from
financing activities.
Bank Interest Lease
loans payable liabilities Total
FITER FERTFIS HEBE FeE
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’'000
TEx F=xx T=x TE=r
(Note 24) (Note 27) (Note 25)
(K1:224) (Fraze7) (Het25)
AtJanuary1,2023  R2023%1A1R . N E L .
Changes from financing cash flows: BRERSTEEE .
Proceeds from bank loans RITERAEFIE 346,345 = = 346,345
Repayment of bank loans HBRTER (348,834) = = (348,834)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERHEERSMELRES = = (6,346) (6,346)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERAEERSMAEHS = = (590) (590)
Interest paid ERFE - (8,816) = (8,816)
Total changes from financing cash flows BARSHERDER (2489)  (8816) (6936 _ (18241)
ot AN e L = R L
Other changes: Hir s
Decrease in lease liabilities from FRHERE - - (3,609) (3,609)
disposal leases during the year HEEERD
Increase in lease liabilities from FRFILIAER - = 998 998
entering into new leases MEaEEM
during the year
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) FBHX (f1i76(a) = 8,819 590 9,409
Total other changes Hin BB = 8,819 (2,021) 6,798

©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23

(d)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (continued)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

23 HBRERRESFEYRERER(E)

(d) REFDELENEEHR(E)

Bank Interest Lease
loans payable liabilities Total
BITER EAFE HEEE At
USD’ 000 UsD’ 000 USD’ 000 USD’ 000
TER TER TER TER

(Note 24) (Note 27) (Note 25)

(Hist24) (H&t27) (Hf&£25)

At December 31, 2023 and M2023F12831B R 323,640 452 12,381 336,473
January 1, 2024 2024%1A1AH
Changes from financing cash flows: RER&FELE :
Proceeds from bank loans RITEFMEHIE 433,682 = = 433,682
Repayment of bank loans BEBITER (457,772) - - (457,772)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEREMNERTH - - (4,071) (4,071)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEREMFIEHS - - (515) (515)
Interest paid ERFE - (10,571) - (10,571)
Total changes from financing cash flows BEAE & REZEEE (24,090) (10,571) (4,586) (39,247)
Exchange adjustments EHFAR (3,996) - (971) (4,967)
Other changes: Hit 2
Increase in lease liabilities from FRRTUHEER - - 6,585 6,585
entering into new leases MEEEEM
during the year
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) FBHZ (f1i26(a) - 10,466 515 10,981
Total other changes Hin B e B - 10,466 7,100 17,566
At December 31, 2024 M2024F12831H 295,554 347 13,924 309,825

SERRERAT —% - MEER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
(e) Total cash flow for leases (e)

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases
comprise the following:

RERRESEYRERFR (H)

HERSREBAR
FABERSREBRNFABEATRE

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A318LEE

2024 2023

2024 20234

USD’000 UsSD’000

SEEbT FEx

Within operating cash flows REEHSTREA 2,655 2,864
Within financing cash flows REEREREAN 4,586 6,936
7,241 9,800

These amounts relate to the following:

ZEFRRENTEBHR

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

USD’000 USD’'000

FE5x FET

Lease rentals paid ENHEERES 7,241 9,800

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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24

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

BANK LOANS 24 RITER
The maturity profile for the interest-bearing bank loans REBREHAR - REERARAOF SRIT
of the Group and the Company at the end of each ERMEESERAT

reporting period is as follows:

As at December 31,

M12H31H

2024 2023
2024F 20234
USD’ 000 uSD’000
F=rx FETT
Short-term bank loans %Eﬁsﬁfﬁﬁ%,%k 126,599 138,822
Current portion of long-term bank loans REBRITERNE BRI H 66,020 59,363
Within 1 year or on demand 1FRNIREREER 192,619 198,185
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F%B2FR 102,935 115,130
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FZESFNR - 10,325
102,935 125,455
295,554 323,640

At the end of each reporting period, the bank loans NEIRER - RITETHEMRIERINT

were secured and guaranteed as follows:

As at December 31,

H12A318
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
USD’000 UsSD’000
=T FE

Bank loans RITER

- Secured — B 34,546 61,311
- Secured and guaranteed — BEAREER 131,879 144,013
— Guaranteed — AR 87,488 64,947
— Unsecured and unguaranteed — B R EER 41,641 53,369
295,554 323,640

SEERERAT —F - mEER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

24 BANK LOANS (CONTINUED) 24 SRITEM (&)
Note: Hiaz
(i) The Group’s bank loans were secured by certain (@) ARERRITEFARREANETAE

assets of the Group. An analysis of the carrying
value of these assets is as follows:

TEEIR - ZFEENBREEDTNOT

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
EY FEx
Plants and buildings (Note 12) W E REF (KiE12) - 31,740
Leasehold land (Note 13) HE i (H5713) - 21,852
Inventories (Note 20) T8 (#fat20) 16,427 16,565
Trade and bills receivables (Note 21) B 2N IE R BN E 1,921 1,538

(HieE21)

Pledged deposits (Note 23(b)) EIRTF R (H5#23(b)) 15,424 14,511
Interest in an associate (Note 17) RS R RIS (K7L 17) 13,226 17,069
46,998 103,275

As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of
the interest in an associate pledged as securities for
bank loans were based on the pledged 12,700,000
shares as proportionate to the total shares held
by the Group (2023: 12,700,000 shares) multiplied
by the Group’s year-end carrying amount of the
interest in an associate.

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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26

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

LEASE LIABILITIES 25 fHEAE

At December 31, 2024, the lease liabilities were MR2024%F12A31H HEBBEREERBR
repayable as follows: U

2024 2023
20245 20234
USD’000 USD’000
FTEx FET
Within 1 year 1FER 5,157 2,690
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&E2F R 3,760 3,471
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FERZB5FER 4,169 4,058
After 5 years 5% 1% 838 2,162
8,767 9,691
13,924 12,381

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 26 EBIZENREREMARE

As at December 31,

M12A318
2024 2023
2024 20234
USD’ 000 UsD’000
FEx FET
Trade payables = ANE 294,758 206,781
Bills payable NS 23,184 18,173
317,942 224,954

SRBERARAR —F=EFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

26 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

EZRAFEAREBANRE (&)

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis HERETHR  EXRERAHMNBEHEMNK
of trade and bills payables, based on the invoice date, ERENEBERESTHOT
is as follows:
As at December 31,
MW12A831H
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
USD’000 UsD’000
F=75 FEx
Within 3 months 3MEAR 253,734 156,043
3 to 12 months 3Z=12{@A 64,208 68,911
317,942 204,954

All of the trade and bills payables are expected to be
settled within one year or repayable on demand.

Supplier finance arrangements

The Group has entered into certain reverse factoring
arrangements with banks. Under these arrangements,
the banks pay suppliers the amounts owed by the
Group in early payment terms, which are upon
suppliers’ demand after the invoice date. The Group
then settles with the banks between 90 — 120 days,
which are the original due dates with the suppliers,
without interest. The interest arising from such
arrangements are beared by the suppliers.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
Group has presented the payables to the banks under
these arrangements as “‘trade and bills payables”, in
view of the nature and function of such liabilities are
similar to the Group's trade payables to suppliers, and
these liabilities are part of the working capital used in
the Group’s normal operating cycle. As at December
31, 2024, the carrying amount of financial liabilities
under these arrangements included in the “trade and
bills payables” amounted to USD54,159,056 (January
1, 2024: USD23,119,857), USD43,165,366 of which
suppliers have received payments from the banks.

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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26

27

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 26

Supplier finance arrangements (continued)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, payments
to the banks are included within operating cash flows

based on the nature of the arrangements.

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

EZRAFEAREBANRE (&)
HEmRE =5 (8)

REEBLZHENMEE  REARERER
A RARTONFEFARERSRER °

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27 HiENRERESER
The Group REE
As at December 31,
MW12H31H
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
USD’ 000 USD’000
FX5x FEr
Other payables and accrued charges H b FEATRUE R FEET 2 132,312 95,766
Salaries, wages, bonus and benefits payable  EffE& « T& - JE4LREF) 38,642 13,988
Payables for purchase of properties, plants BEME  BER 8,190 16,543
and equipment KR EN IR
Interest payables FERFILE 347 452
Other tax payables H A pEAFR A 17,109 15,758
196,600 142,507
N\ FH
The Company AR
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
USD’000 USD’000
FXx FEx
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE AT BT 8 1 R RIR 6,353 7,122
Other payables and accruals H b R RUE R IERT & A 86 22
6,439 7 144

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to
be settled within one year or repayable on demand.

Note:

Other payables and accrued charges primarily comprise
accruals for marketing and advertising fee, utility expenses,

service fee and other expenses.

FrAE MR SRIA R B BERERHR —F
NEERAREREE -

Hiat -

Htp B EA T EBEEHRES
ER ARFEERAX  RBEBREGBEXHOE

s -
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

28

(a)

200

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 28 &5 BRARRANFAER
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current taxation in the consolidated statements (3) mEMBRREFHEABERE

of financial position represents:

As at December 31,

MW12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023
USD’ 000 USD’000
EH FEx
At the beginning of the year REH) 3,939 (4,526)
Provision for the year: FREE
- PRC Corporate Income Tax — PREMBEMED (10,296) =
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BEEREH (5,612) -
— Income tax for tax jurisdictions outside — PR RBEBRINGGE (4,499) (3,786)
PRC and Hong Kong AEEERMNMAEH
(16,468) (8,312)
Over-provision in respect of prior years B FEBEERE (53) (226)
Tax paid: EERIA
- PRC Corporate Income Tax — REPERBEH 10,584 8,314
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BANEH 221 6,808
— Income tax for tax jurisdictions outside — RERBEBEINRIE 3,702 1,209
PRC and Hong Kong AEEERMNMAEH
14,507 16,331
Tax refund ERBIIA (4,520) (3,987)
Exchange adjustment T 26 133
At the end of the year RER (6,508) 3,939
Represented by: RATEIBEZS)
Taxation recoverable AT U [ % TE 1,757 10,972
Taxation payable FEI T 1E (8,265) (7,033)
(6,508) 3,939

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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IN=RIRGESEL RS

at

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

28 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 28 #IK&E&UMBHRRRANHAEBE (F)

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized (b) CERREZEHBEEEREERE:
represents:

(i) The components of deferred tax assets/ (i) RA SRR R AR AR LR A
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated é“iz S (BE) AR D ERER
statement of financial position and the KRS
movements during the year are as follows:

Fair value
change of
Fair value financial
change of assets at
derivative  Depreciation Accumulated  FVPL and
Provision  Unrealized financial of properties, amortization  derivative
forasset  profitson  Deductible Deferred instruments plants, of intangible financial ~ Undistributed
impairment inventories  taxlosses  income liabilities and equipment assets  instruments profits  Others Total
URAEE
fREH
L-EEON
EHREN
fixem SHEER
IR8% VES fiEem
&E #& EN Haf BER 370 IAH
HERE  AERAN REEE  BENE EE2D RENE Zit8E AAEESD FARAD A @it
§'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
S SE Tirn  FEn Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin  TEn TEn
At January 1, 2023 1202351 1A 4415 22,959 1,461 557 595 (5,305) - (516) (6,436) 892 18622
Recognized in profit or loss  FMERHER 7,507 2,004 7,169 (13) (18) (2,665) - 451 1073 (100) 15718
Recognized in other REMEE - - - - - - - - - 5 5
comprehensive income Mz
Exchange adjustment B A% 2% ) 70 (10) (1) 220 = 10 a (19) 318
AtDecember 31, 2023 and 20234128318 12,036 25,180 8,700 534 576 (7,750) - (55) (5,336) 78 34663
January 1, 2024 R2024F1A1R
Recognized in profit or loss  MB&HE (4,488) 10,282 (5,714) 151 476 1,006 2 (820) (1,298) 788 405
Recognized in other REMZE - - - - - - - - - (6) 6)
comprehensive income Mz
Acquisition of a subsidiary  WEHBAR - - - - - - (381) - - - (381)
(Note 37) (Hits7)
Exchange adjustment B (188) - (208) (10) @) 104 14 11 179 39 (61)
At December 31, 2024 R2024512A318 7,360 35,462 2,178 675 1,050 (6,640) (345) (864) (6,455) 1,599 34,620
RIEERBR AT —TZHFFR @
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

28

(b)

()

200

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 28 #HRAMBERARANFEH (E)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized (b) CERREZEHEEEREER : (&)
represents: (continued)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statements of (i) LR A SRR R R -
financial position:
As at December 31,
M12A318
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
USD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FET
Net deferred tax assets recognized RERE BIIEAR 2R R A 51,781 47,804
in the consolidated statements BB IHE EFE
of financial position
Net deferred tax liabilities RGBT AR R R R (17,161) (13,141)
recognized in the consolidated EERIE B EF5E
statements of financial position
34,620 34,663
Deferred tax assets not recognized (c) KRERNELEHREEE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2(u), the Group did not recognize deferred tax
assets of USD17,604,000 as at December 31, 2024
(2023: USD8,972,000), in respect of cumulative tax
losses USD75,550,000 as at December 31, 2024 (2023:
USD36,746,000). It was not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilized will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28

(d)

29

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognized

At December 31, 2024, the Group did not recognize
deferred tax liabilities of USD22,196,000 (2023:
USD16,309,000), in respect of distributable profits of
the Group’s subsidiaries amounted to USD208,774,000
(2023: USD147,544,000). As the Group controls
the timing of the reversal of temporary differences
associated with undistributed profits of its subsidiaries
and it has been determined that it is probable that
certain portion of the undistributed profits earned by
the Group’s subsidiaries will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future, therefore no deferred tax liabilities
arisen from above mentioned undistributed profits not
probable to be distributed in the foreseeable future was
recognized as at December 31, 2024.

PROVISIONS

The Group’s provisions are analyzed for reporting
purposes as below:

28

(d)

29

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

REVBRRRANFES ()

AEZNELEREAEE

MR2024F 128318 ' AEEVEFEAEEH
B8 A A A Al 5K )8 208,774,000 7T
(20234 : 147,544,000 7T ) HERIELE I8
8 1&22,196,0003% 7T (20234 : 16,309,000
EIL)  c HRASEZFIHZEHBRARA
KOIRFEEANERGEEBRMANE - B
HEWETRABERRRTRATEDRAS
BT B A & FT B A K o R B E B B T B
2 At - 20246128318 @ ERER
A KRATRER AT TE R AR R D IR A K 5 R F
HEENBELEHIBEAE -

4]

AEBBRREM S OBREIMNET

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FE=
Current BN HA 32,313 49,617
Non-current JERNER 38,916 20,060
71,229 69,677

RIEFRERAT —T_FFHR
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(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

29

()

(i)

D

PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 29 B (&)
As at December 31, 2024, the Group's provisions MN2024FE12A31H » REFENEETE
mainly comprise warranty provision of USD48,197,000 BIERIER#48,197,000% 7T (20234
(2023: USD69,677,000) and provision for restructuring. 69,677,000 70) MEHEREE - FAEFHW
The movements during the year are as below. e
Warranty Provision for
Provision restructuring Total
RSB EHBE At
USD’ 000 USD’000 USD’000
FEx FEx FTEx
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H 57,089 — 57,089
Provision in the year FRNEE 57,273 - 57,273
Utilization of provision Eyhaske g (44,729) = (44,729)
Exchange adjustment E H AR 44 = 44
At December 31, 2023 and R2023%F 12 A31H X 69,677 - 69,677
January 1, 2024 2024%1HA1H
Provision in the year FANEE 48,012 23,032 71,044
Utilization of provision EUlEEc L (69,344) = (69,344)
Exchange adjustment M 5, 3R 2 (148) = (148)
At December 31, 2024 MR2024F12A31H 48,197 23,032 71,229
Warranty provision (i) RIGHEE
Under the terms of the Group’s sales agreements, the BIEAEERHE R RGH  AEBEGER
Group will rectify any product defects arising within $HE B BI1E W G sk = FF N E A BV TR E SR R
two or three years of the date of sale. The warranty o RIEBBREEEEANBAEREHASE
provision represents management’s best estimate of EREEERELENREEAEMIELNRE
the Group's service commitments arising from products fhEt -
sold, based on past claims.
Provision for restructuring (i) EERE

In October 2024, the Group decided to relocate
certain Group’s manufacturing function from Germany
to Vietnam or China (“the restructuring plan”). As at
December 31, 2024, the provision for the restructuring
plan mainly represented the estimated restructuring
cost of USD23,032,000.
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

REFUND LIABILITIES FROM RIGHT OF 30 RE#ANEREE
RETURN
Total
st
USD’000
FEx
At January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H 6,432
Provision in the year FREE 52,246
Utilization of provision B RRE (22,574)
At December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2024 R2023%F 12 A31H X 20241 A1H 36,104
Provision in the year FRNEE 34,950
Utilization of provision BB (47,374)
At December 31, 2024 R2024F12A31H 23,680
Under the terms of the Group’s sales agreements, BRBEAEENESHRGER  NEEHER
the Group will rectify any product return arising within SHE B BB =@ A NEEMN T EMERE -
three months of the date of sale. The refund liabilities BRRABEEREEENATLCRYASEER
represent management’s best estimate of the Group’s B & E mE A A AR 15 A GE M 1E A &
service commitments arising from products sold, based LI
on past experiences.
DEFERRED INCOME 31 IE3E W 2
As at December 31, 2024, deferred income represented M2024F12A31H " BEWR=EIEHR
unamortized conditional government grants amounting o 3 S B R HD R B H B 15 BT B
to USD4,503,000 (2023: USD3,558,000), for land 4,503,000 7T (20234 : 3,558,000%7T) ©

levelling compensation.
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

32
(a)

@

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Defined benefit retirement plans obligation

The Group has defined benefit retirement plans
(“Plans”) for its employees in the German subsidiaries.

The Group provides pension benefits for those
employees who retire in the form of life-long annuities.
These are in-line with usual German market practice
and do not constitute any unusual or company-specific
risks or require any specific regulatory framework to be
taken into account. The costs of the Plans are solely
funded by the Group.

The Group engaged an independent actuarial firm,
Kern Mauch & Kollegen GmbH, to assist management
to perform the actuarial valuations. The actuarial
valuations of the defined benefit retirement obligation
were performed in accordance with HKAS 19
“Employee Benefits” by actuaries using the projected
unit credit method.

(i) The amounts recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

32
(a)

BERRER
RERBMBAKTEEME

RE Bt R BB A R YR 8§ R E
BARARFTE (T5HE1)) -

AEEUREFENEAR/RKERRMER
REAEF] o 1t B — AR BB IS MO — 20
BEABREMETRARRERRLERE
BEMFENEEER - StEKATEZHEA
SEBAT -

AEEDZEBIHBEE L FKern Mauch &
Kollegen GmbH# B EIRE#ITIHEHE -

AERBIRAREBOBEGERBEMERA
i‘ﬁ ABMNEEERBEASSTERE 195
[EERHIENTT -

() REEMBRARFERNSED

///

As at December 31,
M12H31H

2024
2024 20234
USD’ 000 UsSD’000
EP FET

2023

Present value of defined benefit
retirement plans obligation

AERAME

RIRETEIRERIRE 354 434

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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(a)

(CONTINUED)

(continued)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 32 RBEBEERN (&)
Defined benefit retirement plans obligation (a) HREFEFRKEIEE(E)
(i)  Movements in the present value of the defined (i)  AERIEBRAKFEEENHRELS :
benefit retirement plans obligation:
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEEn FET
At the beginning of the year RE A 434 473
Remeasurements effect recognized in R E 2 HEURZE A FERH
other comprehensive income BT ERE
— Actuarial gain — BEWE (21) (21)
— Exchange adjustment — EXAE (23) 18
390 470
Benefits paid by the plans FTEIFT X mAE F (48) (54)
Current service cost BIVER AR 75 X AN - 1
Interest cost FE A 12 17
At the end of the year RER 354 434

iy
+>Zr

WAERAR —F =g @
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ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

32 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 32 BEBEERN &)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Defined benefit retirement plans obligation (a) HREEFERKHESE (E)

(continued)

(iii) Amounts recognized in the consolidated (iii)
statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income are as follows:

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
USD’000 USD’000
FXx FEr
Current service cost BIVER AR 75 Ak AN - 1
Interest on defined benefit retirement RERIBRARFEIREFE 12 17
plans obligation
Total amounts recognized in profit RIEH RN A ST 12 18
or loss (Note 6(b)) (Htat6(b))
Actuarial gain FEE W (21) (21)
Exchange adjustment HE 5, S8 B (23) 18
Total amounts recognized in other RE M 2 R R (44) (3)
comprehensive income Hmew
Total defined benefit costs AEBRKAEE (32) 15
(iv)  The current service cost and the interest on (iv)  ENEARRFSEK AR RERAKEEF LR

defined retirement obligation are recognized
in the following line items in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss:

RAEBRmKRNATIER AR

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
s FEx
Cost of sales SHER A 12 18

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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32

(a)

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 32
(CONTINUED)

Defined benefit retirement plans obligation (a)
(continued)

(v) Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as
weighted averages) and sensitivity analysis are
as follows:

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

BRBERERN (&)
RERBFBRAKBIEE ()

(v)  EXRHBEMRR CAIEFEHERTR)
RBREEDHWT

As at December 31,

W12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FET
Discount rate BRIR & 3.19% 3.10%
Rate of pension increase RIRE AN R 1% 1%
Retirement age IRIKNEHR age 65 age 65
Staff turnover BImAX 0.00% 0.00%

The below analysis shows how the defined
benefit obligation would have increased/
(decreased) as a result of 0.20% increase/
(decrease) in the discount rate:

TOANER T RERFES K0
EREIR g0 Rl 4*) 0.20% i 18
m/ Osd)

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in 0.20% in 0.20% in 0.20% in 0.20%
#110.20% #20.20% #H10.20% HA0.20%
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
TEx TEx FET F=E=
Discount rate ARIR & (5) 5 (6) 6

The above sensitivity analysis is based on
the assumption that changes in actuarial
assumptions are not correlated and therefore
it does not take into account the correlations
between the actuarial assumptions.

ERGERES T HEBRIEERRE
EARAE - B R RBEERRZME
HAREAE -

RIEFRERAT —T_FFHR

D
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

32

(b)

D

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

Defined contribution retirement plans

Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations
in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group
participate in defined contribution retirement plans
(the “Schemes”) organized by the local authorities
whereby the entities are required to make contributions
to the Schemes based on a percentage of the eligible
employees’ salaries during the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2024. Contributions to the Schemes vest
immediately. Under the Schemes, retirement benefits
of existing and retired employees are payable by the
relevant scheme administrators and the Group has no
further obligations beyond the annual contributions.
There is no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

The Group’s subsidiaries in jurisdictions other than the
PRC, make contributions to local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in
the jurisdiction in which such subsidiary located.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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(b)

BEREEN (/)

REMRFRAKE

R IR A B /O AR &5 B0 5 AR I G - AR
R BB 8 & &) 2 L i 5 B 4B A B0 SR E 3K
RIKETEI(TEH8I]) - BBt - BE2023F K&
2024F12A31HILFE EHEREAER
GEREEFESHE—EE S LM EEL
B o WEFBWEL M RBN R B - IRIBET
2 A EE B ARSI NBEERERIKE
BRRKERN - BREERTI - AEELE
Tl — 2P B F o ANEE I A B LARK IR
BEEFOKFRSUAEK ©

.

AEBRFERINDEE SR OB A BR
BZMBARMERDEEEROAMSEE
R AP R & R R SRR K -
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33
(a)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 33

Movement in components of equity (a)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group's
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated

Re MR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

BEX - RERRE
REARIDTHEE

REE AR

BRSNS EKRE DR

HRER cHNHBRANGAEREDRK -

AR m O {E B #E 2

MR MEFENEFRZ

statements of changes in equity. Details of the changes e EE BRI T ¢
in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
The Company ARTH
Reserves
3]
Share Other Retained
capital reserve profits Total
BA  HitEE REFE st
Note USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
Hist TEx TEx TEx TEx
Balance at January 1, 2023 R2023%1 A1 BRY4 R 502,654 21,077 165,132 688,863
Changes in equity for 2023 2023 FMEREE
Profit and total comprehensive FAFER - - 58,295 58,295
income for the year 2 EREHBE
Appropriation of dividends BERE 33(b) - (36,691)  (36,691)
Issuance of ordinary shares, net BITE Bk 33(c) 99,205 = = 99,205
of issuance costs (FBRBATARA)
Balance at December 31, 2023 R2023F12 A31 B & 601,859 21,077 186,736 809,672
and January 1, 2024 2024F 1 A1 BRO& &
Changes in equity for 2024 2024 F R
Loss and total comprehensive FAEER - -  (26,712) (26,712)
income for the year SENELE
Appropriation of dividends BRRE 33(b) - - (18,091)  (18,091)
Purchase of shares for share FhAR 17 2Ry ET 2 33(c) - - (2,557) (2,557)
award scheme BERH
Balance at December 31, 2024 20244 601,859 21,077 139,376 762,312
12 A31 BRI &R

RIEEBARAT —F_PFF
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33

(b)

D

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 33 ¥& - ##ERRE (&)
(CONTINUED)

Dividends (b) RKE
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) FRE AL ] iR IR E
company attributable to the year
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
USD’000 uSD’000
FEx FET
Dividends proposed after the end of FHEHAKRBEIREZENIRE AT E 40,987 18,091
the reporting period of US$0.0802  #A%0.08023% T (HHE R &R L&
per ordinary share (equivalent §%0.625877T) (20234 : FiRE
to HK$0.6258 per ordinary share)  ##%0.0354% T (FHER R ER
(2023: US$0.0354 per ordinary §%0.2764787T))
share (equivalent to HK$0.2764
per ordinary share))
The dividend proposed after the end of the RBMEHR  RBREFRENERZS
reporting period has not been recognised as a IKIE B M ARERAEEE -
liability at the end of the reporting period.
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (ii) F A B FEHERFAT IR BE B FE
Company attributable to the previous financial JET K2 7 iR 5 A R B

year, approved and paid during the year

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A318LEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

USD’000 UsSD’000

ETT FE

Dividends in respect of B 5k & ERER 18,091 36,691

previous financial years
declared and approved

BEFBFEBRE

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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(c)

(CONTINUED)

Share capital

()

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 33 ¥& - ##ERRE (&)
(c) EB=X
Issued share capital (i) BEZETRA
Number of HKD uUsD
Note shares ’000 ’000
k=3 ROEAE FHET FEx
Ordinary shares, issued &K -
and fully paid: BITRBE :
At January 1, 2023 R2023%F1A1H 490,218,811 3,918,527 502,654
Issuance of ordinary BITE AR 20,835,000 773,800 99,205
shares, net of issuance  (FIBREEITAAS)
costs
At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 511,053,811 4,692,327 601,859
and 31 December 2024 20244
12H31H
Note: Bfat -

On January 19, 2023, the Company issued
and allotted additional 20,835,000 shares
at an offering price of HKD37.50 per share
by way of public offering pursuant to the
over-allotment option. Net proceeds from
these issues amounted to HKD773,800,092
(USD99,205,140 equivalent) (after offsetting
costs directly attributable to the issue of
shares of HKD7,512,408 (USD963,129
equivalent), which were recorded in share
capital).

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to
time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the Company's
residual assets.

(i) ®2023F 1198 » "R AIRIEBEE
RENARBEE A NIREEBTR
37.507%8 817 R Fd 3§51 20,835,000
B - ZZFRITHEREBFER
773,800,092 7T ($HE 799,205,140
Er) (BIEEBTROBEEEMLKAE
7,512,408 7T (1HE 7963,129% 7T)
% ZERABFARAE) o

REFEBRQ
WEEE °

AEBIZE1351& - AR AL @A

EREBRFEABEERITRERNEER
ARBEHLRERBROHER— —r&mig e
IARRMKBKEEMNS - MEEEAKRE
EES::fva

RIEFRERAT —T_FFHR
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

33

(c)

220

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

Share capital (continued)

(1)

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

Purchase of shares for share award scheme

On January 29, 2024, the Board proposed to
adopt a share scheme under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules (the “2024 Share Scheme”). The
purposes of the 2024 Share Scheme are (1) to
bind the interests of shareholders, the Company
and employees to focus on the realization of the
Company’s strategic development objectives
and to drive the performance growth; and (2)
to improve our long-term incentive mechanism
to attract and retain outstanding talents and to
fully mobilize the senior management team and
core employees. On February 20, 2024, the
resolution for adopting the 2024 Share Scheme
was passed in an extraordinary general meeting.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
trustee of the Company purchased its shares on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for

33 EHX  @ERKRE (H)

(c) KBx(@#E
(i) B2 EE B R

MN2024F1 5298 EF2ER
B EMBRANEN7ERN —BRMDET
£l ([2024 F B 1DFTEl]) - 2024 F ]
REEIEE()BRE - ARARE
BRI EHE—R - LWEEFNRER
RAARKEBEEREBEREES XS
B R(2)7TERMA R B SE#
#l - DARRS| R B G AT RFEHH
PaAEEEEKRZOEENER
Mo R2024F2 H20H © #2024
FROFENABERREFIRE
FEmB -

HZ2024F12A31BHIEFE - AR
AT EAT2024 FR AT EIRE
BEMARXSHERABBAKG - &

the purpose of the 2024 Share Scheme. Details B
are as follows:
Number of Highest Lowest

Shares price paid price paid Aggregate
repurchased per share per share price paid
FrEB A sREHN gREM 2NRE
K5 E BSE BIEE B
HKD HKD HKD
Date =R BT BT BT
June 27, 2024 20246 H27H 580,000 17.92 17.08 10,184,234
June 28, 2024 202446 H28H 200,000 18.48 17.88 3,662,622
July 2, 2024 202457 H2H 97,200 19.00 17.90 1,781,064
July 3, 2024 202457 H3H 228,900 19.24 17.80 4,315,176
Total st 1,106,100 19,943,096
Equivalent to USD #ERZETT 2,557,000
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33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Share capital (continued)

(1)

Purchase of shares for share award scheme
(continued)

The total amount paid on the purchased shares
of HKD19,943,096 (USD equivalent 2,557,000)
was paid wholly out of retained profits.

As at December 31, 2024, no share was granted,
vested, exercised or forfeited under the 2024
Share Scheme.

(d)  Nature and purpose of reserves

()

(1)

Other reserve

Other reserve primarily represented the portion
of the grant date fair value of shares granted by
the Share Incentive Scheme to the directors and
employees of the Group.

PRC statutory reserve

Statutory reserve is established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the companies
comprising the Group which are incorporated in
the PRC.

In accordance with the PRC Company Law,
certain subsidiaries of the Group which are
domestic enterprises are required to allocate
10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their respective statutory reserves
until the reserves reach 50% of their respective
registered capital. For the entity concerned,
statutory reserves can be used to make good
previous years’ if any, and may be
converted into capital in proportion to the
existing equity interests of investors, provided
that the balance of the reserve after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the entity’s
registered capital.

losses,

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

33 EHX  @ERKRE (H)

(c) EA(&E)

(i)

BR 1 2R EEE R (B

FLEEARRD BT 48%8819,943,096 75 7T
(FBEMN2,557,000E7T) 2 EMIRE
B R B -

MN2024%12 318 » WERIE2024
FRMOEIEL - BB - TERIK
B o

(d) MEEOEERBER

()

(i)

V U+ JFI

A lEE

HAibfEfE T 2 e mtaRT
AEEEZERESHRMVREAH
NREERD

& B2 E (E

AT R TIRBAER BRI FOER
AR BEMAZHAREBET
REMABERARNRT

mﬁ¢I“ﬂEvEIWﬁ¥m$%
EETETHBARENMRERTE
ﬂﬁmﬂ%(&m%¢!5a£W%
E)éﬁiamﬁi%ﬁ'ﬁé%ﬁ

EFHZAFMEARRNS0% - A
g%ﬁm KAERER AR ERBE
FEMEE (WE)  LAFIREES
REBRA RO FIEAER - HEF
HEHEERET DR ZEREME
AH)25% o
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(d)

(e)

222

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(ifi) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of operations with
functional currency other than USD. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy as set out in Note 2(y).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintaining a balance between
the higher shareholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines
net debt as total current and non-current bank loans
and lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits. The Group defines capital as
including all components of equity.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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(d)

(e)
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BEXEE

AEEEREANEZBBRENRERNEELE
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g

AEBERNEBHEARBETRINE
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(e)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 33

(CONTINUED)

Capital management (continued)

(e)

The Group’s net debt to capital ratio are as follows:

(AZET [T /T - B = HIEE)

X - RERKRE ()

EXEHE (#)
REBRFEHEARLLFTMT ¢

As at December 31,

M12A318
2024 2023
2024 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FE5
Current liabilities: TMENE A
- Bank loans — HRITER 192,619 198,185
— Lease liabilities - HEBE 5,157 2,690
197,776 200,875
Non-current liabilities: EREBEE -
- Bank loans — RITER 102,935 125,455
— Lease liabilities — HHEAE 8,767 9,691
111,702 135,146
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B REeRAECEED (328,758) (296,337)
Pledged deposits HEIRFR (20,189) (18,244)
Adjusted net debt (Note) RARFEE (FE) - 21,440
Total equity A 1,036,693 960,621
Net debt to capital ratio BEKRERER 0% 2%

Note:

Net debt to capital ratio is zero when the amount of cash
and cash equivalent and pledged deposits of the Group is

higher than gross debt.

EARENRERRSEENRERERNE
HHEBEBAREN  FEHEALERT -

SEERAERAT —F - [EER @
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34

(a)

24

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group's
business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below:

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits and bills
receivable is limited because the counterparties are
reputable financial institutions with high credit standing,
for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group
as set out in Note 36, the Group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in
respect of these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 36.

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
30 to 180 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in industries or countries in which the customers
operate. Significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. As at December 31, 2024,
53% (2023: 57%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and 76% (2023:
81%) was due from the Group's five largest customers
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. The Group
segments its trade receivables based on geographic
regions, due to different loss patterns experienced in
the different regions.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables:

34

(a)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

BB ERE DIREE

(&)

ERET®MIAN

FERRE (&)
E SN R (B)

REBMARECLEMBNITEXLMENER
TEEAEEEFRR ZEAEESETRAR
FTEHRASEREREFAERNERTE
KRBT - R2024F12831H - 5k
W IE EEH D R A 53% (20234 : 57%)
FUREBASENZRARTS @ &76% (2023
F:81%) BRAREBNRERRARFE °

AEEZBSER2HRAEEEEN S B

EESERVABERRE  BRSBEIIER
BREREAESL - AN TRIMENEERR

NAE - AEBEIRBME S 5 HE 5 EBGR
1H o

TREM| T AEE RN E 5 EUGRIAE
ERkMEREEBRNESR

At December 31, 2024
7"2024%F12H31H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEER IRE48 5 BRRE
% USD’ 000 USD’ 000
% T=x FEx
North Americans k=
Current (not past due) BNER (R Hl) 0.01% 393,220 (32)
Less than 30 days past due BHIS0RIAT 0.29% 10,743 (31)
More than 31 days but less than AR R 31 K 1.75% 1,604 (28)
60 days past due BALR60K
More than 61 days but less than FaEEhEREIA S 0.00% = =
90 days past due BARI0K
More than 90 days past due BHIQ0 R 0.00% - -
405,567 (91)

RIEFRERAT —T_FFHR
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 HBXERESERSRIENAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)

(a)

229

(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

(a) FEERREE)
E SN R (B)

At December 31, 2024
M2024%F12A31H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FAHIEEE REA EiEEE
% USD’ 000 USD’ 000
% TER FET
Europe B
Current (not past due) BNER (R Hd) 0.02% 39,048 (8)
Less than 30 days past due BEABORLAT 0.03% 3,312 (1)
More than 31 days but less than A ERERA31 R 0.00% - -
60 days past due B RE0K
More than 61 days but less than B AR R 61 K 5.49% 91 (5)
90 days past due BALRR0K
More than 90 days past due BHEI0 R 8.19% 293 (24)
42,744 (38)
At December 31, 2024
R2024F12H31H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEH BB R FREA%E EERE
% USD’ 000 USD’ 000
% FEx FEx
Rest of the world it S EH At it &
Current (not past due) BUER (R Hp) 0.14% 27,767 (38)
Less than 30 days past due BHEIB0ORIAT 1.79% 1,063 (19)
More than 31 days but less than B AR 31 R 4.36% 527 (23)
60 days past due BLRR60K
More than 61 days but less than FaEEFEREIABN 5.12% 918 (47)
90 days past due BAR0K
More than 90 days past due BHIO0 KA 36.78% 3,589 (1,320)
33,864 (1,447)

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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34

(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 HiERKEERSHMIANAAERE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (continued) (a) FERRE)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEWIE (&)
At December 31, 2023
2023612 H31H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHIEEX FRE4A%E EtE R
% USD’000 USD’000
% FET FETT
North Americans k=
Current (not past due) BNER (R Hl) 0.01% 268,616 (37)
Less than 30 days past due BHISORIAT 0.25% 7,985 (20)
More than 31 days but less than B AR R 31K 1.27% 787 (10)
60 days past due BAR60K
More than 61 days but less than B BAERR61 K 1.31% 1,524 (20)
90 days past due B R0K
More than 90 days past due BHEQ0KR A 3.27% 2,750 (90)
281,662 (177)
At December 31, 2023
MR2023%F12H31H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T8 AR s 18 5 BREEFE ESIE B
% USD’000 USD’000
% FETT TET
Europe oM
Current (not past due) BUER (R Hp) 0.00% 36,647 (1)
Less than 30 days past due BHIB0ORIAT 0.00% 1,500 =
More than 31 days but less than B ERER A3 R 0.00% = =
60 days past due BARR60K
More than 61 days but less than MR RG1 R 0.16% 1,927 (3)
90 days past due BAR0K
More than 90 days past due BHO0 R A 20.14% 278 (56)
40,352 (60)

RIEFRERAT —T_FFHR
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

34

(a)

MBEAREERERIANAAEE

(&)

FERRE (&)
E SN R (B)

At December 31, 2023
202312 A31H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TE AR 1R FRE4A%E E R R
% USD’000 USD’000
% FETT TET
Rest of the world 5 H it &
Current (not past due) BUER (R El) 0.06% 25,606 (15)
Less than 30 days past due BHISOR AT 0.79% 1,014 (8)
More than 31 days but less than B AR R 31 K 1.73% 1,038 (18)
60 days past due BALRR60K
More than 61 days but less than FaEEhEREIAS 2.36% 424 (10)
90 days past due B R0K
More than 90 days past due BHQ0K A 30.05% 2,602 (782)
30,684 (833)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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34

(a)

(b)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 B ¥ERBREERSMIAENAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (continued) (a) FERRE)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEWIE (&)
Movement in the loss allowance in respect of trade EHE SEBRIBEEREEZSHT -
receivables is as follows:
North
Americans Europe China Total
= &M FE] #st
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
FEx FEx FET FEx
Balance at 1 January 2023 MW2023F 1 A1 AW EH 682 68 720 1,470
Impairment loss recognized BRI EEE 1,641 - (469) 1,172
Amounts written off FREMESHE (2,146) (14) 542 (1,618)
during the year
Exchange adjustment b H A% - 6 40 46
Balance at 31 December 2023 202312 431 HR&# 177 60 833 1,070
Balance at 1 January 2024 R2024% 1 A1 B84 6 177 60 833 1,070
Impairment loss recognized BRI EEE 66 28 2,086 2,180
Amounts written off FEMHEEE (152) (46) (1,441) (1,639)
during the year
Exchange adjustment e H A - (4) (31) (35)
Balance at 31 December 2024 122024412 B31 HE &% 91 38 1,447 1,576
Liquidity risk (b) REVMEREMR

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

AEEETEIGCLEERARSAREE
- BRRSAKEHRERRWREHR
ERMEBEEF  EERBLE —ERER
ERFRARBHATNESSHE - AEE
WBRRERENERERDESHTLREET
EEZHENER  NERERTEOR S
BRRE B EBEEN T HFGERE AR
REEHEERNRDESFR -
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ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 HEEREERSBIANAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (%)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) RENVERER ()
The following tables show the remaining contractual TEREINAEESRBENHR TEHNI G
maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities, which o EDNERENARUBRESRE (B1EK
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows AHFRFER IR FZFEMNEGE - RIKA
(including interest payments computed using HERAHNERMNEAENT M) KA
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current SEENROZELE :
at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay:
At December 31, 2024
R2024512A318
More than More than Carrying
Within 1yearbut 2 years but amount at
1 year or on less than less than More than December 31,
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2024
12024
15/ BiB1E BiB2E 12A318K
HRER BHM2E BHRSE BiB5E E H BEE
USD’000 USD’000 USD’ 000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
ET EJ EJ EJ EF ER
Bank loans HITER 198,734 104,701 - - 303,435 295,554
Lease liabilities HEGBR 5,521 4,009 4,491 919 14,940 13,924
Trade and bills payables BHRNFERENRE 317,942 - - - 317,942 317,942
Other payables and accruals AERFERENER 196,600 - - - 196,600 196,600
Refund liabilities from right of retun ~ REEFIMRZAE 23,680 - - - 23,680 23,680
742,477 108,710 4,491 919 856,597 847,700
Financial guarantees issued: BIHAMBER :
Maximum amount guaranteed (Nofe 36) B ERE® (HZ36) 21,562 - - - 21,562 21,562
Derivatives settled gross: ITETARERS:
Foreign currency forward and option ~ SMERHRBEAL
contracts (Nofe 19) (Hr19)
- outflow B (508,628) - - - (508,628) -
- inflow - A 508,647 - - - 508,647 -
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34

(b)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 HXEREERLEBIENAARAEE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) (b) RENVEREEE (&)
At December 31, 2023
#2023 12318
More than More than Carrying
Within Tyearbut 2 years but amount at
1 year or on less than less than More than December 31,
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2023
R2023F
15R3, BlE ek 12A31R#
BEX {BPR2EF [BAR55E e ERES @t e

UsD'000 UsD'000 UsD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000
TEIL TEL TEIL TEL TEIL TEL

Bank loans RITER 206,541 117,033 10,743 - 334,317 323,640
Lease liabilities REEE 3,043 3,740 4533 2,298 13,614 12,381
Trade and bills payables BARMNFERENRE 204,954 - = = 224,954 224,954
Other payables and accruals RS RE B 142,507 - - - 142,507 142,507
Refund liabilities from right of ROENNERERE 36,104 - - - 36,104 36,104

return

613,149 120,773 15,276 2,298 751,496 739,586

Financial guarantees issued: BLABBER :
Maximum amount guaranteed (Nofe 36) SSERSE (H:236) 21,884 - = = 21,884 21884
Derivatives settled gross: ETABRER:
Foreign currency forward and option  SMEEEIR EHEA L)

contracts (Nofe 19) (H219)
- outflow - i (396,875) - = = (396,875) =
- inflow - A 397,093 - - - 397,093 -

SERRERAT —% - MEER @
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

34

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 HERKEERSHMIANAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
Interest rate risk (c) A=ERE
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from AEENFNEREREFEREEHARKEAE
short-term and long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued oo EBFEREEMEERNERS
at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to SESHEREREFERR R AAEE
cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate FMERR EREEZENAEENEHERE
risk respectively. The Group's interest rate profile as RTEX() :
monitored by management is set out in (i) below:
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIE L
The following table details the interest rate TREFMNMEARAEEERERE
profile of the Group's total borrowings as at the BRI BN
end of the reporting period:
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Effective Effective
Interest rate Amount Interest rate Amount
BRAI= ka1l BRRFI= 8
% USD’ 000 % USD'000
% Txn % TErx
Fixed rate borrowings: EERRMEH
Bank loans RITER 1.980% - 157,963 2.500% - 187,030
3.050% 3.300%
Variable rate FBRREN:
borrowings:
Bank loans RITER 0.700% - 137,591 0.700% - 136,610
5.200% 5.959%
Total borrowings e e 295,554 323,640
Fixed rate borrowings as  ElE f| R &5 (G 53% 58%

[t £

a percentage of total BREENB DL
borrowings
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34

(c)

(d)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At December 31, 2024, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group’s profit after taxation and retained
profits by approximately USD1,165,000 (2023:
increased/decreased the Group’s loss after
taxation and retained profits by approximately
USD1,157,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s loss after
taxation (and retained profits) that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of each reporting period and
had been applied to floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group, which expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The impact
on the Group’s loss after taxation (and retained
profits) is estimated as an annualized impact on
interest expense of such a change in interest
rates. Fixed rate financial instruments are
excluded for the above analysis. The analysis is
performed on the same basis as 2023.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales, purchase and borrowings which give
rise to receivables, payables, cash balances and bank
loans that are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily USD and EUR.

34

(c)

(d)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

BEEREERSHIEN DA AREE

(&)

MERmEkE (8)
(i) RS

R2024F 12 A31 8 @ (At FI =&
EF . TRE100EES - TEATHE E A
BERFIENBRAT AEEMNR
BEFBERRBFERD ML
1,165,000 70 (20234 : AEE K
BrBite 1B RARB AIEE N R4
1,157,000 7¢) °

bt B R E 5 AT BN AN SR B Y BR A AR
BER(REREBFE) AT REE LR
28 EPRIAEZEFHENERS
HREL  YCARNEAKREEERR
ERENERBRNAEBAFEZH
MEIEPTETH - RAEBEBRBREE
(REREMNE) T ETRA BT
KEHHFEMNEHNFEER
it e LM RERMBIA -
BRADMTIR2023 F 1) BRI AT -

B RER

AEEXTRBBHE  BERMEFEEER
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ire SRR R

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d)  Currency risk (continued)
(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure
as at December 31, 2024 to currency risk
arising from the recognized assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purpose, the amounts of
exposure are shown in USD translated using the
spot rate of the end of each reporting period.
Differences resulting from the translation of the
financial statements of the Group’s subsidiaries
with functional currency other than USD into the
Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

As the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group
considers the risk of movements in exchange
rates between the HKD and the USD to be

34 BXEREERSHMIENAIAREE

(&)

(d) E¥RKGE
(i) E R i O

TRFAFMAEER2024F12A318
AEEANETRIEEE I EE
FHMEMERREESBEMIIBNE
Rk - A2 EH  BEKOS
BEIRASMERRMANBAERRE
BFEILHIR o AETTAIND B & B 15
AEEBETHBARGBHRRHRES
AEBNENEBERNEBIER
R -

MBI EE TS - NREERRE
TTEEXTZAHEXZBREBR A

insignificant.
As at December 31,
M12831H
2024 2023
20244 20234
USD’000 UsSD’000
SRS FET
usD eSS
Cash and cash equivalents BeRAEZEEY 20,339 5,557
Trade and bills receivables B S WA KRR EE 358,915 134,300
Trade and bills payables B IRNRIBRENEE (10,700) (35,179)
Gross exposure arising from recognized EREREENM BEELD 368,554 104,678
assets and liabilities [ gmECES
Notional amounts of forward exchange FBYEAS S 5d H) R HRONE & 49 & (211,250) (110,000)
contracts and foreign currency option SMNEHIES MM RE S
contracts used as economic hedges
Net exposure arising from recognized EEREENABELED 157,304 (5,322)
assets and liabilities O SRR

224
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 HBXEREERSRIENAAEE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) EHEK(E)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) B i O ()
As at December 31,
M12H831H
2024 2023
2024 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
SFEa0 FET
EUR BT
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 2,156 4,585
Trade and bills receivables e AR ES 70,589 86,881
Bank loans RITEH (29,314) (31,070)
Trade and bills payables B o RNFIBEMENEE (9,460) (10,012)
Gross exposure arising from EHEREERBEEEN 33,971 50,384
recognized assets and liabilities O 48 RE
Notional amounts of forward exchange FI{EASE SR RRHIIMNES B & (40,935) (35,175)
contracts and foreign currency option JMNEHAEAKNELESHE
contracts used as economic hedges
Net exposure arising from recognized ERREERABEEEN (6,964) 15,209

assets and liabilities Wi 0 FEE

SERRERAT —% - MEER @
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
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34

(d)

D

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 HERKEERSHMIANAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (%)
(CONTINUED)
Currency risk (continued) (d) EX¥RE(E)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (ii) HEE ST
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRETMASERBRERARTAR
change in the Group’s profit/(loss) after taxation ERREBAOINEEZNZA LB
(and retained profits) that would arise if B AEEMBRBEFE (B8)
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has (RIRBFE) WEAIRZE) (REFE
significant exposure at the end of the reporting HitvEBRESHEFIE) o
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant.
2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
Increase/ Effect Increase/ Effect
(decrease) on profit (decrease) on loss
in foreign  after taxation in foreign after taxation
exchange and retained exchange and retained
rates profits rates profits
HEEEX HRBEFBR SNEREER  HRHEEER
tH(TH) REANBNTE R/ (TH) REBFENTZE
% usD’ 000 % USD'000
% TER % FER
usD e 1% 1,341 1% 45
(1%) (1,341) (1%) (45)
EUR BL T 1% (51) 1% (129)
(1%) 51 (1%) 129

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group
subsidiaries’ loss after tax and equity measured
in the respective functional currencies,
translated into USD at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purpose.
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34

(d)

(e)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Currency risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk as at December 31,
2024, including inter-company payables
and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that
would result from the translation of the financial
statements of entities whose functional currency
is not USD. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for the years ended December 31,
2024.

Fair value measurement
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of each reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorized into the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

34 HBREREERSBMIENAAEE

(&)

(d) E¥EkE ()
(i)  BBED(E)

BRRE D WTRRER - HMNE [ R BB
AREFTEAERFENemIA
(SAREEN2024F12 A31 BEER
SNERBS  BIREAEEAQRIBINE
Ak fE TR BB AN B E
RERRIBREWRKIE) - ZHTR
BIERE AR EE IR THNE
BRMBSHRREENERE - 2o
EREZE2024F12A31BILFEN
MR LEHETT o

(e) 2AREEFE

TRIIFNEREPRREEEEAELE
BeRTANAAEBE XBABTBHBR
&£

LR EISRALEEF;ERTEN=—[EAR
BEEMR ARBEFESHEERIZEM
BEREPAERBASBNAISERRED N
EEWT :
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34

(e)

D

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 1 valuations:

Level 2 valuations:

Level 3 valuations:

Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical
assets or liabilities at the
measurement date;

Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant
unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market
data are not available;

Fair value measured using
significant unobservable
inputs.
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34

(e)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL

(CONTINUED)

INSTRUMENTS

Fair value measurement (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

3 UHEREEREMTIENAAEE

(&)

(e) ADREMEEGHE

Analysis on fair value measurement of derivative MESRTANAREBERFESNHT -
financial instruments are as follows:
Fair value at
December 31,
2024
020245 Fair value measurement at
12A31HMH December 31, 2024 categorized into
DAEE R2024512 A1 BN AR EBETERA
USD’ 000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
SFEE F1R Eo E3
Recurring fair value measurement  &EM AL EEE
Financial assets at FVPL UAREEFTER
HEBHAEH
BaMemEE
— Insurance product - REBEM 6,586 - - 6,586
Derivative financial instruments TESRMIA
Assets: BE:
— Foreign currency forward contracts ~ — JMEREIA 4 1,842 = 1,842 =
— Foreign currency option contracts — INEEREER 366 - 366 -
- Foreign exchange swap contracts ~ — JMEEA 4 4,203 - 4,203 -
Liabilities: =l
— Foreign currency forward contracts ~ — JMERHIAH (4,670) - (4,670) -
- Foreign currency option contracts ~ — JNEEIES 4 (20) = (20) -
- Foreign exchange swap contracts ~ — SMEHEIA 4 (1,702) - (1,702) -
Trade receivables g 5 EWE 4,738 - - 4,738

RIEEBARAT —F—
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34

(e)

D

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 HERKEERSHMIANAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued) (e) ADAREEFEE)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DB EER ()
Fair value at
December 31,
2023
720234 Fair value measurement at
12A318H December 31, 2023 categorized into
NREE A2023F 12 31 BM AR BEFERA
UsSD'000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
T=r F1H Fom ERE
Recurring fair value measurement E¥#H QAR EENE
Financial assets at FVPL UAREEFER
HEHTAES
ERNEREE
— Insurance product — RIGE M 6,393 = = 6,393
Derivative financial instruments fTESMIA
Assets: BE:
— Foreign currency forward contracts — #MNERHIA 4 2,553 - 2,553 =
- Foreign currency option contracts — JMNEEREA 4 - - - -
— Foreign exchange swap contracts — YMNEIRERA 4 - - = =
Liabilities: 8
— Foreign currency forward contracts — MNEREIA 4] (804) = (804) =
-~ Foreign currency option contracts — SMNEHAIEA 4 (1,212) = (1,212) =
— Foreign exchange swap contracts — YMNEIRE A 4] (319) = (319) =
Trade receivables g5 EWRIE 4,959 = = 4,959

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
there were no transfers, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognize transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of forward exchange contracts in Level
2 is determined by discounting the difference between
the contractual forward price and the current forward
price. The discount rate used is derived from the
relevant government yield curve as at the end of the
reporting period plus an adequate constant credit
spread.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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34

(e)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The fair value of foreign exchange swaps is the
estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay
to transfer the swap at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account current interest rates and the
current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

The fair value of foreign currency option contracts
is determined based on the quoted prices as at the
reporting period end for identical or similar contracts of
the banks in markets that are not active.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

34

(e)

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

BREREEREMIANAAEBE
(4®)

DMREEE (F)
RABEER (&)

SMNER BN ARBEASAKREHNRE R
SEEE MBI ARG EE - EF
FERBRTNERIEME T AANGEE -

Mok

SNE RS N AR BEDRERSE BRI
EERMSPRTHARSIBEUS NN REE
%o

EWESRARBEROER

Significant

Valuation techniques unobservable inputs

fRERM EAXATUERGAZE
Insurance product Cash value (Note (i) Expected return rate
RIS E @ WeEE (M) TERY 6] # 3K
Trade receivables Discounted cash flow (Note (i) Expected return rate
2 5 rEWGRIE ARIRIR SR E (MaE (i) T8 B [E1 37 3
Notes: Hiat -
(i The fair value of insurance product is the cash (i) FRESBALEBEARULEE AT

value that can be recovered from insurance
company. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to expected return rate. As at December
31, 2024, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, an increase/decrease in fair value
of insurance product by 5% would have increased/
decreased the Group’s profit after taxation and
retained profits for the year by USD275,000 (2023:
decreased/increased the Group’s loss after taxation
and retained profits for the year by USD267,000).

(i) The fair value of trade receivables is calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to
expected return rate. As at December 31, 2024,
it is estimated that with all other variables held
constant, an increase/decrease in fair value of
trade receivables by 5% would have increased/
decreased the Group’s profit after taxation and
retained profits for the year by USD198,000 (2023:
decreased/increased the Group’s loss after taxation
and retained profits for the year by USD207,000).

KWEIMEEEME - A BEFEEEY
[O$F = IFFHRE - M 2024F12A318 -
G EMEEMEETENBERLT @« R
BEMNAEBEEN,HD5% &
5 B & ABR B 18 TR I AR BE 1 i 3
/@A 275,000 T8 (20234 A&
EH AR EEERREFBEER
2/ #N267,000%7T)

(ii) BSRBFENAABEBBIIRES
KRBEESREFTESL - ANEEE
E 78 HA 5] ¥R %< (FAERE - 7 2024F 12 A
318 FAEMBEHEMEETENE
R BPRUGBRAEEE M,
WAE% + A B F AR T & FE R
REB MBI R 198,000% T
(2023%F : AEENFARTREER
REBFEER L #H01207,000%7T) °

D

RIEEBRARAT —F_MFEFH
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

34

(e)

24

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

(e)

The following table shows a reconciliation from the
beginning balances to the ending balances for fair
value measurement for financial assets at FVPL in Level

3 of the fair value hierarchy:

MBEAREERERIANAAEE

(&)

B
53

BETE (&)

RABEER (E)
TERERANBEEREIRPUAAEE
SAERHEHA A AEHERNEREEND
REEFENRTERER RSO I Y
AE -

EI‘I_'

Financial assets

at FVPL

NAREETEER

He et AEH

BRENEREE

USD’ 000

FEx

As at January 1, 2023 R2023%F 1A 1H 6,202

Net realized and unrealized losses on LARBEFEAHESEHTAZHEEN 948
financial assets at FVPL TREEMND SR K AREIREEFE

Purchases BE 243,862

Sales and settlements HERGE (244,619)

As at December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2024 /2023412 431 H &2024F1 518 6,393

Net realized and unrealized losses on UAREBEFEBEEZEHT AEHEZN 515
financial assets at FVPL CREEMNE SR LK ARBREEFE

Purchases BE 115,925

Sales and settlements HERGEE (116,247)

As at December 31, 2024 R2024F 12 A31H 6,586

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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(e)
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 B ¥ERBREERSMIAENAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued) (e) AREEE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) ARBEEER ()
Trade receivables carried at FVOCI are not materially A20234F 2024512 A318 » AAAEIE
different from their values as at December 31, 2023 and FFrEREHEFHTAHEMEZAKENE SR
2024. HEHEBSEETESEAER o
All financial instruments carried at cost or amortized R2023F N 2024F 12 A31H » K AR
cost are at amounts not materially different from their AT RN EeMTANSREER S
values as at December 31, 2023 and 2024. BEITESERAEE -
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35 BAREAYE
Capital commitments outstanding at December 31, MN2024F 12 A31 BRERE B B MR AR
2024 not provided for in the consolidated financial BENRBITERRENT -
statements were as follows:
As at December 31,
W12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
USD’000 USD’000
PR FET
Contracted for EHES 28,290 46,511
Authorised but not contracted for EEREERETN 35,408 20,944
63,698 67,455
Represented by: 5
Construction of plant and buildings BERMWE RETF 62,540 66,435
Acquisition of machinery and equipment BB E# a5 & 24 1,158 1,020
63,698 67,455

RIERAR AR —Z _POFEFR
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)

(AT [T )T - b= H59)

36

37

244

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36

Guarantee to customers

Guarantees were given by certain subsidiaries in the
Group to financial institutions in the PRC for certain
indebtedness of independent third-party customers of
the Group. The maximum exposures to the Group are
limited to the facilities granted to individual customer.
Details of guarantee to customers are set out below:

HEEE

mEFRENER
AEEETHEARNAKREBLF =0T
FOETEBATESBEBREEER - A
& B B ) KR R RN T @ 5 2 P e s
B o MEPRENERFBERIINOT

2024 2023
20244 20234
Maximum Maximum
guarantee Guarantee guarantee Guarantee
amount issued amount issued
BEeiEREHE BEHEER BaEReE B AR
uUsD’000 uUsD’000 uSD’000 USD’000
Fxr FEx FEx TFETT
Bank A RITA 7,651 2,309 7,765 1,961
Bank B #R17B 13,911 5,818 14,119 6,584
21,562 8,127 21,884 8,545
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 37 WE—BKEBAD

On May 14, 2024, Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co KG.,
the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, entered into a
share purchase agreement to acquire 100% equity
interest in Flex Scandinavia AB from a third party. The
transaction completed on May 31, 2024 with cash
consideration of Swedish Kroner (“SEK”) 85,137,000
(USD equivalent 8,153,000) and Flex Scandinavia AB
became a subsidiary of the Group since then.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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37

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 37
(CONTINUED)
The following summarizes the recognised amounts

of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date.

IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

Wis—ERELR ()

TR YR B BT B E M AT AIE A
ERND RS

Fair value on

acquisition

W BB B Y

AREE

USD’000

FER

Property, plant and equipment Y - BEREE 43
Intangible assets mILEE 1,850
Inventories FE 2,255
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E MR 1,544
Cash Re 1,246
Trade and other payables B 5 N EMER IR (1,482)
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIBAE (381)
Total identifiable net assets acquired WS AT BRI B R E A EE 5,075

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been
recognized as follow:

REBERELNEES THERMT

USD’000

FEx

Consideration transferred HENRE 8,153
Fair value of identifiable net assets AR EEFENALEE (5,075)
Goodwill kS 3,078

Net cash outflow arising from the above acquisition is
as follows:

FHRBEENRSREFRMT

USD’000

FTEx

Consideration paid in cash during the year FRURESEHORE 8,153
Less: cash acquired o EEIRE (1,246)
6,907

RIERAR AR —Z _POFEFR
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

37

38

(a)

240

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of net identifiable assets of Flex
Scandinavia AB is determined by the directors of the
Company with reference to the valuation performed by
independent valuation firm on the acquisition date.

From the date of acquisition to December 31, 2024, Flex
Scandinavia AB contributed revenue of USD3,357,000
and loss for the period of USD178,000 (including
amortization of identified intangible assets).

The consolidated revenue and net profit of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2024 would have
been USD1,773,897,000 and USD112,800,000,
respectively had the acquisition been completed as at
January 1, 2024.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company's
directors as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as
follows:

37

38

(a)

Wis—ERELR ()

Flex Scandinavia ABH)A] 3% 5& & FER
ARBEIIHARARNEZZ2ZEB L GERA
PRUKEE B HETT S EEE -

BUERIZE2024412A318 © Flex
Scandinavia ABEARUW A &3,357,0003
7 BANESIE A 178,000 7T (B R # 5 E
FAERH) -

WU EE R 20241 1B K  AEEHE
2024F 12 A31 H L FERERE WA K4t F
15 Bl A&1,773,897,0003% 7T 112,800,000
FETT °

EXBEBLRS

HREEASHMH

REEBREEABSTHN (BEENERAE
EEMNRE(FERBERWGS) REMNET
&= BiE 8RR (B RRE L)) 1
T

Year ended December 31,
HZE12A31HILLFE

2024 2023

20244 20234

USD’ 000 USD’000

ST FET

Short-term employee benefits EHES®RN 4,707 3,078

Contributions to defined contribution R ERFERIRET B4R 177 177
retirement plans

4,884 8,265

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note
6(b)).
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 38 EXBEHAIRXS (E)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Names and relationships of the related parties (b) HASEEEHMEARZSHNBEIBKH M

that had other material transactions with the 2/ EBRER

Group

Name of related party Relationship

BBLSHE A8 B%

Mr. Pan Longquan Ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group

EERLE AEEHFEIERRER

Ms. Zhang Tong Director of the Group

2 e AEEEE

Mr. Ke Zugian Director of the Group

TR AEEEER

Chervon Auto Precision Technology Associate of the Group and controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Group

RIS ERTRG e el - UNSIRiE: e e e 2l E e

SEERAERAT —F - [EER @
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(AT [FT /T - BrIESEHES)

33 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 38 EXBEAIRXS (E)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
HUERBHLIRS

REBRABITETTATRS

(c) Other significant related party transactions (c)
The Group had following transactions with related

parties:

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
b Fxx
Sales of goods and service HEEYRR®
Chervon Auto Precision Technology RIE R B BE R 2 -
Rental income AL
Chervon Auto Precision Technology RIE T E RS RN 363 299
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
USD’000 USD’000
EYH FEx
Payments made on behalf of a RERBE S ELHNER
related party
Chervon Auto Precision Technology SRUE T EREE RN 1,348 1,031
Receivables made on behalf of a R[S EH N EKRRE
related party
Chervon Auto Precision Technology SRUE T EREE RN 271 270

@ Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD") unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT [FT /2T - BRIFSHHEE)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 38 EARBEIXS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Significant related party balances (d) ERNCE DA

The Group had following trade in nature balances with ASREH LT EE B A -

related parties:

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
USD’ 000 USD’000
=T FET

Prepayments, deposits and other ENARE KRFSRHEMEBEKRRE
receivables

Chervon Auto Precision Technology R IE BRI 111 -

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (e) EEREXRZEBEMNLHHRBBEAM
connected transactions

The related party transactions with Chervon Auto ENHEREREREREMNNER SR ZEK
Precision Technology above constitute connected BIELETRAUFI4AZEMEENBEL H K
transactions or continuing connected transactions as BERERS - AN ZERFERREST
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, EHRBIE4AENEERTE - DEHNEK
those transactions are exempt from the disclosure RE14A76(1)EETHRERBERESER
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as BHE14A 981G Z1TEARTS ©

they are below the de minimis threshold under Rule
14A.76(1) or they are sharing of administrative services
under Rule 14A.98.

SEERERAT — T MEFR @
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 39

FINANCIAL POSITION

D F B 8B B AR R R

As at December 31,

M12H31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note USD’000 UsSD’000
KiaE FE FET

Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries INITIEPNGIE L o 635,538 603,793
Loans to subsidiaries HHBARNER 13,128 14,010
648,666 617,803

Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TEFIE - REES K 22 118,050 196,486
receivables H b fE U K8
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIBEEEYD 2,035 2,527
120,085 199,013
Current liability REEE

Other payables and accruals HAth BT 5B R FEET B A 27 6,439 7,144
6,439 7,144
Net current assets RBEERE 113,646 191,869
Total assets less current liabilities REERABER 762,312 809,672
NET ASSETS EEFE 762,312 809,672

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital [N 33 601,859 601,859
Reserves G 33 160,453 207,813
TOTAL EQUITY A 762,312 809,672

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on March 26, 2025.

Pan Longquan

ERER

Zhang Tong
R

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BR2025%3 A26 BEZ Ee it LIR#ET
%o

Directors

e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40

a1

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period the directors
proposed a special dividend. Further details are
disclosed in Note 33(b).

On March 26, 2025, the Company has entered into
an equity transfer agreement with Chervon Precision
Technology Holdings Company Limited, an indirect
subsidiary of Panmercy Holdings Limited, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
purchase the entire equity interest in Chervon (China)
Investment at a cash consideration of RMB570,000,000.
The disposal constitutes a disclosable and connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 and
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is subject to the
reporting and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements. In connection with the disposal and
subject to the satisfaction of the conditions of the
special dividend, the Board has recommended the
payment of a special dividend of HK$1.1905 per
ordinary share, which is subject to the approval of the
independent shareholders.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At December 31, 2024, the Directors of the Company
consider the immediate parent of the Group is
Panmercy Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong. This entity does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Pan
Longquan, Chairman of the Group.
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IN=RRLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[ET 137 - BRIESEIEH)

BRERRNFERARER

BERERR  EFRIRBEFHRE - £
ZEHIE R MRE33(b) °

R2025F3 A26H @ AA G BEERIZIRERE
ARINMENE AR RIERBT R IERER
NAFT M RAEEERE - B ARFHIK
HREEERE (PH)ZENZBIE B
& REAARES570,000,0007T ° RIFE LT
%EH‘J%’M&MAE CZEHEBKA AT Z
AT RN E W/REBTRRNET
BE SR BL IR E o adczilﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ pac2=Filllie
BRIGHEEN  EFSEERRNEREY
MAR1.1905 B L2 B RIR B - BFE R
HEHE o

BEERBARERA

MR2024%12A31H Jt&“ﬂ%%ﬁ% ¥iN
SENERT AT AEBEIERBRAT © %
NAREBFMKL - axﬁﬁiﬂﬁ?mi—fﬁ%
NBEAF B RE o

AEENRREF T AAEEESERERER
Viete

RIEFRERAT —T_FFHR

D



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n.

e M HRRI

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZET[FET 37 - BIESEIEH)

42

252

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 42 #Z2024512A318LtSECEM

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS BEREXNIERT - FEARZEN
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR G4

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, iux—rﬁﬁ%#ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ B EERA
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended ﬁé’*ﬁ‘ﬁT%ﬁ KASETEER - 32 E 2R
standards, which are not yet effective for the year &L ’EH‘JEA%ZJ;ZOMEQH 31HILE
ended December 31, 2024 and which have not Erﬁiﬁixﬁlﬂ]ﬂﬁﬁé%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%i&ﬁ*%ﬂé
been adopted in these financial statements. These o HeiErgeE AR EBHEENATEIE -

developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUT B 2 &M%
WEHBEXR

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates —
Lack of exchangeability
BREGIENFE2 R2ER] - EXEHHTE-HE AL

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments

BB ELRFE R2ER]  HTARBEVHERELRET7E -
THTA  WE-2HITAMNSEHGTEZET

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

%7%5\1%;&%4@5”/6\; E”Zfﬁga&;& — %’1 1 %

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

BEMGHRELNFE18 5 - HHHKAZ5RHKE

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures
BAMGRELERIFE K TALSRMEUNINE LA - HE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture

January 1, 2025

2025%1A1H

January 1, 2026

202651 A1H

January 1, 2026

20261 A1H

January 1, 2027
20271 A18

January 1, 2027
20271 H1H8

To be determined

BEEVBRELENE10R R BB ST ERIFE 285 2 55T FEE
REZHABEN R E EPREZHHEELETE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment $§€IEEJ.T:ESEHEE LEREHRVIEER

of what the impact of these developments is expected HER R - F REERBRMNZEFE

to be in the period of initial application. So far it has &l s /EE‘J&%&TKTQEQQ%HDEﬁ%iﬁi‘%

concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to BERERTE -

have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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